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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT & MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FTREEREEENWEDN

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of Directors (the “Board”) of China
Automotive Interior Decoration Holdings Limited (the “Company”),
| am pleased to present the audited annual results of the Company
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) for the
year ended 31 December 2024.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2024.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is principally engaged in the manufacture and sale
of nonwoven fabric related products used in automotive interior
decoration parts and other parts during the year ended 31 December
2024. The Group deploys financial resource to securities investment
to achieve earnings in the form of capital appreciation and income
from dividends. The Group also taps into the business of financial
services through the investment in a securities house.

Manufacture and sale of nonwoven fabric
related products

Manufacture and sale of nonwoven fabric related products is one
of the principal business of the Group. The Group manufactures its
products with single layer or multiple layers of nonwoven fabric in
accordance with specific requirements and standards of different
customers. Most of the customers of nonwoven fabric related
products are primary manufacturers and suppliers of automotive
parts in the PRC. The majority of the Group's products are further
processed by these customers in order to make different automotive
parts such as floor, head lining, seat cover, parcel tray, trunk,
luggage-side trim, hubcap and car-mat, which are of different
characteristics and are to be applied for different usages in passenger
vehicles.

According to the information released from China Association of
Automobile Manufacturers ("CAAM"), the production and sales of
passenger vehicles in the PRC were approximately 27,470,000 units
and 27,560,000 units respectively for the year ended 31 December
2024, representing an increase of approximately 25.3% and 5.7%.
These growth in passenger vehicles market resulted in a stable
demand for automotive materials of the Group during 2024.

In 2021, the Group set up new production lines in Jilin Province, the
PRC for the supply of the automotive components (the “Automotive
Components”) to a components supplier of an automotive
manufacturer under the brand “FAW Toyota”.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT & MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

ITEBREREEENRESN (F

Since the relocation of production lines to Cangzhou and Chengdu
and the diversification to supply of the Automotive Components in
Jilin during 2022, the Group would paid to the suppliers of plant and
equipment as prepayments for upgrading the existing production
lines (such as modifying and replacing accessories of the production
facilities and equipment) for perfection of production, acquiring
new production facilities and equipment. At 31 December 2024, the
prepayments for acquisition of property, plant and equipment during
2023 was substantially utilized.

In order to secure a stable supply of raw material at favourable price
or terms in a timely manner, it was usual course of the business
in automotive industry to provide deposits to suppliers. The trade
deposits would be subsequent utilized.

Discontinued operation

After COVID-19 pandemic, the Group adopted strategies to exit
the business which is loss-making and with unpromising prospect.
The Group diversified into the business of trading of food products
since 2016. The business of trading of food products incurred losses
for years and did not generated any income in 2023. Its revenue in
2022 and 2021 just accounted for 4.12% and 5.75% of the Group’s
revenue respectively and became side business of the Group. In view
of the loss-making record and no relevant personnel within the Group
is able to manage this business, the Group disposed the business to
reduce the risk of the Group during the first quarter of 2024.

Interests in associates

The Company through a joint venture company indirectly hold 42%
of the equity interest in GEO Securities Limited (“GEO Securities”)
and classified as “interests in associates”. GEO Securities has the
licenses to carry out Type 1 (dealing in securities), Type 4 (advising on
securities) and Type 9 (Asset Management) regulated activities under
the Securities and Future Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of
Hong Kong) in Hong Kong. The Group shared a profit of associates
of approximately RMB120,000 for the year ended 31 December
2024.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT & MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

IFEBREREEEAWEDN (F)

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

The Group's revenue for the years ended 31 December 2024 and
2023 was illustrated as follows:

Bt % 1B B
L ON

BE-_T-MER-F-=F+-A=+—AI
R AREEGKABIIMT

Year ended 31 December

BE+t-A=+—-HLEE

2024 2023

—E-ImF —T=%F

RMB’'000 RMB 000

AR¥T AR T T

Nonwoven fabric related products for RRAREMESMIBEE®R

use in automobiles

— Sales of automotive floor carpets —AEM B A HE 86,262 88,766

- Sales of other automotive parts —Hf BRI EEE 42,290 24,907

128,552 113,673

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group's revenue
increased to approximately RMB128.6 million, compared to
approximately RMB113.7 million in 2023, representing an increase of
approximately 13.1%.

Gross profit

As a result of increasing competition in the automotive industry, for
the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group's gross profit decrease
by approximately RMB9.8 million to approximately RMB21.0 million.

Other income, gains and losses, net

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group's other income,
gains and losses, net changed from a gain of approximately RMB5.0
million in 2023 to approximately RMBO0.8 million in 2024. It was
mainly due to fair value loss on financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss (“FVTPL") of approximately RMB1.3 million in 2024,
as compared to a fair value gain on FVTPL of approximately RMB6.3
million in 2023. Further information of the financial assets at FVTPL
are disclosed in the “Significant Investments” section below.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT & MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

IFEBREREEEAWEDN (F)

Administrative expenses

The Group's administrative expenses decreased by approximately
RMB3.3 million to approximately RMB17.4 million for the year ended
31 December 2024, which mainly due to decrease in employee
benefits expenses. The Group’s administrative expenses mainly consist
of employee benefits expenses including Director’s emoluments and
staff costs of approximately RMB9.7 million (2023: RMB13.1 million)
and depreciation of right-of-use assets of approximately RMB2.3
million (2023: RMB2.4 million).

Profit attributable to the owners of the
Company

The profit attributable to the owners of the Company was
approximately RMB26.9 million for the year ended 31 December
2024 (2023: RMB30.5 million). The changes are primarily attributable
to recognition of net allowance for expected credit losses of
approximately RMB9.3 million and over-provision in profit tax of
approximately RMB38.1 million during the year ended 31 December
2024.

PROSPECT AND OUTLOOK

The Board expects that 2025 will still be a challenging year for the
business of manufacturing and sale of nonwoven fabric related
products as the continuously increase in production costs for
maintaining competitiveness and enhancing safety requirements to
cope with the development of the automotive industry.

To maintain competitiveness, the Group will still deploy its resources
on:

(1) upgrading the production lines in order to improve the
production efficiency;

(2) installing new machineries to suit the customers’ varying
requirements and demands on high-end products;

(3) conducting research and development to keep up with
the latest technological trends in relation to product
specifications; and

4) strengthening the quality control systems to retain customer
loyalty and reinforce the Group's reputation in the nonwoven
fabric related products industry in the PRC.

In addition, the Group will continue to adopt a prudent approach to
manage its money lending business and on the other hands to seek
for opportunities to expand this operation.

Going forward, with a view to achieving better return and enhancing
the expansion of the Group, the Group will look for potential
investment opportunities to diversify its business scope.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT & MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

ITEBREREEENRESN (F

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group generally financed its operations by internal cash
resources and bank financing during 2024. At 31 December 2024,
cash and bank balances of the Group amounted to approximately
RMB49.4 million (2023: RMB26.0 million), and approximately
RMB11.5 million (2023: RMB10.3 million) of which are denominated
in Hong Kong dollars and United States dollars.

At 31 December 2024, the Group’s liquidity ratio, represented by
the ratio of current assets over current liabilities, and gearing ratio,
represented by the ratio of total liabilities to total assets, were 2.20
(2023: 1.56) and 0.33 (2023: 0.43) respectively.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

There has been no material change in the capital structure of the
Group during the year ended 31 December 2024.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

Majority of the assets and liabilities of the Group were denominated
in Renminbi, United States dollars and Hong Kong dollars. At 31
December 2024, the Group had no significant exposure under
foreign exchange contracts, interest, currency swaps or other
financial derivatives.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

At 31 December 2024, the Group held (i) approximately 8.0 million
shares (approximately 1.9%) of China Investment and Finance Group
Limited (“Cl"), (ii) approximately 5.8 million shares (approximately
1.7%) of Hao Wen Holdings Limited (“HW"), (iii) approximately 6.4
million shares (approximately 2.1%) of WMHW Holdings Limited
("WH"), (iv) approximately 22.8 million shares (approximately 2.6%)
of Wealth Glory Holdings Limited (“WG"), (v) approximately 11.0
million shares (approximately 4.8%) of Lerado Financial Group
Company Limited (“LF") and (vi) approximately 4.5 million shares
(approximately 1.8%) of Tai Kam Holdings Limited (“TK"). CI, HW,
WH, WG, LF and TK were the companies listed on the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange. Cl is principally engaged in investment holding
and trading of securities. HW is primarily engaged in the money
lending and processing and trading of electronic parts. WH is
principally engaged in the provision of civil engineering works and
investment holding. WG is principally engaged in trading of natural
resources and commodities; money lending business; development
and promotion of brands, design, manufacture and sale of trendy
fashion merchandises and other consumer products; and investment
in securities. LF is principally engaged in providing financial services
including securities broking, margin financing and money lending
etc., as well as manufacturing and distributing children plastic toys
and medical care products. TK is principally engaged in undertaking
site formation works and renovation works in Hong Kong.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT & MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

ITEBREREEENRESN (F

The Group’s investment in Cl, HW, WH, WG, LF and TK were
collectively referred to as the “Significant Investments”.

Detail of the Significant Investments are as follows:

Year ended
31 December
2024
BE-_ZE-_MF
+=A=+-—H
LFE

Fair Value
gain/(loss)
DNFEKES
(B518)
RMB’000
ARETR
(Audited)
(RER)

Cl FEERE 1,900
HW e 2,461
WH BRI 1,143
WG == (1,462)
LF B A & mh (1,098)
TK Z= 18 (635)

At 31 December 2024, the financial assets at FVTPL comprised 17
listed equity securities in Hong Kong and except the above, there
was no investment held by the Group which value was more than 1%
of the total assets of the Group.

Looking ahead, the value of the Significant Investments may be
susceptible to the overall equity market conditions.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT & MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

ITEBREREEENRESN (F

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS OR DISPOSALS

There was no material acquisitions or disposal of subsidiaries and
affiliated companies by the Group for the year ended 31 December
2024.

PLEDGE ON ASSETS

At 31 December 2024, the Group's investment property with a
carrying amounts of approximately RMB3.4 million (2023: RMB3.8
million) and leasehold land with a carrying amounts of approximately
RMB2.1 million (2023: RMB2.2 million) were pledged to banks for
bank borrowings.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

At 31 December 2024, the Group employed a total of 94
employees (2023: 96). The gender ratio of the Group's workforce
(including senior management) was approximately 74.5% male to
approximately 25.5% female. The Group shall continue to take into
account diversity perspectives including gender diversity in its hiring
of employees from time to time. The remuneration policy of the
employees of the Group was set up by the Board on the basis of
their experience, qualifications and competence. Other employees’
benefits include contributions to statutory mandatory provident
funds, and social insurance together with housing provident funds to
its employees in Hong Kong and the PRC respectively.

A remuneration committee (the “Remuneration Committee”) was
set up for, inter alia, reviewing the Group's remuneration policy and
structure for all directors and senior management of the Group.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Group, | would like to take this opportunity to
express my sincere gratitude to all of our customers, business
partners and investors for their support and trust towards the Group.
Further, I would like to express my sincere thanks to our Directors
and employees for their dedications and contributions to the Group.

By order of the Board

Zhuang Yuejin
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 26 March 2025
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BIOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EEREREEENBERER

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Zhuang Yuejin (“Mr. Zhuang”), aged 62, is the Chairman of
the Board, Chief Executive Officer of the Company and founder of
the Group. He was appointed as an executive Director on 12 April
2010. He has over 15 years of experience in the nonwoven textile
industry. He is responsible for formulating the Group's corporate
strategy, overseeing its production operations and the overall steering
of the Group's strategic development.

Mr. Zhuang graduated from Xiamen Fisheries College in 1981
and was approved as a qualified engineer by the Intermediate
Level Adjudication Committee of Xiamen City Marine Engineering
Department in 1990. From 1997 to 2001, Mr. Zhuang was the
director and the general manager of Xiamen Marine Industries
(Group) Co., Limited, a PRC incorporated company and was
previously listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange.

Mr. Ng Chung Ho (“Mr. Ng”), aged 49, was appointed as an
executive Director on 27 December 2023. Mr. Ng has over 20 years
of experience in corporate management and extensive experience
and business networks in Hong Kong and the PRC. Prior to joining
the Group, he was a chief executive officer of a insurance broker
which is permitted to carry on businesses in general insurance and
long term (including linked long term) insurance in Hong Kong.

Mr. Ng was also an executive chairman of Guangdong-Hong Kong-
Macao Greater Bay Area Youth Society ( 2B X &E S F1#E ) and
a director of the board in AD & FD POHL Mrs Cheng Yam On School.

Ms. Xiao Suni (“Ms. Xiao”), aged 41, was appointed as an
executive Director on 14 October 2014. She has over 10 years of
experience in the field of international trading and marketing. She
holds a Bachelor of Arts degree from Nanjing Army Command
College, the PRC with major in English. Prior to joining the Group,
she worked for a door-window manufacturer in the PRC as foreign
trade manager, in which her responsibilities focused on overall
management of foreign sales and marketing.
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BIOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)

EENGHREEENEBEER (&)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Yuen Wai Keung (“Mr. Yuen”), aged 44, was appointed as
an independent non-executive Director on 15 July 2024. He has
approximately 20 years of accounting and finance related work
experience and obtained a Master of Corporate Governance degree
from The Open University of Hong Kong. He is a fellow member of
the Institute of Financial Accountants, a member of The Institute of
Certified Forensic Accountants and a member of The Hong Kong
Chartered Governance Institute. Mr. Yuen is the independent non-
executive director of Hao Bai International (Cayman) Limited (Stock
code: 8431).

Ms. Ng Li La, Adeline (“Ms. Ng”), aged 46, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 4 September 2015. Ms. Ng
has over 10 years of experience in human resources and corporate
management. Ms. Ng obtained a Certificate of Human Resources
Management from Hong Kong Baptist University in 2011 and was a
senior administrative officer of a renowned international information
technology company in Hong Kong.

Ms. Zhu Chunyan (“Ms. Zhu"”), aged 48, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 2 September 2016. Ms. Zhu
was graduated from Xiangtan University, China, with a bachelor’s
degree majoring in finance and accounting in July 1999. Prior to
joining the Group, she worked for a sizable travel related services
company in the PRC as an accountant and gained extensive
knowledge in corporate finance and management.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. Wu Danping (“Ms. Wu”), aged 50, is the manager of the
accounting department of Joystar (Wuxi) Automotive Interior
Decoration Co., Ltd. (“Joystar Wuxi”). Ms. Wu is responsible for
the financial reporting and the management of the accounting and
finance department of Joystar Wuxi.

Ms. Wu obtained the Certificate of Accounting Professional issued
by the Jiangsu Province Department of Finance and the Qualification
Certificate of Specialty and Technology with specialty in accountancy
conferred by the Ministry of Finance of the PRC in 1997 and 2006
respectively.

In 2008, Ms. Wu completed an online diploma programme in
accountancy from China Agricultural University. She has 18 years of
experience in financial accounting and reporting.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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The Board is pleased to present the corporate governance report for
the year ended 31 December 2024. This report highlights the key
corporate governance practices of the Company.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to maintaining high standards of
corporate governance to protect the interests of the shareholders of
the Company. The Company's corporate governance practices are
based on principles and code provisions as set out in the Corporate
Governance Code (the “Code”) in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules.

Except for the following deviations, the Company complied with the
Code for the year ended 31 December 2024.

Code provision C.2.1

Code provision C.2.1 stipulates that the roles of chairman and chief
executive officer should be separate and should not be performed
by the same individual. Mr. Zhuang Yuejin is the Chairman and
the Chief Executive Officer of the Company. Such deviation from
Code provision C.2.1 is deemed appropriate as it is considered to
be more efficient to have one single person as the Chairman of
the Company as well as to discharge the executive functions of a
chief executive officer, and it provides the Group with strong and
consistent leadership in the development and execution of long
term business strategies. The Board believes that the balance of
power and authority is adequately ensured by the operations of the
Board which comprises highly experienced individuals. There are
three independent non-executive Directors on the Board. All of them
possess adequate independence and therefore the Board considers
that the Company has achieved the balance and provided sufficient
protection of its interests.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

EER®RE (A

Rules 3.10, 3.21, 3.25 and 3.27A of the Listing
Rules

On 3 June 2024, Mr. Mak Wai Ho (“Mr. Mak”) retired as the
independent non-executive Director and ceased to be the chairman
of the audit committee (the "“Audit Committee”) of the Company,
the chairman of the remuneration committee (the “Remuneration
Committee”) of the Company and the member of the nomination
committee (the “Nomination Committee”). Following the retirement
of Mr. Mak, the Board comprised only two independent non-
executive Directors and failed to meet the requirements of (i) at least
three independent non-executive directors on the Board and at least
one of them shall possess appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management expertise under Rules
3.10(1) and 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules; (ii) the Audit Committee
comprising only non-executive directors with a minimum of three
members under Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules; (iii) the Remuneration
Committee comprising a majority of independent non-executive
directors under Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules; and (iv) the
Nomination Committee comprising a majority of independent non-
executive directors under Rule 3.27A of the Listing Rules.

Following the appointment of Mr. Yuen Wai Keung as an
independent non-executive Director, the chairman of Audit
Committee, the chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a
member of the Nomination Committee, with effect from 15 July
2024, the Company has re-complied with Rules 3.10, 3.21, 3.25 and
3.27A of the Listing Rules.

CODE OF CONDUCT REGARDING SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by the Directors on terms no less exacting than the
required standard of dealings as set out in the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers in Appendix C3
to the Listing Rules. Having made specific enquiry with all Directors,
the Company confirmed that all Directors have complied with the
code of conduct and the required standard of dealings concerning
securities transactions by the Directors during the year.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

EER®RE (A

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

As at 31 December 2024, the Board comprises three executive
Directors and three independent non-executive Directors as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Zhuang Yuejin (Chairman)
Mr. Ng Chung Ho
Ms. Xiao Suni

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Yuen Wai Keung
Ms. Ng Li La, Adeline
Ms. Zhu Chunyan

The composition of the Board is well balanced with each Director
having sound industry knowledge, extensive corporate and strategic
planning experience and/or expertise relevant to the business of the
Group. The biographical details of the Directors and the relationship
among the members of the Board are set out in the section headed
“Biographical Information of Directors and Senior Management” on
pages 11 to 12 of this report.

Generally, the responsibilities of the Board include:
o Formulation of overall strategic development of the Group;

o Monitoring the financial performance, risk management and
internal control systems of the Group’s business operations;

o Evaluating and determining the nature and extent of the risks
it is willing to take in achieving the Group’s strategic objectives,
and ensuring that appropriate and effective risk management
and internal control systems are in places;

o Material acquisitions, investments, disposal of assets or any
significant capital expenditure;

o Appointment, removal or reappointment of Board members
and auditors;

° Remuneration of Directors;

o Communications with key stakeholders; and

o Recommendation and declaration of any interim and final
dividends.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)
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Executive Directors are responsible for running the Group and
executing the strategies adopted by the Board. The Board delegates
day-to-day activities to the management with department heads
responsible for different aspects of the business. The non-executive
Directors serve the relevant function of bringing independent
judgment on the development, performance and risk management
of the Group through their contributions in board meetings. They
are also serving on the Remuneration Committee, the Nomination
Committee and the Audit Committee.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Board complies with
the requirement of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment
of at least three independent non-executive Directors and at
least one of them has appropriate professional qualifications
or accounting or related financial management expertise. The
independent non-executive Directors do not hold any management
position in the Group. The Company has received from each
independent non-executive Director an annual confirmation of his/
her independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and the
Company considers all the independent non-executive Directors to be
independent.

The Board normally has four regular meetings a year at quarterly
interval and meets as and when required to discuss the overall
business, development strategy, operations and financial reporting
of the Company. The Directors can attend meetings in person or
through other means of electronic communication in accordance with
the Articles (the “Articles”). During the year ended 31 December
2024, four Board meetings and one general meeting were held. The
following table shows the attendance of individual Directors at the
meetings held during the year ended 31 December 2024:

No. of attendance

General Board

Members meetings meetings
Executive Directors
Mr. Zhuang Yuejin 11 4/4
Mr. Ng Chung Ho 11 4/4
Ms. Xiao Suni 11 4/4
Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Yuen Wai Keung (appointed on

15 July 2024) 0/0 3/4
Ms. Ng Li La, Adeline M 4/4
Ms. Zhu Chunyan M 4/4
Mr. Mak Wai Ho (retired on

3 June 2024) 0/1 11
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

EER®RE (A

The Directors will receive details of agenda and minutes of committee
meetings in advance of and after each Board meeting respectively.
The company secretary will distribute relevant documents to the
Directors in a timely manner to enable the Directors to make
informed decisions on matters to be raised at the Board meetings.
All Directors have access to the advice and services of the company
secretary who is responsible for ensuring the procedures of the Board
meetings are complied with and advising the Board on compliance
matters.

In addition, the Company has maintained a procedure for the
Directors to seek independent professional advice, in appropriate
circumstances, at the Company’s expense in discharging their duties
to the Company. Moreover, the company secretary prepares minutes
of the Board meetings and keeps records of matters discussed and
decisions resolved at all Board meetings. The company secretary
also keeps the minutes of the Board meetings, which are open
for inspection at any reasonable time on reasonable notice by any
Director.

The Company recognizes the importance of the Board independence
to corporate governance. In particular, in order to ensure the strong
independence of the Board and make ensure that the Board can
obtain independent views and opinions, the following mechanisms
are required: 1) in assessing the qualification of potential candidates
to become independent Directors, the Nomination Committee and
the Board will consider, among others, whether the candidates are
able to dedicate sufficient time to fulfill their duties as independent
Directors and the candidates’ backgrounds and qualifications,
in order to assess whether such candidates are able to bring an
independent view to the Board; and 2) the Nomination Committee
is authorized to assess the independence of all independent non-
executive Directors on an annual basis with reference to the
independence criteria set out in the Listing Rules so as to ensure that
they can continue to exercise independent judgment.

All Directors have full and timely access to all information of the
Company and to the advice and services of the company secretary
and senior management of the Company. Directors are generally
entitled to seek independent professional advice on the discharge
of their duties to the Company in appropriate circumstances upon
request and at our Company’s expense.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

EER®RE (A

At the same time, the Company has formulated internal policies
(including but not limited to the Articles, the terms of reference
of the Remuneration Committee, the Audit Committee and the
Nomination Committee) to ensure that the Board is provided with
independent views and opinions. For the year ended 31 December
2024, the Company has reviewed the implementation and
effectiveness of the above mechanism and is of the view that the
above mechanism is able to ensure that the Board is provided with
independent views and opinions.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Code provision C.2.1 stipulates that the roles of chairman and chief
executive officer should be separate and should not be performed by
the same individual.

Mr. Zhuang Yuejin is the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer of
the Company. Such deviation from Code provision C.2.1 is deemed
appropriate as it is considered to be more efficient to have one single
person as the Chairman of the Company as well as to discharge the
executive functions of a chief executive officer, and it provides the
Group with strong and consistent leadership in the development
and execution of long-term business strategies. The Board believes
that the balance of power and authority is adequately ensured by
the operations of the Board which comprises highly experienced
individuals. There are three independent non-executive Directors on
the Board. All of them possess adequate independence and therefore
the Board considers that the Company has achieved the balance and
provided sufficient protection of its interests.

APPOINTMENT, RE-ELECTION AND REMOVAL

According to the Articles, one-third of the Directors are required
to retire from office at each annual general meeting, provided that
every Director shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once
in every three years. A Director appointed since the most recent
annual general meeting shall hold office only until the next general
meeting and shall then be eligible for re-election. The independent
non-executive Directors were appointed at specific terms for one
year.

Newly appointed Director will be arranged a comprehensive, formal
and tailored induction which includes provision of key guidelines,
documents and publications relevant to their roles, responsibilities
and ongoing obligations; a briefing on the Company’s structure,
businesses, risk management and other governance practices
and meeting with other fellow Directors so as to help the newly
appointed Directors familiarize with the management, business and
governance policies and practices of the Company, and ensure that
they have a proper understanding of the operations and businesses
of the Company.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

EER®RE (A

CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

Pursuant to Code provision C.1.4, all Directors should participate
in continuous professional development to develop and refresh
their knowledge and skills. This is to ensure that their contribution
to the Board remains informed and relevant. All the Directors
also understand the importance of continuous professional
development and are committed to participate any suitable training
or read relevant materials in order to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills. The Company has received from each Director
a confirmation of their participation in continuous professional
development by attending training course or reading relevant
materials on the topics related to corporate governance and
regulations.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity
Policy”) setting out the approach to achieve diversity on the Board
and maintain an appropriate balance of diversity properties of the
Board that are relevant to the business growth of the Company. The
Company considered diversity of board members can be achieved
through consideration of a number of aspects, including but not
limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of services. All
Board appointments will be based on meritocracy, and candidates
will be considered against objective criteria, having due regard for
the benefits of diversity on the Board.

Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, professional experience, skills, knowledge
and length of services. The ultimate decision will be made upon the
merits and contribution that the selected candidates will bring to the
Board.
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At the date of this report, the composition of the Board under
diversified perspectives was summarized as follows:

Executive Directors

HITES

Designation

Gender

el

Ethnicity
Ttk

Age group
FifE

1-10 years
12106

Directorship with the Company
RARAEEEENFH

RABRERH ZREAETESTSOKBARM
M

Chinese

e

11-20 years
112204

The Nomination Committee has reviewed the policy concerning
the diversity of Board members and believes that the Board
has already had a diverse mix of gender, skills, knowledge and
experience. The Company will strive to achieve gender balance of
the Board through the following measures to be implemented by
the Nomination Committee in accordance with the Board Diversity
Policy. The Company will actively identify male and female individuals
suitably qualified to become the Board members. To further ensure
gender diversity of the Board in the long run, the Group will take
opportunities to balance the proportion of gender of the Board,
identify male and female individuals with a diverse range of skills,
experience and knowledge in different fields from time to time, and
maintain a list of such individuals who possess qualities to become
the Board members, which will be reviewed by the Nomination
Committee periodically in order to develop a pipeline of potential
successors to the Board to promote gender diversity of the Board.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company established the Remuneration Committee on
13 September 2010 with written terms of reference in compliance
with the Code. The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee
include, among others, making recommendations to the Board on
the policy and structure for all Directors and senior management,
reviewing and making recommendations to the Board on the terms
of remuneration packages, determining the award of bonuses and
reviewing and/or approving matters relating to share schemes under
Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules. As at 31 December 2024, the
Remuneration Committee comprises one executive Director, namely
Mr. Zhuang Yuejin, and two independent non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. Yuen Wai Keung (chairman of the Remuneration
Committee) and Ms. Zhu Chunyan.
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During the year ended 31 December 2024, one meeting was held
by the Remuneration Committee to discuss, among other things, the
remuneration policy of the Group and determine the remuneration of
the Directors. The following table shows the attendance of individual
members at the meeting held during the year ended 31 December
2024:
Members No. of attendance
Executive Director
Mr. Zhuang Yuejin 171
Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Yuen Wai Keung (appointed on
15 July 2024)
Ms. Zhu Chunyan

m”m
1Al

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company established the Nomination Committee on
13 September 2010 with written terms of reference in compliance
with the Code. The primary duties of the Nomination Committee
include, among others, reviewing the structure, size and
composition of the Board, making recommendations to the Board
regarding candidates to fill vacancies on the Board, assessing
the independence of independent non-executive Directors and
making recommendations to the Board on the appointment or
re-appointment of Directors and succession planning for Directors.
In reviewing and accessing the composition of the Board and the
nomination of Directors, the Board diversity has to be considered
through a number of aspects, including but not limited to gender,
age, cultural and educational background, professional experience,
skills, knowledge and length of services. As at 31 December 2024,
the Nomination Committee comprises one executive Director, namely
Mr. Zhuang Yuejin (chairman of the Nomination Committee), and
two independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Yuen Wai
Keung and Ms. Ng Li La, Adeline.
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During the year ended 31 December 2024, one meeting was held
by the Nomination Committee to, among other things, assess the
independence of independent non-executive Directors and make
recommendations to the Board on the appointment of Directors.
The Nomination Committee also reviewed the board diversity policy
to ensure its effectiveness and considered the Group achieved the
policy since its adoption. The following table shows the attendance
of individual members at the meeting held during the year ended 31
December 2024:
Members No. of attendance
Executive Director

Mr. Zhuang Yuejin 171

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Yuen Wai Keung (appointed on

15 July 2024) 171
Ms. Ng Li La, Adeline 11

BOARD NOMINATION POLICY

The Company adopted a nomination policy, which establishes
written guidelines to the Nomination Committee to identify
individuals suitably qualified to become Board members and make
recommendations to the Board on the selection of individuals
nominated for directorships with reference to the formulated criteria.
The Board is ultimately responsible for selection and appointment of
new Directors. The Board, through the delegation of its authority to
the Nomination Committee, has used its best efforts to ensure that
Directors appointed to the Board possess the relevant background,
experience and knowledge in business, finance and management
skills critical to the Group’s business to enable the Board to make
sound and well considered decisions. Collectively, they have
competencies in areas which are relevant and valuable to the Group.

NOMINATION PROCESS

The Nomination Committee shall assess whether any vacancy on
the Board has been created or is expected on a regular basis or as
required. The Nomination Committee utilizes various methods for
identifying director candidates, including recommendations from
Board members, management, and professional search firms. All
director candidates, including incumbents and candidates nominated
by Shareholders are evaluated by the Nomination Committee based
upon the director qualifications. While director candidates will be
evaluated on the same criteria through review of resume, personal
interview and performance of background checks. The Nomination
Committee retains the discretion to establish the relative weighting
of such criteria, which may vary based on the composition, skill sets,
age, gender and experiences of the collective Board rather than on
the individual candidate for the purpose of diversity perspectives
appropriate to the requirement of the Company’s business.
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SELECTION CRITERIA

The Nomination Committee will take into account whether a
candidate has the qualifications, skills, experience and gender
diversity that add to and complement the range of skills, experience
and background of existing Directors by considering the highest
personal and professional ethics and integrity of the director
candidates, proven achievement and competence in the nominee’s
field and the ability to exercise sound business judgment, skills that
are complementary to those of the existing Board, the ability to assist
and support management and make significant contributions to the
Company'’s success and such other factors as it may deem are in the
best interests of the Company and the Shareholders. The Company
shall review and reassess the nomination policy and its effectiveness
on a regular basis or as required.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established the Audit Committee on 13 September
2010 with written terms of reference in compliance with the Listing
Rules. As at 31 December 2024, the Audit Committee comprises
three independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Yuen Wai
Keung (chairman of the Audit Committee), Ms. Ng Li La, Adeline and
Ms. Zhu Chunyan.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, two meetings were held
by the Audit Committee. The following table shows the attendance
of individual members at the meetings held during the year ended
31 December 2024:
Members No. of attendance

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Yuen Wai Keung (appointed on

15 July 2024) 171
Ms. Ng Li La, Adeline 2/2
Ms. Zhu Chunyan 2/2

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Audit Committee,
among other things, reviewed the interim and annual reports as
well as result announcements before submission to the Board. The
Audit Committee focuses not only on the impact of the changes in
accounting policies and practices but also on the compliance with
accounting standards, the Listing Rules and the legal requirements in
review of the Company’s interim and annual reports as well as result
announcements. The Audit Committee also reviewed the Company’s
financial controls, risk management and internal control systems and
make recommendation to the Board on the re-appointment of the
external auditors.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in the
Code provision A.2.1 of the Code.

The Board reviewed the Company's corporate governance policies
and practices, continuous professional development of Directors,
the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements, the compliance of the Listing Rules, and
the Company’s compliance with the Code and disclosure in this
Corporate Governance Report.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

The Audit Committee is responsible for considering the appointment
of the external auditors and also reviews any non-audit functions
performed by the external auditors for the Group, including whether
such non-audit functions could lead to any potential material adverse
effect on the Group. During the year ended 31 December 2024, the
auditors of the Company performed the work of statutory audit for
the year of 2024. There was no non-audit service provided by the
auditors of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2024. For
the year ended 31 December 2024, the remuneration payable and
paid to the auditors of the Company were as follows:

E 2R

Audit services

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements in order to give a true and fair view of the
financial position of the Group, the financial performance and cash
flow during the year ended 31 December 2024. In preparing the
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2024, the Directors have selected suitable accounting policies and
applied them consistently, made judgements and estimates that
are prudent, fair and reasonable and prepared the consolidated
financial statements on a going concern basis. There are no material
uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Company's ability to continue as a going concern.
The statement from the external auditors regarding their reporting
responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements is set out in
the section headed “Independent Auditor’s Report” of this annual
report.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board has the overall responsibility for evaluating and
determining the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in
achieving the Group’s strategic objectives, maintaining sound and
effective risk management and internal control systems and reviewing
their effectiveness to safeguard the Group’s assets.

The risk management and internal control systems are designed to
manage, rather than eliminate business risk; to help safeguard the
Group’s assets against fraud and other irregularities; and to give
reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against material financial
misstatement or loss.

The Board, through the Audit Committee, has reviewed the adequacy
and effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems, covering financial, operational and compliance
controls and risk management functions, which included the
adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of staff of
the accounting and financial reporting function, and their training
programmes and budget.

The Company has taken appropriate measures to identify inside
information and preserve its confidentiality until proper dissemination
via the electronic publication system operated by the Stock Exchange.

The Company has engaged an external professional consultant to
conduct independent internal control review for the year ended 31
December 2024. For the year ended 31 December 2024, expect
as disclosed below, the Board considered the Group's internal
control system as adequate and effective and that the Company has
complied with the code provisions on risk management and internal
control as set out in the Code.

Internal control implications on Qualified
Opinion

The Company's auditor expressed a qualified opinion on the
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the financial
year ended 31 December 2024 (the “Audit Issue”), which mainly
arises from limitation of scope on deconsolidation of Loyal Brands
International Limited and its subsidiaries, including Grand York
Limited, Giant Faith Holdings Limited, #®INIXZHEZ B R AR and
FHEEERBBR AR (“Loyal Brands Group”). Details of the
Audit Issue set out in “Basis for Qualified Opinion” section in the
audit report.
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The Company considered the internal control deficiencies that gave
rise to the Audit Issue and the Company’s remedial measures to ratify
the control deficiencies were as follows:

Internal control deficiencies

a) The internal control policies of the
Group have not been reviewed and
updated properly. Such policies only
cover the Company and the core
subsidiaries of the Group in the
PRC, which does not include the
acquired business.

b) The Company lost control of Loyal
Brands Group and the business and
accounting records of Loyal Brands
Group were not provided to the
auditors.

26

Company’s remedial measures

The Company will review and update its
internal control policies at least once a year
and provide training to the relevant staff
to ensure their knowledge of the change
of control procedures. For newly acquired
business, the Company will also provide
training to relevant staffs to ensure their
understanding on the requirement on a
listed company.

The Company will review and update its
internal control policies so that it can
exercise control over all of its subsidiaries
by ensuring that:

(i) the legal representative of the PRC
subsidiaries and a director of each
subsidiary shall be the designated
member of the Board:;

(i) the financial department of the
subsidiaries shall directly report to the
designated member of the Board;

(iii

the Company shall consider any legal
action against any of its significant
personnel who violate their duties
or responsibilities and has led to
significant loss of the Group;

(iv) representative(s) of the Board
regularly visit each of operating
subsidiaries to make sure that the
necessary accounting records are well
maintained; and

(v) emergency procedures shall be
established, such as setting up team of
legal and financial experts, to prevent
and control potential loss of control of
subsidiaries.
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Internal control deficiencies

¢ The Company's operating
subsidiaries were only reviewed by
the head of each subsidiary without
reporting to any of the relevant
directors of the Company. Except
for the interim and annual report,
the Board had not received any
monthly or regular management
accounts from the operating
subsidiaries. Only “significant
issues” were required to report to
the Board monthly. However, there
was no guideline to define what
constituted “significant issues”.

Company'’s remedial measures

The Company will review and update its
internal control policies, and define the
matters that affecting the continuing
operation or legal compliance operation,
the general manager or legal representative
of the subsidiaries will notify any executive
director in writing or by email within 3 days
after aware of the relevant matters. The
executive directors will consult the financial
adviser or legal adviser on whether it is
necessary to issue any announcement in
accordance with the requirements of the
Listing Rules.

The Company will review and update its
internal control policies to ensure monthly
management account of each subsidiary is
obtained.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. MAN Yun Wah has been nominated by In.Corp Corporate
Services (HK) Limited to act as the Company Secretary, who has
complied with the requirements of the Listing Rules. He has been
contacting with the Board directly in respect of company secretarial
matters. He reports to the Board directly.

WHISTLE-BLOWING AND ANTI-CORRUPTION
POLICY

The Group has formulated whistle blowing policy which allows all
staff and independent third parties, including customers, suppliers
and contractors, to report any possible improprieties, misconducts,
malpractices or irregularities in matters of financial reporting, internal
control or other matters to the Board or the Audit Committee
anonymously. The Group will handle the reports and complaints with
care and will treat the whistle-blower’s concerns fairly and properly.
Any person who is found to have victimized or retaliated against
those who have raised concerns under this policy will subject to
disciplinary sanctions.
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The Group abides by the anti-corruption policy and has implemented
an anti-bribery commitment policy whereby the Group's internal key
segment employees and key position employees are required to sign
a "Letter of Undertaking of Anti-bribery/Anti-corruption”. The Group
has also encouraged employees and companies with whom we have
business dealings to report any acts of corruption. Investigations of
these cases would be kept strictly confidential. The Group realizes
that accepting improper benefits would ruin the Group’s integrity.
As such, where business dealings may cause a conflict of interest,
employees would be required to fill out a “Conflict of Interest
Declaration Form”. In addition, the Group would provide related
training to increase employees’ understanding of conflict of interest.

The Group has strictly complied with the laws and regulations related
to anti-corruption. During the Reporting Period, there have been
no cases of prosecution against the Group due to violation of any
relevant laws, such as the Criminal Law of the PRC, the Anti-Money
Laundering Law of the PRC and other national or regional laws and
regulations.

Please refer to the Environmental, Social and Governance Report for
more details.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS
Procedure for nominating a new Director

Pursuant to Article 83(2) of the Articles, subject to the Articles and
the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the Company may by
ordinary resolution elect any person to be a Director either to fill a
casual vacancy on the Board, or as an addition to the existing Board.

Procedure for convening an extraordinary
general meeting

Pursuant to Article 58 of the Articles, any one or more shareholder
holding, at the date of deposit of the requisition, not less than
one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of
voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all times have the
right, by written requisition to the Board, to require an extraordinary
general meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of any
business specified in such requisition and such meeting shall be held
within 2 months from the date of deposit of the requisition. If within
twenty-one (21) days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to
convene such meeting the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may
do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by
the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Procedure for sending enquires to the Board
Shareholders may send written enquiries or requests in respect of
their rights to the principal place of business of the Company in
Hong Kong and for the attention of the Company Secretary.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

EER®RE (A

INVESTOR RELATIONS AND
COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company has established a range of communication channels
between itself and its shareholders, and investors. These include the
publication of annual and interim reports, notices, announcements,
circulars and constitutional documents, the Company’s website at
www.hklistco.com/48 and meetings with investors and analysts.

The Company encourages all shareholders to attend the annual
general meeting to stay informed of the Group's strategy and goals.
It provides an opportunity for direct communication between the
Board and its shareholders. The chairman of the meeting explains
the detailed procedures for conducting a poll and then answers any
questions from shareholders. The poll results are published on the
website of the Company and the Stock Exchange. The Company has
reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the shareholder
communication policy during the year ended 31 December 2024 and
concluded as effective.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the year ended 31 December 2024, there had been no
significant change in the Group’s constitutional documents.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledged their responsibility for the preparation
of the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024,
which give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group.
The auditors of the Company is responsible to form an independent
opinion based on the audit, on the financial statements prepared by
the Directors and report the opinion solely to the shareholders of the
Company.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEERE

The Directors have pleasure in presenting their report and the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Group is principally engaged in the manufacture and sale
of nonwoven fabric related products used in automotive interior
decoration parts and other parts during the year ended 31 December
2024.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2024 is set out in “Chairman’s Statement & Management
Discussion and Analysis” on pages 4 to 10 of this report.

RESULTS AND FINANCIAL POSITION

The Group’s results for the year ended 31 December 2024 are
set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on pages 52 and 53 of this report.

The state of affairs of the Group and of the Company at 31 December
2024 are set out in the consolidated statement of financial position and
the statement of financial position on pages 54 to 55 of this report and
in Note 42 to the consolidated financial statements respectively.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company are set
out in Note 28 to the consolidated financial statements.

SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are set out in Note 21 to
the consolidated financial statements.

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of financial results and of the assets and liabilities of
the Group are set out in the section headed “Summary of Financial
Information” on page 136 of this report.

RESERVES

The movements in the reserves of the Group during the year ended
31 December 2024 are set out in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity on page 56 of this report. The movements in the
reserves of the Company during the year ended 31 December 2024
are set out in Note 42(b) to the consolidated financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

At 31 December 2024, the Company's reserve available for
distribution to owners of the Company comprising share premium
account amounted to approximately RMB Nil (2023: RMB Nil).
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (Continued)
EEERE (&)

DIVIDEND POLICY

The board of directors of the Company established a dividend policy
(the “Dividend Policy”) in January 2019. The Company endeavours
to maintain adequate working capital to develop and operate the
business of the Group and to provide stable and sustainable returns
to the shareholders of the Company.

In considering the payment of dividends, the Board shall take into
account, among other things, the actual and expected financial
performance of the Group, the capital and debt level of the Group,
the general market conditions, any working capital requirements,
capital expenditure requirements and future development plans of
the Group, the liquidity position of the Group, contractual restrictions
on payment of dividends, the statutory and regulatory restrictions
which the Group is subject to from time to time and any other
relevant factors that the Board may consider relevant.

The Company does not have any pre-determined dividend
distribution ratio. The Company’s dividend distribution record in the
past does not necessarily imply that the similar level of dividends may
be declared or paid by the Company in the future.

The declaration and payment of dividend by the Company is subject
to any restrictions under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands
and the Articles and any other applicable laws and regulations. The
Board will continually review the Dividend Policy and reserve the right
in its sole and absolute discretion to update, amend, modify and/or
cancel the Dividend Policy at any time.

The Dividend Policy shall in no way constitute a legally binding
commitment by the Group in respect of its future dividend and/or in
no way obligate the Group to declare a dividend at any time or from
time to time.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (Continued)
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DIVIDENDS

The Board has resolved not to declare a final dividend for the year
ended 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment
of the Group are set out in Note 18 to the consolidated financial
statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

In the year, sales to the Group's five largest customers in aggregate
accounted for approximately 50.0% (2023: 51.1%) of the total
sales for the year and sales to the largest customer accounted
for approximately 12.3% (2023: 16.2%) of total sales. Purchases
from the Group’s five largest suppliers in aggregate accounted for
approximately 41.3% (2023: 45.3%) of total purchases for the year
and purchases from the largest supplier accounted for approximately
10.8% (2023: 11.7%) of total purchases.

None of the Directors, their close associates or any shareholders
of the Company (which, to the best knowledge of the Directors,
own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had any
interest in the Group's five largest customers and suppliers during the
year ended 31 December 2024.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group's business, financial condition, results of operations and
prospects may be affected by a number of risks and uncertainties.
The following are the key risks and uncertainties identified by the
Group.

Reliance on major customers

In the year, sales to the Group's five largest customers in aggregate
accounted for approximately 50.0% (2023: 51.1%) of the total
sales for the year and sales to the largest customer accounted for
approximately 12.3% (2023: 16.2%) of total sales. If any of these
customers ceases to do business with the Group, or substantially
reduces the volume of its business with the Group and if the Group
is unable to secure new customers with similar sales volume and
profit margin, the Group’s business, results of operations and
financial position may be materially and adversely affected.
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Reliance on raw materials

The Group's production requires large quantities of raw materials,
which are mainly artificial and synthetic fibres, for the production
of nonwoven fabric related products. There is no assurance that
the Group will always be able to secure an adequate supply of raw
materials at commercially viable prices to meet the Group's future
production requirements. Moreover, fluctuations in the prices of the
raw materials may increase the cost of inventories sold and reduce
the gross profit and gross margin of the Group.

Reliance on limited number of suppliers

Purchases from the Group’s five largest suppliers in aggregate
accounted for approximately 41.3% (2023: 45.3%) of total
purchases for the year and purchases from the largest supplier
accounted for approximately 10.8% (2023: 11.7%) of total
purchases. If any of these suppliers do not continue to supply
materials and goods to the Group at favourable or similar prices or at
all, the Group may not be able to find another suitable replacement
supplier in a timely manner or on terms acceptable to the Group or
at all, and the Group's business, results of operations and financial
condition could be adversely affected.

Other financial risks

The Group also faces other financial risks in the ordinary course of
business. Details of financial risk management objectives and policies
are set out in Note 6 to the consolidated financial statements.

RELATIONSHIP WITH EMPLOYEES,
CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The Group recognises the importance of good relationships with
its employees. The Group continues to provide training for its staff
to enhance technical and product knowledge as well as knowledge
of industry quality standards. The Group maintains good working
relationships with its employees and has not experienced any material
disruption of its normal business operations due to strikes or labour
disputes.

The Directors believe that the Group's good relationship with its
customers depends on its ability to produce reliable products for
its customers. The Group conducts surveys on customers’ feedback
on the Group's products, the results of which will be analyzed and
used to formulate measures of improvement. This provides a channel
for the Group’s customers to monitor the quality of the Group's
products.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (Continued)
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The Group’s major suppliers of its principal business are
manufacturers of artificial and synthetic fibers being the Group’s
primary raw materials. The Directors consider that the reliability of
suppliers are essential to maintaining an efficient production process
of the Group. The Group has laid down detailed supplier selection
procedures, and conducts reviews on its suppliers regularly and also
upon any material changes in the suppliers’ delivery period, quality
of supply, price and service.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES

Committed to minimizing any environmental impact caused by its
production (such as noise, sewage and exhaust gas), the Group
adopts quality control measures and a comprehensive environmental
management system to ensure that the Group manufactures quality
products with minimum impacts on the environment. Meanwhile,
concerning environmental conservation, the Group follows the
internal guiding principles set out below in operating its business:

o to be committed to complying with relevant laws and
regulations;

o to strengthen the training of staff so that they all participate in
protecting the environment;

o to continuously improve and implement daily environmental
monitoring, review and management so as to prevent pollution;
and

. to economize on the consumption of resources.

Further details will be disclosed in the Company's Environmental,
Social and Governance Report 2024 to be published within April
2025.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Group work closely with its advisers and auditors to review the
Group's affairs and ensure full compliance with all applicable laws,
rules and regulations. The Group’s operations are mainly carried out
by the Company’s subsidiaries in the PRC while the Company itself
is listed on the Stock Exchange. As far as the Company is aware, the
Group has complied in material aspects with the relevant laws and
regulations which have a significant impact on the Group during the
year ended 31 December 2024.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year ended 31 December
2024 and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Zhuang Yuejin
Mr. Ng Chung Ho
Ms. Xiao Suni

Independent non-executive Directors:

Mr. Yuen Wai Keung (appointed on 15 July 2024) Mete
Ms. Ng Li La, Adeline

Ms. Zhu Chunyan

Mr. Mak Wai Ho (retired on 3 June 2024)

Note: Mr. Yuen Wai Keung, being appointed on 15 July 2024, obtained the legal
advice referred to in Rule 3.09D of the Listing Rules on 15 July 2024, and
Mr. Yuen Wai Keung confirmed that he understood his obligations as a

Director.

Pursuant to Article 83(3) and 84(1) of the Articles, Mr. Zhuang
Yuejin, Ms. Zhu Chunyan and Mr. Yuen Wai Keung shall retire at the
forthcoming annual general meeting. All the retiring Directors are
eligible for re-elections.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical information of the Directors and senior management
of the Group are set out in the section headed “Biographical
Information of Directors and Senior Management” on pages 11 to
12 of this report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors, including those proposed for re-election at
the forthcoming annual general meeting, has a service agreement
which is not determinable by the Company within one year without
payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation).

REMUNERATION POLICY

The remuneration policy of the employees of the Group is set up
by the Board on the basis of their experience, qualifications and
competence.

The remuneration of the Directors of the Company are reviewed by
the Remuneration Committee and approved by the Board, having
regard to the relevant Director’s experience, responsibility, workload
and the time devoted to the Group; the Company’s operating results
and comparable market statistics.
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The Company has adopted a share option scheme (the “Scheme”)
on 5 June 2015 to which the Directors and eligible employees,
among others are entitled to participate in. The Company operates
the Scheme for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to
eligible participants who contribute to the success of the Group's
operations. Details of the Scheme are set out in the section “Share
Option Scheme"” on pages 39 to 41 of this report.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the remuneration of the Directors and the five highest
paid individuals in the Group are set out in Notes 15 and 16 to the
consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES'’
INTERESTS IN SECURITIES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

So far as known to the Directors, at 31 December 2024, the interests
and short positions of the Directors and chief executives of the
Company in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company or any its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO")) which were
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and/or short positions of which they were taken or deemed
to have under such provisions of SFO) or which were recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section
352 of the SFO or otherwise required to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers in Appendix C3 to the
Listing Rules (“Model Code"), were as follows:

Long positions in shares and underlying shares
of the Company

Capacity and nature

Name of interest

HmE HORERNMEE
Directors

B=%

Mr. Zhuang Yuejin Beneficial owner
TR ERlER A

Ms. Xiao Suni Beneficial owner
EE ERlER A

Ms. Zhu Chunyan Beneficial owner
KEERLL ERfER A
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Save as disclosed above, at 31 December 2024, none of the Directors
or chief executives of the Company had any interests or short
positions in the shares or underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations as recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company under Section 352 of
the SFO, or as otherwise required to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

Save as disclosed above, at no time during the year ended 31
December 2024 were rights to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company or of any
other body corporate granted to any Directors or their respective
spouse or children under 18 years of age, or were any such rights
exercised by them; or was the Company, its holding company or
any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the
Directors, their respective spouse or children under 18 years of age
to acquire such rights in the Company or any body corporate.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' AND OTHER

PERSONS’ INTERESTS OR SHORT POSITIONS

IN THE SHARES OR UNDERLYING SHARES OF
THE COMPANY

Save as disclosed in the section “Directors’ and Chief Executives’
Interests in Securities, Underlying Shares and Debentures” on
page 36 of this report, at 31 December 2024, the Directors of the
Company were not aware of any persons who had, or was deemed
to have, interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying
Shares which would fall to be disclosed to the Company in
accordance with the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the
SFO; or be recorded in the register required to be kept under Section
336 of the SFO.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

No Director had a material interest, either directly or indirectly, in any
contract of significance to the business of the Group to which the
Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party at the end of the year
or at any time during the year ended 31 December 2024.
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DIRECTOR’S INTEREST IN COMPETING
INTERESTS

The Directors are not aware of any business or interest of the
Directors, the controlling shareholder and their respective associates
(as defined under the Listing Rules) that compete or may compete
with the business of the Group and any other conflict of interest
which any such person has or may have with the Group during the
year.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the Company's listed securities during the year
ended 31 December 2024.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES
AND DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the section “Directors’ and Chief Executives’
Interests in Securities, Underlying Shares and Debentures” on page
36 of this report, at no time during the year ended 31 December
2024 was the Company, or its subsidiaries, or its fellow subsidiaries a
party to any arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits
by means of acquisition of shares in, or debentures of the Company
or any other body corporate.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors at the latest practicable
date prior to issue of this report, the Company has maintained the
sufficient public float under the Listing Rules.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2024, except for those disclosed
in Note 40 to the consolidated financial statements, the Group had
no material transactions with its related parties.

The Directors conducted review of the related party transactions of
the Group during the year ended 31 December 2024 and were not
aware any transaction requiring disclosure of connected transactions
in accordance with the requirements of the Listing Rules.
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BANK BORROWINGS

Particulars of bank borrowings of the Group as at 31 December 2024
are set out in Note 34 to the consolidated financial statements.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME

Particulars of the retirement benefit scheme of the Group are set out
in Note 39 to the consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles or
the laws of Cayman Islands which oblige the Company to offer new
shares on a pro-rata basis to its existing shareholders.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles, the Directors and every one of them is
entitled to be indemnified out of the assets and profits of the
Company from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses,
damages and expenses which the Directors or any of them, shall or
may incur or sustain by or by reason of any act done, concurred in
or omitted in or about the execution of their duty, or supposed duty
in their offices or otherwise in relation thereto provided that this
indemnity shall not extend to any matter in respect of any fraud or
dishonesty which may attach to any of the Directors.

The Company has taken out and maintained Directors’ liability
insurance throughout the year which provides appropriate cover for
legal actions brought against the Directors.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted the Scheme on 5 June 2015 which will
remain in force for a period of 10 years from the effective date of
the Scheme and will expire on 4 June 2025.

Under the Scheme, the Directors may at their discretion grant options
to the eligible participants, including but not limited to, any Directors
(whether executive or non-executive and whether independent or
not) and any employee (whether full time or part time) of the Group
or any other person, who has contributed to the Group.
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The maximum number of shares in respect to which options may
be granted under the Scheme shall not exceed 10% of the issued
share capital of the Company on the date of adopting the Scheme.
The limit may be refreshed at any time provided that the new limit
must not be in aggregate exceed 10% of the issued share capital of
the Company at the date of the shareholders’ approval in general
meeting. However, the total number of shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be
exercised under the Scheme and any other scheme of the Company
must not in aggregate exceed 30% of the shares in issue from time
to time. During the year ended 31 December 2024, no share options
were granted, exercised nor canceled but 15,030,000 outstanding
share options were lapsed under the Scheme. As at 31 December
2024 and the date of this report, an aggregate of 4,800,000 share
options granted under the Scheme remained outstanding, which
represented approximately 2.7% of the issued share capital of the
Company. At the date of this report, the total number of shares
available for issuance upon exercise of all options to be granted
under the Scheme was 17,511,510, which represented approximately
10% of the issued share capital of the Company at such date. The
total number of shares that may be issued in respect of share options
granted under the Scheme during the year ended 31 December
2024 divided by the weighted average number of shares in issue
for the year ended 31 December 2024 was approximately 2.74.
The maximum number of shares in respect of which options may
be granted to any individual in any 12-month period shall not
exceed 1% of the shares in issue on the last date of such 12-month
period unless approval of the shareholders of the Company has
been obtained in accordance with the Listing Rules. A nominal
consideration of HK$1 is payable on acceptance of the grant of an
option.

Options may be exercised at any time from the date of grant of
the option to the 10th anniversary of the date of grant as may be
determined by the Directors. The exercise price is determined by the
Directors, and will not be less than the highest of (i) the closing price
per share as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets
on the date of the grant of the options; (ii) the average closing price
per share as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets
for the five business days immediately preceding the date of the
grant of the options; or (iii) the nominal value of a share. An option
may be accepted by an eligible participant within 28 days from the
date of the offer of grant of the option.
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The movements in the Company's share options granted to the
eligible participants during the year ended 31 December 2024 were

as follows
Date of grant
REBH

Category 1:

8o

Directors

EF

Zhuang Yuejin 13 May 2022

i3 5 ZE-CERATEH

Xiao Suni 13 May 2022

BER ZE-CERATER
Total
@z

Category 2:

A2

Employees 4 April 2019

B8 “E-nERARA
13 May 2022
“ZCZFRAT=A
Total
@&t

Total

a5

FESEABEEER QA

Exercise price
HK$

T
B

0433

0433

2.500

0433

Movement during the period

Brgs
Outstanding at Outstanding at
1 January 31 December
2024 Granted Exercised Cancelled Lapsed 2024
R=¥-RF R-g-mE
-A-8 +ZA=t+-H
WA BEH BT BH# BAM B
1,670,000 - - - (1,670,000) -
1,670,000 - - - (1,670,000) -
3,340,000 - - - (3,340,000) -
4,800,000 - - - - 4,800,000
11,690,000 - - - (11,690,000) -
16,490,000 - - - (11,690,000) 4,800,000
19,830,000 - - - (15,030,000) 4,800,000

AABEREMEEARABRERE T 1
FroA=+—ALFERZEBNT

Exercise period

s

13 May 2022 to 12 May 2024
“E--fnAt=HE
—Z-mERATZA
13 May 2022 to 12 May 2024
“E--FRARTZHE
—Z-MERATZA

4 April 2019 to 3 April 2029

ZZ-NFRANARE
“E-NEMAZH

13 May 2022 to 12 May 2024
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AUDITORS

Following the resignation of HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
("HLB") as the auditor of the Company on 7 January 2022, Elite
Partners CPA Limited (“Elite Partners”) was appointed as the auditor
of the Company by the Board on the same day. Following the
resignation of Elite Partners as the auditor of the Company on 2
September 2024, Infinity CPA Limited (“Infinity CPA") was appointed
as the auditor of the Company by the Board on the same day and to
hold office until the conclusion of the next annual general meeting
of the Company.

The consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year
ended 31 December 2024 were audited by Infinity CPA whose terms
of office will expire upon the forthcoming annual general meeting
of the Company. A resolution for the re-appointment of Infinity CPA
as the auditor of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company.

The Board confirmed that there was no disagreement between either
HLB and Elite Partners, and the Company. Save as disclosed above,
there were no other changes in auditor of the Company during the
past three years.

On behalf of the Board

Zhuang Yuejin
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 26 March 2025
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

B AR E

QO

TO THE MEMBERS OF
CHINA AUTOMATIVE INTERIOR DECORATION LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

INFINITY

— B EREFEYH —

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Automative Interior Decoration Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages
52 to 135, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2024, and the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated
statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including material accounting policy
information.

In our opinion, except for the possible effects of the matters
described in the section of “Basis for Qualified Opinion” of our
report, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2024, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA")
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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Infinity CPA Limited

Room 1501, 15/F., Olympia Plaza

255 King’s Road, North Point, Hong Kong
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BASIS FOR QUALIFIED OPINION

Limitation of scope - deconsolidation of
subsidiaries

As disclosed in the “Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion” section of
the auditor’s report of the auditor of the consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the financial year ended 31 December
2023 (the "Predecessor Auditors”) and in note 44 to the consolidated
financial statements:

- In November 2023, the board of directors of the Company
(the “Board”) was informed by Mr. Wong Ho Yin (“Mr.
Wong"), the former director of the Company who resigned as
the executive director of the Company on 18 October 2023,
that the business and accounting books and records of Loyal
Brands International Limited and its subsidiaries, including
Grand York Limited, Giant Faith Holdings Limited, /&I 5
BFEEERAR and RYEEFEEZRMABEMRLDF (the “Loyal
Brands Group”), including but not limited to sales invoice,
purchase invoice, accounting ledger and vouchers, were
unable to be located. The Board has also tried to contact the
person-in charge of Loyal Brands Group (the “Responsible
Staff”) through Mr. Wong, but he was unable to (i) contact
the Responsible Staff and (ii) obtain the accounting books and
records of Loyal Brands Group.

- On 27 December 2023, Mr. Ng Chung Ho (“Mr. Ng”) was
appointed as an executive director of the Company. Mr. Ng
had thoroughly searched all the files and documents kept
in the office in Hong Kong and was unable to locate any
business and accounting books and records for Loyal Brands
Group. Mr. Ng also tried to contact the Responsible Staff but
was unable to obtain positive response or cooperation. Mr. Ng
further contacted the director of Loyal Brands Group, but the
director of Loyal Brands Group replied that he did not possess
any accounting books and records of Loyal Brands Group.

- In light of the above circumstances, the Group considered it
had lost control over Loyal Brand Group and had excluded
the consolidated financial position of Loyal Brand Group as
at and after and the results and cash flows of Loyal Brand
Group since 1 January 2023 from the consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2023 (the “Deconsolidation”).
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Due to the insufficient supporting documents and relevant
explanations on (i) the accounting books and records in respect of
Loyal Brand Group and its operations and (ii) the Deconsolidation,
the Predecessor Auditors were unable to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence to satisfy themselves as to whether (i)
the Deconsolidation of Loyal Brand Group on 1 January 2023 and
the loss on Deconsolidation of approximately RMB6,470,000; (ii) the
income and expenses for the years ended 31 December 2023; (iii) the
assets and liabilities as at 31 December 2023; and (iv) the segment
information and other related disclosure notes in relation to the
Group, as included in the consolidated financial statements of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2023, have been accurately
recorded and properly accounted for in the consolidated financial
statements.

On 14 March 2024 (the “Disposal Date”), the Group disposed of all
its equity interest in the Loyal Brands Group to an independent third
party for HK$1,000,000 (equivalents to RMB916,000) and recorded
gain on disposal of Loyal Brand Group of approximately RMB916,000
in the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2024. In the opinion of the Directors, the Loyal Brands
Group was not material or significant to the operations of the Group
as a whole.

For the same reasons, we have also been unable to satisfy ourselves
regarding the recognition and measurement in the consolidated profit
or loss for the year ended 31 December 2023 of the loss on the
deconsolidation of Loyal Brands Group, amounting to RMB6,470,000,
and the recognition and measurement in the consolidated profit
or loss for the year ended 31 December 2024 of the gain on the
disposal of Loyal Brands Group, amounting to RMB916,000.

Any adjustments to the financial statement items described above
might have a consequential effect on the Group's consolidated
financial performance and consolidated cash flow for the year ended
31 December 2023, the consolidated financial position of the Group
as at 31 December 2023 and the related disclosures thereof in the
consolidated financial statements.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of
our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”),
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our qualified
opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. In addition to
the matter described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion section, we
have determined the matters described below to be the key audit
matters to be communicated in our report.

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as follows:

o Allowance for expected credit losses assessment of trade
receivables

Key audit matter

BREITEE

Allowance for expected credit losses assessment of trade
receivables

EREZRENERFEBRTMALERE

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had gross trade receivables
of approximately RMB71,205,000 and provision for impairment of
approximately RMB15,543,000.
RZEB_NE+_A=+—0" SENEWE S FRIAR
AR #71,205,0007T - AEEH L) » A RH15,543,0007C

BMAR

In general, the credit terms granted by the Group to the customers
ranged between 30 to 120 days. Management performed periodic
assessment on the recoverability of the trade receivables and
the sufficiency of provision for impairment based on information
including credit profile of different customers, ageing of the trade
receivables, historical settlement records, subsequent settlement
status, expected timing and amount of realisation of outstanding
balances, and on-going trading relationships with the relevant
customers. Management also considered forward-looking information
that may impact the customers’ ability to repay the outstanding
balances in order to estimate the expected credit losses for the
impairment assessment.
EEERTEFPNEER RN TI0E1208 - BEEERBETRAEF
WEERR BRESHENERR BEAEIS BELERR
RENGEHOERENSEEReE UAREREBEPOBEXLH
FREER THNGEEWE S FIEN AT E M R EREN TR M-
ERENMERFETETPENREMNERENNAEIEER U
mETREN AN EREEER
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EMNBTHESFNAEERRENEHE

Our procedures in relation to allowance for
expected credit assessment of trade receivables as
at 31 December 2024 included:

BT _HF+_A=+—HREKESK

WEBREETGEREHMETNREF B
Understanding and evaluating the key
procedures that the Group has implemented
to manage and monitor its credit risk;

- TMI%% EEBAERLEZEEFEER

FEmNEERT:

- Checking the subsequent settlements of
trade receivables balance on a sample basis.

- UHEBEFAREEWNE S RELEBHIRELS
HBER:

- Testing, on a sample basis, the aging of trade
receivables at the year end to supporting
evidence

- BT RAHAFREREZHK
REFER:
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Key audit matter

BREITEE

Allowance for expected credit losses assessment of trade
receivables

BREZRENERFEBRFMALESE

We focused on this area due to the impairment assessment of trade
receivables under the expected credit losses model involved the use
of significant management judgements and estimates.

BT TEDEAEMEERLAEX THRKE ZRFNERT
hREEEREFH SR Rt

RESEAHEESE A

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EMNBTHEFNAEERREN SR

- Inquiring of management for the status
of each of the material trade receivables
past due as at year end and corroborating
explanations from management with
supporting evidence; and

- MEEESHRNFERE AP ZESE KNERK
ESRBENMR TKEREENRELST S
BEMBEDE: &

- Assessing the appropriateness of
the expected credit loss provisioning
methodology, examining the key data
inputs on a sample basis to assess their
accuracy and completeness, and challenging
the assumptions, including both historical
and forward-looking information, used to
determine the expected credit losses.

- FIMATEHBEEBEBEREANAENT MK
R B B2 BUR B A DART (5 HOERE I K e B M
TERAREECEREEEENRER(BE
BENAELEER) -

I
4
I
[=
H
#

47



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'’S REPORT (Continued)
BYRBETRE (&)

OTHER MATTER

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2023 were audited by another auditor, who expressed a
disclaimer of opinion on those consolidated financial statements on
31 March 2024, in respect of the limitation of scope as described
above.

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated
financial statements and our auditors’ report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required
to report that fact. As described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion
section above, we were unable to obtain sufficient appropriate
evidence regarding the subject matters described therein and their
consequential effects on the consolidated financial statements for
the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2024. Accordingly, we are
unable to conclude whether or not the other information is materially
misstated with respect to these matters.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

48 CHINA AUTOMOTIVE INTERIOR DECORATION HOLDINGS LIMITED
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'’S REPORT (Continued)
BYRBETRE (&)

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging
their responsibilities for overseeing the Group's financial reporting
process.

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditors’ report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body,
and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

RESEAHEESE A
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'’S REPORT (Continued)
BYRBETRE (&)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information
of the entities or business units within the Group as a basis for
forming an opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and review of

e HNEFRARELLSHEENEEEFEL
Ewm LREBEESNEFER HEBRSHE
EHEAEY BEREREKEENIBREX
AN EHREREENERTREE L B
BMRAGFEERTEEN RMYUERZ
R ETRFIEGAMBHRRPNEH
RE RERBRETRTD  BIMABERIE
BERBBR -BMOERTENEZZBED
BERHMESHERABRE- AN KKRE
HRERATEES EREEEFELE-

e G AUMBHMERNERZEI EBRAR
(BREE) UERGAMBHREREE ALK
RIS M ER-

s RIANTEEFFTITHE UEERNER
FEBEMNVBERRE RO EENERGT
BRE ERUERAMBHRRBEREINER -
BMEERS ZELREMNAEEET T
RERNBESF THE-RMAYMBERNEFER

the audit work performed for purposes of the group audit. We S

remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

BFEEZZEEUENNEE FRETHN
REAENBRRASERETER SRBBRME
EAHBREREA N ERABEENERRE -

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

BT RAEZZESRHERH KRARMDETH
BUMHEANBREERER TRERZBE AR
FIBARMERAEBR ST ERME L LN EM
HMEIE ARABLRROITE R BHEE (&
) e

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'’S REPORT (Continued)
BYRBETRE (&)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditors’ report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

Infinity CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Au Yeung Ming Yin Gordon
Practising certificate number P08219

Hong Kong, 26 March 2025
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
SERmRHEMEERER

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE—F—Ef - A=+—HIFFZ

2024 2023
—EZmEF —E-=F
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
Bz ARET T ARET T
Revenue A 9 128,552 113,673
Cost of sales 4 & AR (107,511) (82,878)
Gross profit EH 21,041 30,795
Other income, gains and losses, net HaWA - Wz K& EEFE 10 822 5,011
Selling and distribution costs HE D HEKA (3,172) (3,837)
Share of result of associates FEGEE NP EE 120 (2,837)
Net (allowance for)/reversal of FEHREEEE([EHREEEE]D
expected credit losses (“ECL") (BfE) /BRI FaE (9,322) 27,540
Administrative expenses TR X (17,399) (20,745)
(Loss)/profit from operations ge (FE) 8RN 11 (7,910) 35,927
Finance costs B B R 12 (1,466) (1,580)
(Loss)/profit before tax BB (EE) uR (9,376) 34,347
Income tax credit/(expense) Fris®iie,/ (Ax%) 13 36,755 (4,316)
Profit for the year attributable ARREEAEBGFERR
to the owners of the Company 27,379 30,031
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (Continued)
RERBEREMEERER (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE—F—Ef - A=+—HIFFZ

2024 2023
—E-E —E-=4F
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000

M aF ARBF AR T T
Profit for the year FE=EA 27,379 30,031

Other comprehensive income/(expense) FEHtZmEUE (FX)

for the year, net of income tax: MBRFrSEL#&
Item that will not be reclassified to FTEEHPBEEERWER:

profit or loss:
Exchange differences on translation RENEEEEZ2HEK 2

from functional currency to N ZER

presentation currency 1,404 1,985
Item that may be reclassified HeEsEmsBEBEEMWER:

subsequently to profit or loss:
Exchange differences on translating foreign HE/BINERE Z[E K =58

operations (1,814) (1,552)
Reclassification adjustment for the BIHGEE ABREBS AERZZ

cumulative exchange reserve included in RAEHREEFT O EAR

profit or loss upon the deconsolidation (70) 62
Total other comprehensive income FEHtMZEWRARE

for the year (480) 495

Total comprehensive income for the ARAREFEAREFEFELZE KRS

year attributable to the owners of ]
the Company 26,899 30,526
RMB RMB
ARH AR
Earnings per share BREF
Basic and diluted BEARREE 74  15.64 cents & 17.15 cents 7
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

A MR R

As at 31 December 2024
R-FZpmFf+=—H=4+—H

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Investment property
Right-of-use assets
Interests in associates
Prepayments for acquisition of property,
plant and equipment

Current assets

Inventories

Trade and bills receivables

Prepayments, deposits and other
receivables

Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss

Cash and bank balances

Total assets

EQUITY

Capital and reserves attributable to
the owners of the Company
Share capital
Reserves

Total equity

Notes
Hiat
BE
ERBEE
Y B REE 18
"EME 19
FRAEEE 20
A R/NCTE: OF - X 22
WM BE REHEN
TEAT RIE 25
FEBEE
FE 23
EBUWE S RENREE 24
FEMNFE R REMEWFKIE
25
BEAFERERYENS R
BE 26
B e RIRTTHEH 27
BEHAR
R
EATBEBEAERERR
#E
& 7 28
{1 29
R

CHINA AUTOMOTIVE INTERIOR DECORATION HOLDINGS LIMITED

2024 2023
—E-OF —E=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TR ARMET T
67,844 19,010
3,421 3,777
6,785 6,323
6,105 5,874

217 58,155
84,372 93,139
17,709 21,447
56,249 73,310
33,910 24,127
26,587 27,368
49,419 26,043
183,874 172,295
268,246 265,434
3,643 3,643
175,448 148,549
179,091 152,192
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (Continued)

mEMBRRE (F)

As at 31 December 2024
R-F-—pmF+=—A=+—H

LIABILITIES

Non-current liability
Bond payable
Lease liabilities

Current liabilities
Trade and bills payables
Accruals and other payables
Contract liabilities
Bank borrowings
Lease liabilities
Tax payable

Total liabilities
Total equity and liabilities

Net current assets

Total assets less current liabilities

Net assets

Approved by the Board of Directors on 26 March 2025 and signed

on its behalf by:

=84

FRBEE
& & 5
HEAR

RBEE
EREZHRERER
fEsH & B R E A A IR
aHafE
RITER
HEAE
J& 1538

BEAE

EEREEERE

RBEEFH

HEERRBAE

BEEZRHE

Notes

Bz

30
35

31
32
33
34
35

2024 2023
—ENE —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETR ARBTT
2,855 -
2,674 2,552
5,529 2,552
39,812 30,447
7,521 12,580
8,691 3,133
25,000 25,000
1,468 2,020
1,134 37,510
83,626 110,690
89,155 113,242
268,246 265,434
100,248 61,605
184,620 154,744
179,091 152,192

IIALTHREREZR:

Zhuang Yuejin

HERE
Director

EF

Ng Chung Ho

il
Director

EF

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
mERERBER

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_FE_pFEf+ —H=+—HIFE

At 1 January 2023

Profit for the year

Exchange difference on translating functional currency
to presentation currency

Exchange difference on translating
foreign operations

Reclassification adjustment for the cumulative
exchange reserve included in profit or loss
upon Deconsolidation

Total comprehensive income for the year

Lapse of share options

At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024

Profit for the year

Exchange difference on translating functional currency
to presentation currency

Exchange difference on translating
foreign operations

Reclassification adjustment for the cumulative exchange
reserve included in profit or loss upon Deconsolidation

Total comprehensive income for the year

Lapse of share options

At 31 December 2024

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

RZZ-=%6-HF—H
FREEF
BRENHERZ2HE
ERzE
BEBNEBCERERE

ESIR NN S S UNCE- W T
ERGEENDERE

FEEENGELE

RREEN

RZZZ=F+ZA=+-HK
ZE-mE-A-H

FRER
BRENERBEZRAEZ
ERZE
BEBNEB ELZE

RIrRANREHAREZ 25t
ERGRBENDEEE

FERAMNGER

RBERY

R-Z-mE+-A=t+-A

BEMTR P E AR TR A M B MROAKRE S

CHANGES IN EQUITY

Foreign
currency Share
Share Share Merger  translation option Statutory  Accumulated Total
capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve losses equity
SERE
R RAEE BbtfE R BRERS EERRE RER REER
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFT AREFTT ARETT ARETRT ARETT ARETR ARBTT ARBTT
(note 29) (note 29) (note 29) (note 42) (note 29)
(Hi#229) (H3£29) (Hit29) (Hiit42) (Hi##29)
3,643 325,645 5,992 34,569 8,168 11,818 (268,169) 121,666
- - - - - - 30,031 30,031
- - - 1,985 - - - 1,985
- - - (1,552) - - - (1,552)
- - - 62 - - - 62
- - - 495 - - 30,031 30,526
- - - - (301) - 301 -
3,643 325,645 5,992 35,064 7,867 11,818 (237,837) 152,192
- - - - - - 27,379 27,379
- - - 1,404 - - - 1,404
- - - (1,814) - - - (1,814)
- - - (70) - - - (70)
- - - (480) - - 27,379 26,899
. - - . (7,294) - 7,294 -
3,643 325,645 5,992 34,584 573 11,818 (203,164) 179,091

CHINA AUTOMOTIVE INTERIOR DECORATION HOLDINGS LIMITED
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FEREMER

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE—F—Ef - A=+—HIFFZ

2024 2023
—ENE =4
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TR ARBETT

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING RETHELENRERE
ACTIVITIES
(Loss)/profit before tax BREAT (B51B) A (9,376) 34,347
Adjustments for: HATFEELAE:
Finance costs BB Bl AN 1,466 1,580
Interest income FE KA (84) (67)
Allowance/(reversal of allowance) for EWE S RIBENEHREER
expected credit losses on trade receivables Igickc %/ BERmE) 2,427 (26,446)
Reversal of allowance for expected credit HMERRIBENEREE
losses on other receivables E e A E R Y 6,895 (1,094)
Provision for impairment on interests REE RN E R R R ERE
in associates - 2,358
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment W WEREETE 3,426 1,469
Depreciation on investment property HEMENE 356 356
Depreciation on right-of-use assets CRAEEERE 2,294 2,418
(Loss)/gain on financial assets at B?/REHEE/\?@ SHIBRM S REE
fair value through profit or loss (BE) M 1,275 (6,349)
Realised loss/(gain) on disposal of financial Ed%iﬁiﬂ%ﬁ sERATEYIEN SR
assets at fair value through profit or loss BEEMBERE (B1E) s - (568)
Share of results of associates AN E (120) 2,837
Loss on disposal of property, HEWME BER&EEE
plant and equipment 1,398 4,697
Loss on Deconsolidation of subsidiaries LI AEARNBRARNEIE 306 6,470
Operating cash flow before investments in EEESEHARAED
working capital changes KEReRE 10,263 22,008
Decrease in inventories FERD 3,738 1,711
Decrease in trade and bills receivables JEWE 5 FRIB R BB 14,634 82,258
(Increase)/decrease in prepayments, AR RIE e R EAM
deposits and other receivables fEd B () R (15,482) 19,859
Increase in financial assets BRAFERERIENEREE
at fair value through profit or loss 0 - (585)
Increase/(decrease) in trade payables ERE SN CRd) 9,365 (19,975)
(Decrease)/increase in accruals and FERHE A R H M E R 5RI8
other payables CRA) /18 (4,600) 2,161
Increase/(decrease) in contract liabilities AfaEEm ORd) 5,558 (42,606)
Net cash generated from operations KEMSRSFE 23,476 64,831
Income tax paid [RENPEEEYT! (1,398) (330)
Net cash generated from operating activities KEEBMEReFE 22,078 64,501
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The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

RERTRER (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE—F—Ef - A=+—HIFFZ

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING
ACTIVITIES
Interest received
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Prepayment for acquisition of property,
plant and equipment
Proceeds from disposal of property,
plant and equipment
Net cash flow from disposal of subsidiaries
Net cash outflow from deconsolidation
of subsidiaries

Net cash used in investing activities

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from bank borrowings

Proceeds from bond payables

Proceeds from issue of shares upon
exercising of share options

Repayment of bank borrowings

Repayment of interest on borrowings

Repayment of capital element of
lease liabilities

Repayment of interest on lease liabilities

Net cash used in financing activities

Net increase in cash and
cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at the
beginning of the year

Effect of foreign currency exchange
rate changes

Cash and cash equivalents at
the end of the year
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CHINA AUTOMOTIVE INTERIOR DECORATION HOLDINGS LIMITED

2024 2023
—ENE =4
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET ARET T
84 67
(963) (1,128)
= (58,155)
2,955 4
914 -
- 61)
2,990 (59,273)
25,000 25,000
2,855 -
(25,000) (25,000)
(1,247) (1,293)
(3,186) (2,547)
(142) (287)
(1,720) (4,127)
23,348 1,101
26,043 25,324
28 (382)
49,419 26,043
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A MR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BEr—
1.

E_mFEF A=+ —HIFFE
GENERAL INFORMATION

China Automotive Interior Decoration Holdings Limited (the
“Company”) was a public limited company incorporated
in Cayman Islands on 9 December 2009 as an exempted
company with limited liability under the Companies Law (2000
Revision) of the Cayman Islands, and its shares are listed on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. The addresses of
the registered office and principal place of business of the
Company are disclosed in the corporate information section to
the annual report.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
The Group is principally engaged in the manufacture and
sale of nonwoven fabric related products used in automotive
interior decoration parts and other parts.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the Company
has no immediate and ultimate holding company or ultimate
controlling party as at 31 December 2024.

The Company’s functional currency is Hong Kong dollars
("HKD"). However, the consolidated financial statements
are presented in Renminbi (“RMB"), as the directors of the
Company consider that RMB is the functional currency of
the primary economic environment in which most of the
Group’s transactions are denominated and settled in and
this presentation is more useful for its current and potential
investors. The consolidated of financial statements are
presented in thousands of Renminbi (“RMB'000"), unless
otherwise stated.

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

2.1 Amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current
year

In the current year, the Group has applied the
following amendments to HKFRS Accounting
Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") for the first
time, which are mandatorily effective for the annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024 for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to
HKFRS 16
Amendment to HKAS 1

Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with

Covenants
Amendments to Supplier Finance
HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 Arrangement

FESEARKESR AR

—REH

EPI;‘%EW%’*@E[‘E A(IRRA) R
RPERRAF R_ZZAFT-_ANAR
EHE ﬁ% AE(ZEETFRINAES
HEEMKRIABRRER AR RN
EEBERSMAERRQR LW - ARRME
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
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2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS
(Continued)

2.1 Amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current
year (Continued)

The application of the amendments to HKFRS
Accounting Standards in the current year has had no
material impact on the Group's financial positions and
performance for the current and prior years and/or on
the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial
statements.

2.2 New and amendments to HKFRS
Accounting Standards in issue but not
yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new
and amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards that
have been issued but are not yet effective:

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure
in Financial Statements?
Amendments to Amendments to the

HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7  Classification and
Measurement of
Financial Instruments?
Amendments to Contracts referencing nature-
HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 dependent electricity?

Amendments to Sale or Contribution of
HKAS 28 and Assets between an Investor
HKFRS 10 and its Associate or Joint
Venture*
Amendments to Lack of Exchangeability’
HKAS 21

Annual Improvements ~ Amendments to HKFRS 1,
to HKFRS Accounting HKFRS 7, HKFRS 9,
Standards — Volume 11 HKFRS 10 and HKAS 72

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2025

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2026

3 Effective for annual/reporting periods beginning on or after 1
January 2027

4 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for
adoption
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
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2.

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS
(Continued)

2.2 New and amendments to HKFRS
Accounting Standards in issue but not
yet effective (Continued)

The Directors anticipate that the application of all
other amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards
will not have material impact on the consolidated
financial statements in the foreseeable future.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards, which is a
collective term that includes all applicable individual HKFRS
Accounting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
("HKASs") and Interpretations issued by the HKICPA, and
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong. For
the purpose of preparation of the consolidated financial
statements, information is considered material if such
information is reasonably expected to influence decisions
made by primary users. In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required by of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) and by the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments
that are measured at fair values at the end of each reporting
period, as explained in the accounting policies set out below.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING INFORMATION

The material accounting information applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out below.
These policies have been consistently applied to all the years
presented, vales otherwise stated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the
Company has power over the investee; is exposed, or has rights
to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and
has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in
line with the Group’s accounting policies.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING INFORMATION
(Continued)

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including special purpose entities)
over which the Group has the power to govern the financial
and operating policies generally accompanying a shareholding
of more than one half of the voting rights. The existence and
effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or
convertible are considered when assessing whether the Group
controls another entity.

Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less
impairment. Cost includes direct attributable costs of
investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the
Company on the basis of dividend received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is
required upon receiving a dividend from these investments
if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive income of
the subsidiary in the period the dividend is declared or if the
carrying amount of the investment in the separate financial
statements exceeds the carrying amount in the consolidated
financial statements of the investee's net assets including
goodwill.

Investment in associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in
the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but
is not control or joint control over these policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements using
the equity method of accounting.

The financial statements of associates used for equity
amounting purposes are prepared using uniform amounting
policies as those of the Group for like transactions and events
in similar circumstances.

Under the equity method, an investment in an associate is
initially recognised in the consolidated statement of financial
position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the
Group’s share of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income of the associate. When the Group’s share of losses of
an associate exceeds the Group's interest in that associate,
the Group discontinues recognising its share of further losses.
Additional losses are recognised only to the extent that the
Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made
payments on behalf of the associate.
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING INFORMATION
(Continued)
Investment in associates (Continued)

An investment in an associate is accounted for using the equity
method from the date on which the investee becomes an
associate. On acquisition of the investment in an associate, any
excess of the cost of the investment over the Group's share of
the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the
investee is recognised as goodwill, which is included within the
carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the Group's
share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and
liabilities over the cost of the investment, after reassessment, is
recognised immediately in profit or loss in the period in which
the investment is acquired.

The Group assesses whether there is objective evidence that
the interest in an associate may be impaired. When any
objective evidence exists, the requirements of HKAS 36 are
applied to determine whether it is necessary to recognize any
impairment loss with respect to the Group's investment in an
associate. When necessary, the entire carrying amount of the
investment (including goodwill, if any) is tested for impairment
in accordance with HKAS 36 “Impairment of Assets” as a
single asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher
of value in use and fair value less cost of disposal) with its
carrying amount. Any impairment loss recognised forms part
of the carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of that
impairment loss is recognised in accordance with HKAS 36
to the extent that the recoverable amount of the investment
subsequently increases.

When a group entity transacts with an associate of the Group,
profits or losses resulting from the transactions with the
associate are recognised in the Group's consolidated financial
statements only to the extent of interests in the associate that
are not related to the Group.

Revenue recognition

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods
underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred
to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good (or a bundle of
goods) that is distinct or a series of distinct goods that are
substantially the same.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING INFORMATION
(Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over
time by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction
of the relevant performance obligation if one of the following
criteria is met:

o the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group's performance as the
Group performs;

o the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset
that the customer controls as the Group performs; or

° the Group's performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed
to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good.

A contract liability represents the Group's obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the Group has
received consideration (or an amount of consideration is due)
from the customer.

For contracts that contain more than one performance
obligation, the Group allocates the transaction price to each
performance obligation on a relative stand-alone selling price
basis.

The stand-alone selling price of the distinct good or service
underlying each performance obligation is determined at
contract inception. It represents the price at which the Group
would sell a promised good or service separately to a customer.
If a stand-alone selling price is not directly observable, the
Group estimates it using appropriate techniques such that
the transaction price ultimately allocated to any performance
obligation reflects the amount of consideration to which the
Group expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring the
promised goods or services to the customer.
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING INFORMATION
(Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)
Sale of goods

Manufacture and sale of nonwoven fabric related
products and supply and procurement operation

Revenue from manufacture and sale of nonwoven fabric
related products and supply and procurement operation are
recognised when control of the products has transferred, being
at the point the products are delivered to the customer and the
customer has accepted the products, and there is no unfulfilled
obligation that could affect the customer’s acceptance of
the products. Delivery occurs when the products have been
shipped to the specified location, the risks of obsolescence
and loss have been transferred to the customer, and either the
customer has accepted the products in accordance with the
sales contract, the acceptance provisions have lapsed, or the
Group has objective evidence that all criteria for acceptance
have been satisfied.

Revenue from these sales is recognised based on the price
specified in the contract, net of discounts, returns and value
added taxes.

A receivable is recognised when the products are delivered
and the customers accept the products, as this is the point in
time that the consideration is unconditional because only the
passage of time is required before the payment is due. The
normal credit term is 30 to 120 days upon delivery. Payment is
advance is required for some contracts.

Leases
The Group as a lessee
Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption
to leases of office premise that have a lease term of 12 months
or less from the commencement date and do not contain a
purchase option. Lease payments on short-term leases are
recognised as expense on a straight-line basis or another
systematic basis over the leases term.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING INFORMATION
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over
the shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as separate line item on
the consolidated statement of financial position.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises
and measures the lease liability at the present value of
lease payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating
the present value of lease payments, the Group uses the
incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement date if
the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by
interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on
the consolidated statement of financial position.

Property, plant and equipment

All property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated
impairment losses.

The cost of an asset comprises its purchase price and any
directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working
condition and location for its intended use.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of property, plant
and equipment, using the straight-line method, over their
estimated useful lives. The principal useful lives are as follows:

Building 30 years
Plant and machinery 12 years
Motor vehicles 8 years
Furniture and fixtures 6 years

Shorter of useful live and
lease term of 5 years

Leasehold improvements

The useful lives and depreciation method are reviewed and
adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period,
with the effect of any changes in estimate amounted for on a
prospective basis.
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING INFORMATION
(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Transfer from owner-occupied property to
investment property carried at fair value

If a property becomes an investment property because its use
has changed as evidenced by end of owner-occupation, any
difference between the carrying amount and the fair value
of that item (including the relevant leasehold land classified
as right-of-use assets) at the date of transfer is recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in revaluation
reserve. On the subsequent sale or retirement of the property,
the relevant revaluation reserve will be transferred directly to
retained profits.

Investment properties

Investment properties measured using the cost
model

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or
for capital appreciation.

Investment properties also include leased properties which are
being recognised as right-of-use assets and subleased by the
Group under operating leases.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including
any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are stated at cost less
subsequent accumulated depreciation and any accumulated
impairment losses. Depreciation is recognised so as to write off
the cost of investment properties over their estimated useful
lives and after taking into account of their estimated residual
value, using the straight-line method.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of investment
property, using the straight-line method, over its estimated
useful life. The principal useful life is as follows:

Building 30 years

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is calculated using the weighted average basis.
The cost of finished goods and work in progress comprises
raw materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of
all production overhead expenditure, and where appropriate,
subcontracting charges.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING INFORMATION
(Continued)

Impairment of property, plant and
equipment, investment property and right-
of-use assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment,
investment property and right-of-use assets to determine
whether there is any indication that those assets have
suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated in order
to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any).

When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount
of an individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating units (the “CGU") to which
the asset belongs. When a reasonable and consistent basis of
allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated
to individual CGU, or otherwise they are allocated to the
smallest group of CGUs for which a reasonable and consistent
allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have
not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a CGU) is estimated
to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of
the asset (or a CGU) is reduced to its recoverable amount.
In allocating the impairment loss, the impairment loss is
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill
(if applicable) and then to the other assets on a pro-rata
basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit.
The carrying amount of an asset is not reduced below the
highest of its fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable),
its value in use (if determinable) and zero. The amount of the
impairment loss that would otherwise have been allocated to
the asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of the unit.
An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or CGU) is increased to the revised
estimated of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset (or a CGU) in prior years. A reversal of
an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

o)

B RSARMEE (A7)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BE-_FE-pEfF - A=+—HIFF

4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING INFORMATION
(Continued)
Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable
or deductible in other years and it further excludes items that
are never taxable and deductible. The Group’s liability for
current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amount of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in
the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are
generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences,
and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
deductible temporary differences, and deferred tax assets are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits
will be available against which deductible temporary differences
can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised
if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the
initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of the
other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither
the tax profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, except where
the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred
tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences
associated with such investments and interests are only
recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will be
sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of
the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in
the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

REMBRRMEE (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE—F—Ef - A=+—HIFFZ

4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING INFORMATION
(Continued)
Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to
recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss.

Financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the

group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of
the instrument.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and
of allocating interest income and interest expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash payments (including all
fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of
the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums
or discounts) through the expected life of the financial asset or
financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the
net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

° the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash

flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal amount outstanding.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING INFORMATION
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets that meet the following conditions
are subsequently measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI"):

. the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by both selling and collecting
contractual cash flows; and

° the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at fair
value through profit or loss (“FVTPL"), except that at the
date of initial recognition of a financial asset the Group may
irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in fair value
of an equity investment in other comprehensive income if that
equity investment is neither held for trading nor contingent
consideration recognised by an acquirer in a business
combination to which HKFRS 3 “Business Combinations”
applies.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

. it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling
in the near term; or

° on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group manages
together and has a recent actual pattern of short-term
profit-taking; or

° it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a
hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial
asset that are required to be measured at the amortised cost
as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly
reduces an accounting mismatch.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING INFORMATION
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at amortised
cost. Interest income is calculated by applying the effective
interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial
asset, except for financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired (see below). For financial assets that
have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest income
is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the
amortised cost of the financial asset from the next reporting
period. If the credit risk on the credit-impaired financial
instrument improves so that the financial asset is no longer
credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of the
financial asset from the beginning of the reporting period
following the determination that the asset is no longer credit
impaired.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated as FVTOCI
are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end
of each reporting period, with any fair value gains or losses
recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in
profit or loss excludes any dividend or interest earned on the
financial asset and is included in the “other gains” line item.

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected
credit losses (“ECL") model on financial assets which are
subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (including
trade receivables, bill receivables, deposit and other receivables,
and cash and bank balances). The amount of ECL is updated at
each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial
recognition.

CHINA AUTOMOTIVE INTERIOR DECORATION HOLDINGS LIMITED

4.

BEESHER (&)

SRMIA(£&)
SHEE(F)
R AR F B A
FEBWATRERIZBHENATEZRHE
EFRERMNERZEZER - FBERANESHE
EARERERERNXFE HEEEHEE
%ﬁﬁZ%ﬁﬁE@%(ETYM%E&ﬁ
REEREZEMEEMS  FEKRABBE
ﬁ@T-ﬂﬁ%%tZ%ﬂﬁé%%ﬂ$%
AERANEXBER WEERESRTAZE
ERBRRE UWBeREETBLREER
B AFMBKABBERETEETHLE
EEREBREEREPHVEZCHREEAKRA
BERERAERFEER -

R FERBzZIRN 2 @ EE

TR ERBERAAERRATFEREME
U EIIRHIEERRAFEREME2E K
#HIENEREENRATFERERYIRT

=
E-°

BAFERBERIENEHEERE RS Y
XE’\J’/}THEEJr% EfR AT B SR EER
BahER - NERMRZ WaE s ERER
TEEEEREERR ZEMRERFAE
Wt A TEAYE ] HE R -

BIREE B & BRI F N 7T 1 7V
mZE@MEERE

AEBERBEBUBERE LR ESE B FE
TREFMGEZEREE (BREWE S A
BRER RehEMEEFRBEARRE K
RITER)RBHUEEBR([BUEES
BOEXETREF G -BREEBEZS
BERERERHENR URBREERRE V]
HHERIAR Z #{E -

ANNUAL REPORT 2024



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING INFORMATION
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of the relevant instrument.
In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL") represents the portion
of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events
that are possible within 12 months after the reporting period.
Assessment are done based on the Group's historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors,
general economic conditions and an assessment of both the
current conditions at the reporting date as well as the forecast
of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables
without significant financial component. The ECL on these
assets are assessed individually for debtors with significant
balances and collectively using a provision matrix with
appropriate groupings.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, in
which case the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment
of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on
significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default
occurring since initial recognition.

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of
a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
reporting period with the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In
making this assessment, the Group considers both quantitative
and qualitative information that is reasonable and supportable,
including historical experience and forward-looking information
that is available without undue cost or effort.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING INFORMATION
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

In particular, the following information is taken into account
when assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly:

an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal
credit rating;

significant deterioration in external market indicators of
credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit spread,
the credit default swap prices for the debtor;

existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial
or economic conditions that are expected to cause a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its
debt obligations;

an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of
the debtor that results in a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the
Group presumes that the credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition when contractual payments are more
than 30 days past due, unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information that demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria
used to identify whether there has been a significant increase
in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the
criteria are capable of identifying significant increase in credit
risk before the amount becomes past due.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING INFORMATION
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers an
event of default occurs when information developed internally
or obtained from external sources indicates that the debtor is
unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full.

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that default has
occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 days past due
unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information
to demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is more
appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events of
default that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future
cash flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that
a financial asset is credit-impaired includes observable data
about the following events:

(a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

(c)  the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual
reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty,
having granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the
lender(s) would not otherwise consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

(e)  the disappearance of an active market for that financial
asset because of financial difficulties.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING INFORMATION
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information
indicating that the counterparty is in severe financial difficulty
and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, for example,
when the counterparty has been placed under liquidation or
has entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or in the case of
trade receivables, when the amounts are over 180 days past
due, whichever occurs sooner. Financial assets written off may
still be subject to enforcement activities under the Group's
recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition event. Any
subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of
default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if
there is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment
of the probability of default and loss given default is based on
historical data and forward-looking information. Estimation of
ECL reflects an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that
is determined with the respective risks of default occurring as
the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual
cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance with the
contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive,
discounted at the effective interest rate determined at initial
recognition.

For collective assessment the Group takes into consideration
the following characteristics when formulating the grouping:

. Past-due status;
. Nature, size and industry of debtors; and
° External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure
the constituents of each group continue to share similar credit
risk characteristics.
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING INFORMATION
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset is credit
impaired, in which case interest income is calculated based on
amortised cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or
loss for all financial instruments by adjusting their carrying
amount, with the exception of trade and other receivables
where the corresponding adjustment is recognised through a
loss allowance account.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised
cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is
recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity
Classification as liabilities or equity

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by a group
entity are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in
accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangements
and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities (including bank borrowings, trade payables,
accruals and other payables) are subsequently measured at
amortised cost, using the effective interest method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
B BHKRME (&)

W

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE—F—Ef - A=+—HIFFZ

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING INFORMATION
(Continued)

Forelgn currencies

I

ii.

iil.

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of the
companies now comprising the Group are measured using
the currency of the primary economic environment in
which the company operates (the “functional currency”).
The consolidated financial statements are presented
in RMB, which is the Company’s presentation currency
and the functional currency of the principal operating
subsidiary of the Group. The functional currency of the
Company is HKD. The directors consider that choosing
Renminbi as the presentation currency best suits the
needs of the shareholders and investors.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at
the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and
losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions
and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are recognised in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

Translation differences on non-monetary financial assets
and liabilities are reported as part of their fair value gain
or loss.

Group companies

The results and financial positions of all the companies
now comprising the Group (none of which has the
currency of a hyperinflationary economy) that have
a functional currency different from the presentation
currency are translated into the presentation currency as
follows:

(@) Assets and liabilities are translated at the closing
rate;

(b) Income and expenses are translated at average
exchange rates; and

() All resulting exchange differences are recognised as
a separate component of equity.

CHINA AUTOMOTIVE INTERIOR DECORATION HOLDINGS LIMITED

SN

i.

ii.

iil.

4. EESHER (£)

DEREFEH

WEERAEBS AR ZTBEHREA
SHEHEBNDEARKE Z T B BERIE
WEE([NEEE T2 - RAUTK
WMEAARBZY BRRBIZE2NE
BURAEEBEZTELEAWBEBRARZY
BEEB - ARNAINNEERRBL &
ERB BEREAREIEAZINEE &
AERERREREEENT K-

XERER
IEZHURHRPRITEXBRER
DEEE -REENZERHRRFR
EXRBEUNEFEZEBEERE
BzEREREBRGEBERE
i 22 T W 28 3R R

#ﬁ%%ﬂé?&ﬁﬁZ@ﬁ%%ﬁ
o R FEREHFEALR-

EFRA

m%;%@ PR 2 IR 4R AR
EfAEAR (ERTEEEBIRL

m@Zf%ﬁZ%F&%%#EBE

Tﬂﬁi@ 1 A2Y e

,,%,r

() BERARBEMEX®RE:

(b)) WARRAXEFHEXRBGEE: &

(0) %ﬁl%ﬁ?iZﬁi%%ﬁ%
BB R

ANNUAL REPORT 2024



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

REMBRRMETE (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE—F—Ef - A=+—HIFFZ

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING INFORMATION

(Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

iii. Group companies (Continued)
On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the
translation of the net investment in foreign operations,
and of borrowings and other currency instruments
designated as hedges of such investments, are taken
to owners’ equity. When a foreign operation is sold,
exchange differences that were recorded in equity are
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income as part of the gain or
loss on sale.

Exchange differences relating to the retranslation of the
Group's net assets in HKD to the Group's presentation
currency (i.e. RMB) are recognised directly in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in foreign
currency translation reserve. Such exchange differences
accumulated in the foreign currency translation reserve
are not reclassified to profit or loss subsequently.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents presented on the consolidated
statement of financial position include:

(@) cash, which comprises of cash on hand demand deposits,
excluding bank balances that are subject to regulatory
restrictions that result in such balances no longer meeting
the definition of cash; and

(b) cash equivalents, which comprises of short-term
(generally with original maturity of three months or less),
highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to
a known amount of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value. Cash equivalents
are held for the purpose of meeting short-term cash
commitments rather than for investment or other
purposes.

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents
as defined above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts which are
repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group's
cash management. Such overdrafts are presented as short-term
borrowings in the consolidated statement of financial position.

RESEAHEESE A

4. EESHER(£)

ShuE (4Z)
iii. FEEAF(E)

REERRBE REBINEBEREFE
NEERREERSETZEREZE
{m“ﬁ%IﬁEEZﬁiﬁgﬁﬁmk?ﬁﬁ
Atgs - B EBINEBE NS
MEXZBERGABEERAEME2ERK
BRERREEZ A WEHERE -

BERAEBENETHENEEFEE
MBRESAREEHZIER (ARYE)
WEN ZEN A2 RaE&kER
WRIMNE R B RET - R F RN KR
HREmERAFWELZHEBER IS ER

pasy = ¢
DEEEB-

ReRkBEEEY

HEAVBHARBRE2INNRE LB EEY
B

() BRE HERFAERSREHREFH T
’T%ﬁ *”WE%'JW%%ZEE@Z*%TE
NERTTERMRITHER R

by REeFEY EEREHCRERIH
BR=EAxRER) TEEERRE
%D%ﬁ(%ﬁfﬁiﬂ{“ﬁ"“%ﬂﬂ 2N K=
MEBUERE -RESEMRIEmEEH
ResdfE MEARKREXHEMBN-

MireBHenErms RehkBEEEY
BREEXMATZHERREEEY MK
/,\Bzxia%ﬁ&%ﬁﬁ%lfﬁ%%ﬁﬁﬁ—ﬁﬂ

DRZAERBRITEX -FHEEXNEANB
RS ZR N 25 758 B fE R o

A
Il
=
7
#

79



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M BRI (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE—F—Ef - A=+—HIFFZ

4.

80

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING INFORMATION
(Continued)
Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event,
it is probable that the Group will be required to settle the
obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount
of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of
the consideration required to settle the present obligation at
the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks
and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When a provision
is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the
present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of
those cash flows (where the effect of the time value of money
is material).

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle
a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party,
a receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain
that reimbursement will be received and the amount of the
receivable can be measured reliably.

Employee benefits
(i) Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long service
leave are recognised when they accrue to employees. A
provision is made for the estimated liability for annual
leave and long service leave as a result of services
rendered by employees up to the end of the reporting
period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave
are not recognised until the time of leave.

(ii) Pension obligations

The Group contributes to defined contribution
retirement schemes which are available to all employees.
Contributions to the schemes by the Group and
employees are calculated as a percentage of employees’
basic salaries. The retirement benefit scheme cost charged
to profit or loss represents contributions payable by the
Group to the funds.

(iii) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised when, and only
when, the Group demonstrably commits itself to
terminate employment or to provide benefits as a result
of voluntary redundancy by having a detailed formal plan

which is without realistic possibility of withdrawal.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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B RSARMEE (A7)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BE-_FE-pEfF - A=+—HIFF

4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING INFORMATION
(Continued)

Share-based payment arrangements
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions
Share options granted to employees and others

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and others
providing similar services are measured at the fair value of the
equity instruments at the grant date. Details regarding the
determination of the fair value of equity-settled share-based
transactions are set out in note 41 to the consolidated financial
statements.

The fair value determined at the grant date of the equity-
settled share-based payments is expensed on a straight-
line basis over the vesting period, based on the Group’s
estimate of equity instruments that will eventually vest, with a
corresponding increase in equity. At the end of each reporting
period, the Group revises its estimate of the number of equity
instruments expected to vest. The impact of the revision of the
original estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such
that the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, with
a corresponding adjustment to the share option reserve.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share option reserve will be transferred to share
premium. When the share options are forfeited after the
vesting date or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the
amount previously recognised in share option reserve will be
transferred to retained profits/accumulated losses. For share
options that vest immediately at the date of grant, the fair
value of the share options granted is recognised immediately to
profit or loss.

Borrowing costs

All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which they are incurred.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the consolidated financial statements, are identified
from the financial information provided regularly to the
Group's most senior executive management for the purposes of
allocating resources to, and assessing the performance of, the
Group's various lines of business and geographical locations.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

REMBRRMEE (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE—F—Ef - A=+—HIFFZ

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING INFORMATION
(Continued)

Segment reporting (Continued)

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated
for financial reporting purposes unless the segments have
similar economic characteristics and are similar economic
characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature of
products and services, the nature of production processes,
the type of class of customers, the methods used to distribute
the products or provide the services, and the nature of the
regulatory environment. Operating segments which are not
individually material may be aggregated if they share a majority
of these criteria.

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(1) A person or entity is preparing the financial statements of
the Group;

(2) A person or a close member of that person’s family is
related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of
the Group or of a parent of the Group.

(3)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

(i) The entity and the Group are members of the same
group (which means that each parent, subsidiary
and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

(i) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

(iii)  Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

(iv)  One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third entity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_FE_pFEf+ —H=+—HIFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING INFORMATION 4. EEESHER (&)

(Continued)
Related parties (Continued)

(3)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies: (Continued)

(v)  The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or an
entity related to the Group. If the Group is itself
such a plan, the sponsoring employers are also
related to the Group.

BRERS (&)
(3) ETIEABERT —HEEBRERE
AEBARE: (&)

(v ERBDVAAEEFELREEEFRH
LEENEBBMAKBERRE
et sl - HAREASRBE
AlEEREAEEE RE

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a (vi) EEXQAMAEATIEDLER
person identified in (2). Pl o

(vii) A person identified in (2)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which is a
part, provides key management personnel services
to the Group or the Group's parent.

A transaction is considered to be a related party transaction
when there is a transfer of resources or obligations between
related parties.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGMENTS

In the application of the Group’s material accounting
information which are described in note 4, the directors of
the Company are required to make judgments, estimates and
assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates
and associated assumptions are based on historical experience
and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision
affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and
future periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M BRI (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BEr—
5.

E_mFEF A=+ —HIFFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGMENTS (Continued)

Allowance for expect credit losses of trade
and other receivables

The loss allowances for financial assets are based on
assumptions about risk of default and expected loss rates.
The Group uses judgement at amortised cost in making these
assumptions and selecting the inputs to the impairment
calculation, based on the Group’s past history, existing market
conditions as well as forward-looking estimates at the end
of each reporting period. Details of the key assumptions and
inputs used together with the carrying amount of expected
credit loss as at 31 December 2024 are disclosed in note 6.

Impairment of property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets

Property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets are
stated at costs less accumulated depreciation and impairment,
if any. In determining whether an asset is impaired, the Group
has to exercise judgment and make estimation, particularly in
assessing: (1) whether an event has occurred or any indicators
that may affect the asset value; (2) whether the carrying value
of an asset can be supported by the recoverable amount, in the
case of value in use, the net present value of future cash flows
which are estimated based upon the continued use of the
asset; and (3) the appropriate key assumptions to be applied
in estimating the recoverable amounts including cash flow
projections and an appropriate discount rate, changing the
assumptions and estimates, including the discount rates or the
growth rate in the cash flow projections, could materially affect
the net present value used in the impairment test.

As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amounts of property,
plant and equipment and right-of-use assets are approximately
RMB67,844,000 and approximately RMB6,785,000 respectively,
no impairment losses were recognised during the year
ended 31 December 2024. Details of the property, plant and
equipment, investment property and right-of-use assets are
disclosed in notes 18, 19 and 20 respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
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5.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGMENTS (Continued)

Write down of inventories

The Group write down the inventories based on an assessment
of the net realisable value of inventories. Write down are
applied to inventories where events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the net realisable value is lower than the cost
of inventories. The identification of slow-moving stock and
obsolete inventories requires the use of judgement and
estimates on the conditions and usefulness of the inventories.

Impairment of interests in associates

The management of the Group carries out review on
impairment on the interests in associates whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that its carrying amount may
not be recoverable by comparing its recoverable amount (higher
of the value in use and fair value less cost of disposal) with its
carrying amount.

In determining whether the interests in associates is impaired,
it requires an estimation of its recoverable amount, which
represents higher of the value in use and fair value less cost
of disposal (market value). For the value in use, it requires
the Group to estimate the future cash flows expected to arise
from the operations of the investment and from the ultimate
disposal, and a discount rate in order to calculate the present
value. Where the recoverable amount of the Group’s interest in
an associate is less than the carrying amount, an impairment
loss may arise.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the management
concluded that there was no impairment loss on interests in an
associates (2023: RMB2,358,000) as the recoverable amount
of the interest in associates was higher (2023: lower) than the
carrying amount.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M BRI (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
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6.

86

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(a)

(b)

Categories of financial instruments

Financial assets: cREE:
Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss

Financial assets at amortised cost

TREE

TERAME:
BN

Financial liabilities:
Amortised cost

Financial risk management objectives
and policies

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial
risks: market risk (including foreign currency risk and
fair value interest rate risks and price risk), credit risk
and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk management
programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial
markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects
on the Group’s financial performance.

Management regularly manages the financial risks of the
Group. Because of the simplicity of the financial structure
and the current operations of the Group, no major
hedging activities are undertaken by management.

There has been no change to the types of the Group’s
exposure in respect of financial instruments or the
manner in which it manages and measures the risks.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 6.

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Market risk
Foreign currency risk

(i)  Exposure to foreign currency risk

The Group mainly operates in the People’s Republic
of China (the "PRC”) and Hong Kong and is
exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from
various currency exposures, primarily with respect to
Renminbi (“RMB"), Hong Kong dollars (“"HKD") and
United States dollars (“USD"). Foreign exchange
risk arises from future commercial transactions,
recognised assets and liabilities and net investments
in foreign operations. The management do not
expect the net foreign currency risk from these
activities to be significant and hence, the Group and
the Company do not presently hedge the foreign
exchange risks. The Group and the Company
periodically review liquid assets and liabilities held
in currencies other than the functional currencies
of the respective subsidiaries to evaluate its foreign
exchange risk exposure and will consider hedging
significant foreign currency exposure should the
need arise.
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Carrying amounts of financial assets and financial S @i&_$:—¢+:
liabilities of the Group at 31 December 2024 and A=+—8 XEEBEERZINER
2023 exposed to currency risk were as follows: ﬁAﬁ’JﬁrgﬁéF&@ BEBEMNERE
(ERCENE
2024 2023
—E-NEF —EC=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥TR ARBTTT
Financial assets denominated in  LASMNEETEN S RLE & -
foreign currencies:
Deposits and other receivables &% K H b & U 5118 1,180 213
Financial assets at fair value BERAFEREBRYEN
through profit or loss THMEE 26,587 26,803
Cash and bank balances e MIRITHE 11,463 10,281
Financial liabilities denominated LASMNEETENSEBEE
in foreign currencies:
Bond payable ERES 2,855 =
Trade and bills payables ERNESRBEREE 474 465
Accruals and other payables FEET B R K H fh FE A~ 5RIR 2,788 163,345
FESERNGREERAQA —Z_NER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
B BHKRME (&)

W

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BE-_FE-pEfF - A=+—HIFF

6.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)
Foreign currency risk (Continued)

(ii)

Sensitivity analysis

At 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group had
minimal exposure to foreign currency risk with
respect to HKD as it is the functional currencies of
the respective subsidiaries in which their business
transactions, assets and liabilities are denominated.
Thus, no sensitivity analysis of HKD is presented.

At 31 December 2024, if USD had strengthened/
weakened by 5% (2023: 5%) against RMB with
all other variables held constant, the Group’s
profit for the year and total equity would have
been approximately RMB464,000 (2023: Profit of
RMB455,000) higher/lower, mainly as a result of
foreign exchange gains/losses on USD-denominated
monetary assets and monetary liabilities.

Interest rate risk

(i)

(ii)

Exposure to interest rate risk

The Group's exposure to the risk of changes
in market interest rate relates primarily to its
interest-bearing bank borrowings. Interest-bearing
bank borrowings of RMB25,000,000 (2023:
RMB25,000,000) at floating rates expose the Group
to interest rate risk.

The Group has not used any interest rate swaps to
hedge its exposure to interest rate risk. However,
the management monitors interest rate exposure
and will consider hedging significant interest rate
exposure should the need arise.

Sensitivity analysis

At 31 December 2024, if interest rates at the date
had been 100 basis points higher/lower with all
other variables held constant, the Group’s profit for
the year would increase/decrease by RMB250,000
(2023: profit of RMB250,000). This is mainly
attributable to the Group's exposure as result of
increase/decrease in interest expense on bank
borrowings net off with interest income from bank
deposits.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e MBRRME (&

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE—F—Ef - A=+—HIFFZ

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 6. ERITA (&)
(b) Financial risk management objectives (b) BIKEREEEEREX (£Z)

and policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued) mEEE (E)

Other price risk (B 15 /7 bz

() Exposure to other price risk ()  FAZHMERRR
The Group is exposed to equity price risk mainly KEBXZFEBENEARIEQT
through its investment classified as FVTPL. The BERE YR 218 & M ¥ AR
Group currently does not have a hedging policy EBRRER AEERKEYEEH
in respect of the risk exposure. In addition, the BB 2 ¥R o B A - REEE
management of the Group would monitor the price BESERERRRERETE
risk and will consider hedging the risk exposure BZERE T EBRER-

should the need arise.

(i) Sensitivity analysis (i) SWREREDT
The sensitivity analysis has been determined BRRE o i ThiR & R A E
based on the exposure to price risk of financial ZERATFERERIIENESRE
assets at fair value through profit or loss at the EsERRAREBETE -WMEZEATE
end of the reporting period. If the prices of the RERIENEMEE(LTH
financial assets at FVTPL (listed securities) had F)Z B LA TE10% Bl
been 10% higher/lower, profit/loss would increase/ M EBGEMN R HARE
decrease by approximately RMB2,659,000 (2023: 2,659,000t (ZZE - =F: AR
RMB2,737,000). #£2,737,0007T) °

Credit risk and impairment assessment EE R R B

The carrying amount of the bank balances, trade, bills STABAE M BARRKRORITHER B

and other receivables included in the consolidated 5 ZREAMFIENREEEER

statement of financial position represents the Group's SENERMEEEBNSaEERRE-

maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to the
Group's financial assets.

The Group applies the simplified approach to provide REBEREICAERBEERBRE
for ECL prescribed by HKFRS 9, which permits the use A FIRFTAZTEREEEEFIRE
of lifetime ECL provision for all trade receivables. To #H ZEAARTHAERKE 5B
measure the ECL, trade receivables have been grouped REEREERERE - BEtEEH
based on shared credit risk characteristics. The Group FEEBE BRESZRECERERE
has performed historical analysis and identified the key ERBEHETOE NEBEWTE
economic variables impacting credit risk and ECL. It also EOMAHFNETEZBEESCHNEE
considers available reasonable and supportive forward- EREREESENETELEE S
looking information. REBRRZERAANEGEBIEE ZA
fElEE o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M BRI (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE—F—Ef - A=+—HIFFZ

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 6. TRMIA (&
(b) Financial risk management objectives (b) B¥EREEEEREE(£)

and policies (Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment EEmBER B ETE (E)
(Continued)
In order to minimise the credit risk, the management AREREEERR FEEEEED
of the Group has delegated a team responsible for ErTEFABERACEEEE FE#EZ
determination of credit limits, credit approvals and other B oAt BE SR AZ - B R BR BN BR A 1 B LA
monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action is e B EE I AEBER SRS
taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group HAREHNSENEZEENITKE S
reviews the recoverable amount of each individual debt at BBRATAIWESEEL MR
the end of the reporting period to ensure that adequate BEEE-REME ARFAEEZRRAR
impairment losses are made for irrecoverable amounts. In FENEERBRD KEEE-

this regard, the directors of the Company consider that
the Group's credit risk is significantly reduced.

The Group has certain exposure to credit risk as the rEBEEGRESETEERR ARZ2F
trade receivables from the five largest customers as at —HE+ZA=T-—BEKREREFR
31 December 2024 represented 81% (2023: 66%) of WESREBELEREKE S RIBELFED
total trade receivables, while 31% (2023: 36%) of the 81% (ZE-_=F:66%) mEWKE
total trade receivables were due from the largest single ARE-—RPHWESREBEBLHERE FHK
customer. It has policies in place to ensure that sales are THEEN31% (T - =F:36%) °
made to customers with an appropriate credit history. HEe BB EUABRIEESRAAE
EEEECSBNER -
0to 91 to 181 days Over
At 31 December 2024 90 days 180 days  to 365 days 365 days Total
R-E-_ME+=-A=1+-H 0£90HA 91Z180H 181HZ365H 365A M £ @t
ECL rate EYEEREER 1.6% 13.8% 31.5% 100% 21.8%
Gross carrying amount (RMB'000) REEE(ARETL) 52,666 3,261 1,467 13,811 71,205
Lifetime ECL (RMB'000) FHEREEFE
(AR®TTT) (821) (449) (462) (13,811) (15,543)
51,845 2,812 1,005 - 55,662
0to 91 to 181 days Over
At 31 December 2023 90 days 180 days to 365 days 365 days Total
RZZZ=%+-R=+—-H 0Z90HMA 91£180H 181HZ365H 365A 1 £ @t
ECL rate EHEEREX 0.2% 0.02% 34.7% 100% 15.8%
Gross carrying amount (RMB'000) EEAE(ARETT) 55,727 5,230 14,234 8,079 83,270
Lifetime ECL (RMB'000) 2HEHEEER
(AE¥TT) (93) (1) (4,943) (8,079) (13,116)
55,634 5,229 9,291 - 70,154
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M B RRME (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_FE_pFEf+ —H=+—HIFE

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 6. ®WMITH(#Z)
(b) Financial risk management objectives (b) B¥EREEEEREE(£)

and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, trade receivables that
are individually significant have been separately assessed
for impairment. The Group makes periodic assessments
on the recoverability of the receivables based on the
background and reputation of the customers, historical
settlement records and past experience, and also
quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable
and supportive forward-looking information.

Other receivables

For other receivables, the directors of the Company make
periodic individual assessment on the recoverability of
other receivables based on historical settlement records,

=B /m B R el B PG (4

| %

TE_NMERZE-_=F+=A
=+—H8 2BEENEANERE SR
BEEBETREN G AEERER
FESREBE BALKELERBAKL
BOUARTERTHEER (ABEEE
Z BTBE B RL) 4 B UK IE /Y AT Uk (B 1
Y E BART A -

H b WA

HEMERZENS  ARAREFER
BEAERS BAKRULRBRAGE
EEMNAEEERNEEREEER

past experience, and also quantitative and qualitative $J H ) F& Y 51 I8 &9 AT Uy O] 14 #E 1T 5E AR
information that is reasonable and supportive forward- 18 B AT 4k o

looking information.

The movement of loss allowances for other receivables FREMEWRIBERNEEREZS N
during the year are as follows: i

Other receivables

H {th FE W TR I8

RMB'000

ARBETF T

At 1 January 2023 W-E-_=#F—H—H 1,364

Reversal of allowance for ECL TR EEEERERD (1,094)

At 31 December 2023 and RZEZ=F+ZA=+—HEK

1 January 2024 —E-MNE—-—A—H 270

Allowance for ECL TEEEEEEER 6,895

Exchange realignment I W G B 17)

At 31 December 2024 R-ZB-NFE+=RF=+—H 7,148
Besides, the management is of opinion that there is o BRERAE  AREHNRBEIK -

BV ERNREMERZEBENEE
BRI EBEEN A FEHEEE
BHEREREERETUER #HE
—E-WMFE+_A=+— ElthFV
T EEEERNEAEREEER
EAHBEERE ZSEMEKRFIE
B%E A AR #28,886,000T (ZE - =
F£: AR¥20,802,0007T) °

no significant increase in credit risk on these other
receivables since initial recognition as the risk of default
is low and, thus, ECL recognised is based on credit-
impaired. During the year ended 31 December 2024, the
ECL were transfer from 12 month ECL to credit-impaired.
There gross amounts of these other receivables were
RMB28,886,000 (2023: RMB20,802,000).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M BRI (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE—F—Ef - A=+—HIFFZ

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 6. €WMITA (&)

(b) Financial risk management objectives

and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

Bank balances

The credit risk on bank balances is limited because the
counterparties are international and state-owned banks
with good reputation. Based on the loss rates, the ECL
is considered to be insignificant and therefore no loss
allowance was recognised.

The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancements to cover its credit risk associated with its
financial assets.

Liquidity risk

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current
and expected liquidity requirements to ensure that it
maintains sufficient reserves of cash to meet its liquidity
requirements in the short and longer term. The Group
manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate reserves,
by continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash flows
and matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and
liabilities.

The following table details the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial
liabilities. The tables below have been drawn up based on
the contractual maturities of the undiscounted financial
liabilities including interest that will accrue to those
liabilities except where the Group are entitled and intends
to repay the liability before its maturity.

The maturity analysis for other non-derivative financial
liabilities is prepared based on the scheduled repayment
dates.

CHINA AUTOMOTIVE INTERIOR DECORATION HOLDINGS LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M B RRME (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_FE_pFEf+ —H=+—HIFE
6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 6.

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)
At 31 December 2024

SRTAR (&
(b) BXEREEEERKE (&)

HEBELREE ()
R-ZE-_NEF+=-A=+—H

Weighted Over
average On demand 1year but Over 2 years Total Total
effective or within less than  but less than  undiscounted carrying
interest rate 1 year 2 years 5 years cash flow amount
TS EERS —FH0E MENL AERRS
ERA= PR-F BIRWE BIREF RERE REEE
% RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR
Non-derivative financial liabilities {14 ¢HEAE
Trade payables BB SHE N/AREH 39,812 - - 39,812 39,812
Accruals and other payables FREGIEY d Fe N/ATREH 7,521 - - 7,521 7,521
Bank borrowings BITIER 3.88% 25,482 - - 25,482 25,000
Bond payable R ES 7.43% - - 3,445 3,445 2,855
Lease liabilities HEAE 3.26% 2,211 2,001 469 4,681 4,142
75,026 2,001 3,914 80,941 79,330
At 31 December 2023 RZEZ=F+=HA=+—H
Weighted Over
average On demand 1 year but Over 2 years Total Total
effective or within less than but less than  undiscounted carrying
interest rate 1 year 2 years 5 years cash flow amount
InEF EEXR —FUE MEMNE AEBRRE
ERA % DR—F BIRBE BIREF nERRE FHEE
% RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBTT ARBETT ARBETT ARBETT
Non-derivative financial liabilities Jf74 ¢ mAE
Trade payables ERNES3E NATER 30,447 - - 30,447 30,447
Accruals and other payables BB A RE MR HE N/AT & B 12,580 - - 12,580 12,580
Bank borrowings RITHER 4.35% 25,517 - - 25,517 25,000
Lease liabilities HEAR 5.09% 2,075 1,384 1,458 4,917 4,572
70,619 1,384 1,458 73,461 72,599
FESEAHEEER AR “E_MNFER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M BRI (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE—F—Ef - A=+—HIFFZ

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 6. £RITH (&)
(c) Fair value of financial instruments (c) ERMIBEZAFE

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities cREERERABBEZAFETIZNU

are determined as follows: TEE:

(i)  the fair value of financial assets and financial () EABEEEERIREERNERR
liabilities (including financial assets at fair value FMSEEENSREERSHME
through profit or loss) with standard terms and B(BERAFERERIESN
conditions and traded on active liquid markets are SREE)  DORZEMRTS
determined with reference to quoted market bid BEABREHEEEATFE:

prices and ask prices respectively;

(i) the fair value of financial assets at fair value iy HAFERERVENSREE
through profit or loss are calculated using quoted AT ERABERTHE WA
prices. Where such prices are not available, a BRESEMERS  RIRIEHED
discounted cash flow analysis is performed using ATAZEHFERBERESHE
the applicable yield curve for the duration of the EEARBRS RN

instrument for non-optional derivatives;

(i) the fair value of other financial assets and financial iy EtemEErREMEBENQATFE
liabilities (excluding those described above) are B (LA ATt & BRON) T E R BLER
determined in accordance with generally pricing BeRnsMBE-—MEEEXE
models based on discounted cash flow analysis. 7E ©

At 31 December 2024 R-ZZB-WNE+=ZA=+—H

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
& Bl — &EI= F/H= &5t

RMB’000  RMB000  RMB'000  RMB’000
ARBTRT ARBTR AR®TR AR®TR

Financial assets SREE
Financial assets at FVTPL EAFERERIRD
TEEE 26,587 - - 26,587
At 31 December 2023 RZZEZ=F+=-HA=+—H
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
FAl— FAl= HA= BF
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’'000
AREFT AREBFTIT ARETRT ARETT
Financial assets EWMEE
Financial assets at FVTPL EAFEREBEZIRD
THEE 27,368 - - 27,368
The directors of the Company consider that the carrying RRABEERA REMBMENIRE
amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities carried HRAENEREELRSREEN
at amortised cost in the consolidated financial statements BREESEEAFERS-

approximate to their fair values.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

W

BRI (A

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BEr—
7.

EomEt - A=t —HIEE
CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the
Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to shareholders through the optimisation
of the debt and equity balance. The Group's overall strategy
remains unchanged for the years ended 31 December 2024
and 2023.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debt (which
includes bank borrowings and lease liabilities) and equity
attributable to owners of the Company, comprising issued
capital and reserves. The directors of the Company review
the capital structure on a continuous basis. As part of this
review, the directors consider the cost of capital and the risks
associated with capital. Based on recommendations of the
directors, the Group will balance its overall capital structure
through the issuance of new shares as well as the addition of
new borrowings.

Gearing ratio

The gearing ratio at 31 December 2024 and 2023 were as
follows:

Debt B
Total equity ey R
Gearing ratio EARBELE

RESEAHEESE A

EREBEE
AEEERAER URRAEERNSES
f 30 ¥ 0408 B % 3B 48 {8 S
BT AREFREEOR -BRE_F
—MER-F-=F+-A=+—HILEFE-
AEEEEERERETE.

AEBZEARBRFER (BRRITER
EREERE)ARARA T%E)\Eﬁﬁém(

%E%ﬁ?ﬁﬂﬁ&ﬁ%ﬁ) ARABEETH®
MEARB RN MO EFERE
$ﬁk$&§$$ﬁ%ﬁﬂM°$‘$IH1¢EH€%$
ZERBBETHRINEET FTHEE
BERER-

EXAEF/ELER

R-ZE-_NFEN T -_=F+_-/F=+—H
MERBELERNT

2024 2023
— ik —F_=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T R ARBTT
31,977 29,572
179,091 152,192
17.87% 19.4%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

REMBRRMEE (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE—F—Ef - A=+—HIFFZ

8.

96

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the Directors being the chief
operating decision maker (“CODM"), for the purposes of
resource allocation and assessment of segment performance
focuses on the types of goods delivered. Subsequent to the
deconsolidation of Loyal Brands International Limited and its
subsidiaries with effect from 1 January 2023, the Group has
only one operating segment, which is the manufacture and
sale of nonwoven fabric related products used in automotive
interior decoration parts and other parts.

The Group's operations have focused solely on a single
reportable and operating segment dedicated to the
manufacture and sale of nonwoven fabric-related products
used in automotive interior decoration and other parts. Apart
from the entity-wide disclosures, geographical information,
and major customer data, no additional segment analysis is
provided.

Revenue from major products and services

Information about the Group’s major products is set out in note
9.

Geographical information

The Group's operations, and its non-current assets, are mainly
located in the PRC.

Information about major customers

Details of the customers individually representing 10% or more
of the Group's revenue are as follows:

Customer A BFEA
Customer B ZFB
Customer C EPEC

* The corresponding revenue did not contribute over 10%
of the total revenue of the Group.

Except disclosed above, no other customers contributed 10%
or more to the Group’s revenue for both years.

CHINA AUTOMOTIVE INTERIOR DECORATION HOLDINGS LIMITED

2 EEH

MEZS (MFELEREE ([FBLERK
ED)EBUPRERETESBRENE
o EERNEEMNEN BT _=F—
H— H#ELoyal Brands International Limited
REMBRARKILGEE ARE KNEEES
— A D& BIEE NEHE AR ITENH
B REAMER D H B MR ER -

AEEZEERTINREMBEERARTER
#fr R AR W ESREEMNE 7
BERKEN B REBLRENRE HE
ERRIERERPEEIN LEEHE D
DT e

REFEEMRRBHELHBA
BRAEETEEMNERENHEI -

i & & F
AEBNEBRAERDEETEMNTE -

FBXEEFHNER
ERME RN EBEUAT0% A EH R FIB W
T

2024 2023
—E-MF —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR® TR ARBTT
14,756 11,929
20,128 18,436

* 11,707

* o MR AL BN B Y A WA BB
10% A Fo

B £ XA ER S BB B AL R P O M
EHAREENKATER10% A L
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e MBRRME (&

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE—F—Ef - A=+—HIFFZ

9. REVENUE 9. WA
The Group's revenue represents sales of nonwoven fabric REEWAERRAE AT REME D/
related products used in automotive interior decoration parts mAMAEEERNEERE-

and other parts.

An analysis of revenue by types of goods as follows: RERBAESTHRALDT
2024 2023
—E-MEF —T-=%F
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR®T ARBTTT
Nonwoven fabric related products for ARARERMGNES R
use in automotive interior decoration HEER
- Sales of automotive floor carpets —REM A EERE 86,262 88,766
— Sales of other automotive parts —HEMRERGNIEERE 42,290 24,907
Total revenue recognised on a point R — 2R
in time basis WA 4858 128,552 113,673
Other automotive parts refers to nonwoven fabric related H R E R RR B LA SN R4 M AR B
products except for floor carpets. mh©
All revenue contracts are for period of one year or less, FRERAEHH R —FR AT REEY
as permitted by practical expedient under HKFRS 15, the BHMEENE SR EREEEMAT D
transaction price allocated to these unsatisfied contracts is not BLEREKRENHIRZZEWREE-
disclosed.
10. OTHER INCOME, GAINS AND LOSSES, 10. Ht A - WEZEREBEEFH
NET
2024 2023
—E-NE —E-=4F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T AR T T
Interest income FLB U A 84 67
Fair value (loss)/gain on financial assets BEATERERINENS R
at FVTPL BENRATE(BE) ks (1,275) 6,917
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries HENBRARMNEIE (306) -
Loss on disposal of property, plant and LEWE WERXENERE
equipment (1,398) (4,697)
Rental income HERA 3,552 4,444
Loss on deconsolidation of subsidiaries IR A ARKTB R RIRE B - (6,470)
Others Hh 165 4,750
822 5,011
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE—F—Ef - A=+—HIFFZ

11. (LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX
The Group's (loss)/profit before tax is stated after charging/

(crediting) the following:

Auditors’ remuneration

Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment

Depreciation of right-of-use assets

Depreciation of investment property

Expenses relating to short-term leases

Staff costs including directors’
remuneration:
— Salaries and allowances
— Retirement benefits scheme

contributions

Cost of inventories recognised as cost of
sales

Loss on disposal of property, plant and
equipment

Loss on disposal of subsidiaries

Allowance/(reversal of allowance) for ECL
on trade receivables

Allowance/(reversal of allowance) for ECL
on other receivables

Provision for impairment on interests in
associates

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e MBRERME (&

1. BRBAT(BE) H5H

A) T FHFE:
2024
—EC-OF
RMB’000
AR®T T
i3 Gilika 385
ME BERERENE
3,426
FREEERE 2,294
WEMENE 356
MEHERX 820
BIRA (BREZEZHH)
—H e RER 8,601
—IRRAEFF B3R
1,107
BRAHERATHTFERSE
107,511
LEYE  BEREENER
1,398
HEMBAFAERE 306
FEWE SRENTEREEEIE
B (REEE) 2,427
Hip el EEREEER
B (REEE) 6,895

A2 R B R R E B R

AEBOBRBA (BR) Jafe Mk, (G

2023
T =F
RMB’000
ARETT
452

1,469
2,418
356

137
11,355
1,742

82,878

4,697

(26,446)

(1,094)

2,358
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

o)

PR R AL (AR

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE—F—Ef - A=+—HIFFZ

12.

13.

FINANCE COSTS

RITEROFEEM
BHENFERER
HEABENMEER

Interest expenses on bank borrowings
Interest expenses on bond
Interest expenses on lease liabilities

INCOME TAX CREDIT/(EXPENSE)

Current tax Bl A % 18

Hong Kong N

PRC enterprise income tax (“EIT") PRI EREN
([TEEMER])

Over-provision in prior years BEFEBEEEE

Deferred tax E LB IR

Charged to profit or loss B2 Bk

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands
and British Virgin Islands (“BVI"), the Group is not subject to
any income tax in the Cayman Islands and BVI.

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime of Hong Kong
Profit tax, the first HK$2 million of assessable profits of
qualifying group entities will be taxed at 8.25%), and assessable
profits above HK$2,000,000 will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits
of group entities not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax
rates regime will continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%
(2023: 16.5%). Accordingly, the Hong Kong profits tax of the
qualifying group entity is calculated at 8.25% on the first HK$2
million of the estimated assessable profit and at 16.5% on the
estimated assessable profit above HK$2 million.

RESEAHEESE A

12.

13.

& KA
2024 2023
—E-_NE —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T ARETF T
1,247 1,293
77 -
142 287
1,466 1,580
FrERER (FX)
2024 2023
—EC-NE —EC=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT R ARBET T
(1,398) (490)
38,153 -
36,755 (490)
= (3,826)
36,755 (4,316)

RERSHEREBEBRES ([RELA
RESDRIINER AEERRASEHE R
REGBAREEBABMEAMEN -

REBEEEMNESHOMAMNESHRESE &
EREEERBZE2AEB T ZERYEF
K 128.25% 2 M EHMH A MBB2HE
PBTL 2 FERR B M $216.5% 2 Tt R g i ¢
H-ANEMEMNERBREHEER 2EE
BRI BN BEEIRI6S% (ZT =4
16.5% ) 2B — R EHMH IR H it - BB
SEERE2AS BTG ERENIZ
8.25% s EFEAMNEGH HBE2AEB BTG
SHERTURNIR165% T EBEFISH

I
4
I
[=
H
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

W

BRI (A

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BE—
13.

E_mFEF A=+ —HIFFE

INCOME TAX CREDIT/(EXPENSE)
(Continued)

No provision for taxation in Hong Kong is recognised as there
is no assessable profit for the year ended 31 December 2024
(2023: Nil).

PRC EIT is calculated at the applicable rates based on estimated
taxable income earned by the PRC subsidiary of the Group
with certain tax preference, based on existing legislation,
interpretation and practice in respect thereof.

Pursuant to EIT rules and regulations of the PRC, the applicable
PRC EIT rate of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries for the years
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 is 25%.

According to the relevant announcements of income tax relief
policy for small low-profit enterprises issued by the State
Administration of Taxation, a lower EIT rate is applicable to
small-scale enterprises with low profitability that meet certain
conditions, pursuant to which, the subsidiaries qualified
as small scale enterprises with assessable profits not over
RMB3,000,000 are effectively taxable at 5% (i.e. 20% EIT rate
on the 25% of the assessable profits) for the year ended 31
December 2024. For the year ended 31 December 2024, (i) the
first RMB1,000,000 of assessable profits (the “1st Assessable
Profits”) of these subsidiaries were effectively taxable at 2.5%
(i.e. 20% EIT rate on 12.5% of the 1st Assessable Profits; and
(i) the remaining assessable profits not over RMB3,000,000
(the “Remaining Assessable Profits”) were taxable at 5% (i.e.
20% EIT rate on the 25% of the Remaining Assessable Profits).
Certain of the Company's subsidiaries have been designated as
a small-scale enterprise.

100 CHINA AUTOMOTIVE INTERIOR DECORATION HOLDINGS LIMITED

13. IEHESR (X)) (&)

HREE - ZTE-_NE+_-_A=+—BIFE
WEERMR N (ZE_=F ) KL E
HRETIRM B BT IE -

(b % P8 BRI B A DL R 1B RELAR
BB O 2 E A T B IE B A A )
A 23 ) BT BRCER £ 3 B8 3 B MR A b R
B A o

BEFBECEMESHANRER BEZZ
ZHERZE_=F+A=+—HILFE"
AEEMFENBARNEATRECEMRS
FREB25% o

BEBRRREEREAN/NRHF S ERSE

MBEBEMEBRAS Feaa THREHD
BEACEBRARENCEMSH R Kt

HE-_Z-_NF+_A=+—HLFE &
BEBBRPAMACENB AT TBBA
R #3,000,0007T #) fE SR B i IR BB TR 5%
(BN 3k e =R B 0% M B925% $220% HY (D ¥ Fr 18
RMER) SR -BE_T-_MF+=_A=+—
ALEFE ()izSME A aH AR 1,000,000
THERT AN ((BEEZAR SN RE
BRAEIE2.5% (Bl gh & £ AT & A #12.5%
B20% W EFTE BB E) &8 R>G)&g T
TiBi AR #3,000,000 7T H) FEEFUE A ([ £
TRFRREA]) IR ES% (BB & T ER
ik I #925% 1220% M E TS BIR =) 4
ReARNRHETHBRARACEREE A/ NS
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

REMBRRMETE (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

14.

BE-_FE-pEfF - A=+—HIFF

13.

INCOME TAX CREDIT/(EXPENSE)
(Continued)

The reconciliation between the income tax expense and the
(loss)/profit before tax multiplied by the PRC EIT rate is as
follows:

Profit before tax B B4 A g A1
Tax at the PRC enterprise income tax rate
of 25% (2023: 25%) HE (=
Effect of concessionary tax rates BERERNTE
Tax effect of expenses not deductible
for tax purpose
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised
Utilisation of tax losses previously
not recognised

fﬁ?ﬂﬁd%ﬂiﬁ’ﬁm‘%

13.

E¢l¢¥%@ﬁﬁ 25%
i:_¢ 25% )

=
7 El

RERREBEEBOTBLE
@Jﬁﬁﬂffﬂiﬁ&wufﬁlglgﬁ}g

Tax effect of share of results of associate B/ & AR EENHE

Tax effect of income that are not taxable /BRI AR T 155 £

Tax effect of temporary differences AERGHEEOB BT E
not recognised

Utilisation of deductible temporary B) AR T R MR A B
differences previously not recognised =&

Over-provision of income tax in
prior years

Income tax expense FTiSHif

Pursuant to the PRC law on EIT, 10% withholding income tax

will be levied on foreign investors for dividend distribution

from PRC enterprises’ profit earned after 1 January 2008. For

qualified investors incorporated in Hong Kong, a treaty rate of
5% will be applied.

At 31 December 2024, no deferred tax has been provided
for in respect of the temporary differences attributable to
retained profits earned by the PRC subsidiaries amounting to
approximately RMB90,093,000 (2023: RMB85,941,000) as
the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of the
temporary differences and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings per share

The calculation of basic earnings per share amount is based on
the profit for the year attributable to owners of the Company
of approximately RMB27,379,000 (2023: approximately
RMB30,031,000) and the weighted average number of ordinary
shares of 175,115,104 (2023: 175,115,104) in issue during the
year.

RESEAHEESE A

BEFESHBERRBE

14.

Fi8fEs  (BX) (&)
Ffr 15 % 7 2 B2 BR A AT ( Eﬁa Yo - vIEIEE
Bl EMEREETEMESHENERNT
2024 2023
—E-_NEF T =F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBTF T
(9,367) 34,347
(2,342) 8,587
166 (186)
3,666 3,772
= 856
= (4,236)
£ (30) 709
(62) (4,609)
= 5,250
= (5,827)
(38,153) -
(36,755) 4,316

RETECEMSTOL SRIEPRELER
—FF)N\F—A— B ZRBEEHE D IR K
BEINEREEBWI0% NFEHAEH - ¥
REBBEMRINAERKRES KEM
5% Y 13 7€ B K o

RZEZWOF+ZA=+—H AR
Rt BB AR BRIMREA &%IJ?{J/\
R #90,093,000 (ZZE==F: ARK
85,941,0007T ) B B& I 2= 58 M 1E (1 B & & 18
B NARNEERAZIERE =8 %0E 2
B MR ZERATETERA] B R E
@o

BRER

BRELRBEF
BEREABFCEIRIBEARQAES AEMN
FEW MO AR27,379,000t (==
£ 4 AR #30,031,0007T) R EFEAND EITE
W% 2 INKEF 19 80175,115,104f% (ZE ==
& :175,115,1040) st E B E -

z
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

W

BRI (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BEr—

E_mFEF A=+ —HIFFE

14. EARNINGS PER SHARE (Continued)

15

Diluted earnings per share

For the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, diluted
earnings per share is the same as the basic earnings per share
because the exercise price of the Company’s outstanding share
options was higher than the average market price for shares of
the Company.

14. BRERN (&)

BREEAN
BE-S-MER-F-_=£+-f=1—
B SR RIS R E A R
L R ol 2 2 2 ) 9 5K 148 1 AR 9 77 £
BERAD ARG HFEHTHE:

DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ AND 15. EE B TBRAEBREEHFM
EMPLOYEES' REMUNERATION
Pursuant to the Section 383(1) of the Hong Kong Companies RIEEB R BMER FE3IBMNIE LA (FE
Ordnance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of EEMTZER) RO F2EEL ZHENOT
Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation are as
follows:
Salaries and Retirement benefit
Director fees allowances scheme contributions Total
ExHe FEREE BAREAGEHX &t
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
ZECME —E--f ZBIWE -Z2o-4F ZBEIME T ZBECME O —EoCF
RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR ARETE ARBTR ARKTT AR®TR ARETT AR®TR ARETH
Name of director EEfg
Executive director HITEF
Zhuang Yuejin (note (a)) HRE (HiHE) - - - - - - - -
Wong Ho Yin (note (b)) BER (i 0b)) - - - 1,682 - 18 - 1,700
Xiao Suni EE 3 92 109 = - = - 92 109
Ng Chung Ho (note (e)) LR (Hi#eE) 223 - - - - - 223 -
Independent non-executive BV HHTEE
director
Mak Wai Ho (note (c)) EER (HWitl) 47 109 - - - - 47 109
Ng Li La Adeline RFM 88 87 - - - - 88 87
Zhu Chun Yan REH 88 87 - - - - 88 87
Yuen Wai Keung (note () rER (M) 76 - - - - - 76 -
614 392 = 1,682 = 18 614 2,092
Notes: Vi3

Mr. Zhuang Yuejin is also the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of
the Company.

Mr. Wong Ho Yin was also the Chief Financial Officer of the
Company. He resigned as executive director and Chief Financial
Officer of the Company with effect on 18 October 2023.

Mr. Mak Wai Ho was resigned as independent non-executive director
with effect on 3 June 2024.

Mr. Yuen Wai Keung was appointed as independent non-executive
director with effect on 15 July 2024.

Mr. Ng Chung Ho was appointed as executive director with effect on
27 December 2023.

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, no
emoluments were paid by the Group to the Directors and chief
executive as a discretionary bonus or an inducement to join or
upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office.
There was no arrangement under which a Director waived
or agreed to waive any emoluments during the years ended
31 December 2024 and 2023.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

W

BRI (A

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BEr—
15.

16.

E_mFEF A=+ —HIFFE

DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ AND
EMPLOYEES’ REMUNERATION (Continued)

The executive director’s emolument shown above were for their
services in connection with the management of the affairs of
the Company and the Group.

The independent non-executive director’s emoluments shown
above were for their services as directors of the Company.

No transactions agreement and contracts in relation to the
Group's business to which the Company or any subsidiaries of
the Company was a party an in which a director had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of
the year or at any time during the year.

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid individuals of the Group during the year
included 1 (2023: 2) director(s), details of whose remuneration
set out in note 15 above. The emoluments of the remaining 4
(2023: 3) individuals are set out below:

ﬁK e RORR
RARTE MBI

Basic salaries and allowances
Retirement benefits scheme contributions

The number of the senior management (excluding directors) of
the Group are within the following band:

Nil to HKD1,000,000 £ %1,000,000/% 7T
During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, no
remuneration was paid by the Group to the non-executive
director, highest paid employees as an inducement to join or
upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office.
None of the non-executive director and highest paid employees
waived or agreed to waive any emoluments during the years
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

RESEAHEESE A

15.

16.

EX BRRTRABRESHMH
(%)
EXFRRATESHMAREERDARA
EEEHORBMS -

EXFRBILFRATEETHE RERFEEA
REEFENME -

ARBHARBERMEBERARBERTLE M
$El¥%ZF¢EY¢WEH%WT%m

X HERAEH MEERETFEEXM
&%ﬁék%“°

TEBRSFHNES
NREENAREENRNSTSHFMMA L BE—
H(ZE = WMEB)EE BLFBEH
PBEXHFIS #THB(ZE_=F:=%)
BEEHMATHOHMET T

2024 2023
—E-mE TR =F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARETT
1,066 535
80 38
1,146 573
AEESREEE(TREBEZEF)ZAHN
TFLATEHERA :
Number of individuals
AE
2024 2023
—ENF —_T-=
4 3
HE-FT-_MFR-B-=F+-A=+—

EILtEJ;W AEBEMERIENTES &
BYNEEXNBE EAMAZRE RN
AREEENRE SIEABEBRBE -EE
—EZNFERZZTE=F+=ZA=+—HL
FERN BEFVTEERTaMESEER
EYREREERNHNE -

I
4
I
[=
H
#

103



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

REMBRRMEE (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE—F—Ef - A=+—HIFFZ

17. DIVIDEND

The directors do not recommend the payments of any dividend

in respect of the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: nil).

18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Cost

At 1 January 2023

Additions

Disposals

Deconsolidation of subsidiaries

At 31 December 2023 and
1 January 2024

Additions

Disposals

At 31 December 2024

Accumulated depreciation
At 1 January 2023

Charge

Disposals

Deconsolidation of subsidiaries

At 31 December 2023 and
1 January 2024

Charge

Disposals

At 31 December 2024

Net carrying amounts
At 31 December 2024

At 31 December 2023

17.

R E

EFTREMRBE-_Z-_WNF+-_A=+—
TEC=F )

B FEIRMEABE

18. ¥ HERRE

v

Furniture
Plant and Motor and Leasehold
machinery vehicles fixtures improvements Total
B E R RE  BRAREE REMEEE &5t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETR ARETT ARETR
BA
R-Z-=%—f—H 45,650 4,811 2,240 3,524 56,225
NE 1,128 - - - 1,128
HE (5,627) (246) - - (5,873)
BIEGRAANREHBAF - (763) (347) (257) (1,367)
RNZE-=F+-A=T—-HK
“Z-NE-F—H 41,151 3,802 1,893 3,267 50,113
NE 55,650 94 616 253 56,613
HE (9,464) 3) (225) (62) (9,754)
R-E-MmE
+=ZA=+-H 87,337 3,893 2,284 3,458 96,972
REE
R-ZE-=%-F-H 24,046 3,770 1,851 2,506 32,173
i 1,220 62 107 80 1,469
L& (955) 217) - - (1,172)
BIEGANEHBEAR - (763) (347) (257) (1,367)
RZE-=ZF+-FA=+-HR
“Z-NE-F—H 24,311 2,852 1,611 2,329 31,103
i 2,445 69 570 342 3,426
HE (5,195) 3) (203) - (5,401)
R-E-ME+-B=+-H 21,561 2,918 1,978 2,671 29,128
EEFE
R-ZB-ME+=-A=1+-A 65,776 975 306 787 67,844
WZZ-Zf+-A=+-H 16,840 950 282 938 19,010
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

REMBRERMEE (&

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE—F—Ef - A=+—HIFFZ

19. INVESTMENT PROPERTY

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group
leased out a self-owned factory to an independent third party
under an operating lease with rentals payable monthly. The lease
typically run for an initial period of 5 years.

19. BREWHE

HEZ_Z-_WNFRZ_ZE_=F+ZA=+—
AEFE AEEEEERERN—RBYE
—hHEE—HEERE HeRET AN
TH— M) BHSF -

Investment
property
REWHE
RMB'000
ARBF T
Cost A
At 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023, RZEZ=F—HA—RA ZFT=-=%F+=A
1 January 2024 and 31 December 2024 =+t—-HB-ZFE-_mMF—A—AK
—EZWMFF+ZA=+—H 9,632
Accumulated depreciation ZItIE
At 1 January 2023 R-EZ=F—H—H 5,499
Charge X 356
At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 RZEBEZ=F+=ZA=+—HK
—ZE-_FE—[—H 5,855
Charge = 356
At 31 December 2024 R-ZT-_MF+-_A=+—H 6,211
Net carrying amounts R FE
At 31 December 2024 RZZB-_MF+-_A=+—H 3,421
At 31 December 2023 RZEZ=F+=ZA=+—H 3,777

At 31 December 2024, the Group’s investment property with
a carrying amount of approximately RMB3,421,000 (2023:
approximately RMB3,777,000) was pledged as security to banks
for bank borrowings (note 34).

The fair value of the investment property was approximately
RMB49,000,000 as at 31 December 2024 (2023:
RMB51,000,000). The fair value of the Group's investment
properties as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 has been arrived
at on the basis of a valuation carried out by International
Valuation Limited, an independent qualified professional valuer
not connected to the Group.

RESEAHEESE A

R-E-_NWFEF+_A=+—H A£EE@
EHABARE3 421,000 (T =44
AR¥3,777,000T) IR EYE D HB TR
TEREVSIRITER ZEM @ (FFF34) -

R-ZBE_mWE+_A=+—0 BEWEHN
NFEL B ARAL49,000,000T (ZFE ==
#F: AR #¥51,000,00070) R -ZT - HF K
—TEZF+-AZ+—H ALEREY
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

REMBRRMEE (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE—F—Ef - A=+—HIFFZ

19. INVESTMENT PROPERTY (Continued)

In estimation their fair value of the investment properties,
the estimated amount for which an asset or liability should
exchange on the date of valuation between a willing buyer
and a willing seller in an arm’s-length transaction after proper
marketing wherein the parties had each acted knowledgeably,

prudently and without compulsion is their current use.

Information about level 3 fair value

measurements

Description
it

An industrial complex located
in PRC

—EURFENTREARE

Valuation techniques

HER &

Income capitalization
method

WABA(E

Significant
unobservable inputs

EATUBRERAZE

Market unit rate per square
meter, taking into account
the recent transaction
prices for similar properties
adjusted for nature and
location

BYHARTSEE Kk
BUNENRORHER:
W SIS R B e BB
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EXBERS
e

19. REME (&)

REE
GiEEER mERE

IREMENA

2024 Range from
RMB19.96 to
RMB23.95 per
square meter per
month on gross
floor area

ZEZMF
REBEEENT
SF5KE A
AR#19.96LF
AE#23.957T

RFER EETEED
BEETEBENE T
BERTRE EEZ%/RT REEERERE
RIEZ G EESEER

FHRE=QRLFEFENESR

Relationship

of significant
unobservable
inputs to fair value
ERFAEHEBA
BEEATLENBR

The increase in unit

rate would result in
increase in fair value.

BELNEEER
AFEHM-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e MBRRME (&

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE—F—Ef - A=+—HIFFZ

20. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 20. FHAREEE
Leasehold Leased
land Properties Total
HE it HEWE &5t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETT ARET T ARBETT

Cost B AR
At 1 January 2023 R_E_=%—HF—H 2,552 15,931 18,483
Deconsolidation of subsidiaries ISR A ARKB QA
(note 44) (K1 5F44) - (766) (766)
At 31 December 2023 and MR-_ZT-=F
1 January 2024 +ZA=+—HK
—E-_NFE—AF—H 2,552 15,165 17,717
Additions wNE - 2,756 2,756
At 31 December 2024 R-EBE_-_MEF
+—-—HB=+—AH 2,552 17,921 20,473
Accumulated depreciation RItIE
At 1 January 2023 R-ZE_=F—H—H 292 9,213 9,505
Charge for the year FELH 73 2,345 2,418
Deconsolidation of subsidiaries ISR A ARMTB A A
(note 45) (H77t45) - (529) (529)
At 31 December 2023 and N-ZT-=#+—"F
1 January 2024 =t+—HERZ-ZZE-_mF
—HA—H 365 11,029 11,394
Charge for the year FEZH 73 2,221 2,294
At 31 December 2024 R-ZE-MF
+=A=+—H 438 13,250 13,688
Carrying amount REE
At 31 December 2024 R-EBE_-_ME
+—-—HB=+—A8H 2,114 4,671 6,785
At 31 December 2023 A —
+=—A=+—8 2,187 4,136 6,323
hESERNGEERSR QA —ZE_MNEH 107



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M BRI (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE—F—Ef - A=+—HIFFZ

20. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued) 20. FREEE (&

2024 2023

—E-mF T =F

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®BTR ARBFT

Expenses relating to short-term leases REHER 2,079 433
Total cash outflow for leases (note) HERSRHBE (i) 3,816 3,267
Addition to right-of-use assets EAREERE 2,756 -

Note: Amount includes payments of principal of RMB1,595,000 (2023:
RMB2,547,000) and interest portion of RMB142,000 (2023:
RMB287,000) of lease liabilities and leases with original lease terms
ends within 12 months of RMB2,079,000 (2023: RMB433,000).

Lease liabilities of RMB4,142,000 (2023: RMB4,572,000) are
recognised with related right-of-use assets of RMB4,671,000
(2023: RMB4,136,000) as at 31 December 2024. The lease
agreements do not impose any covenants other than the
security interests in the leased assets that are held by the
lessor. Leased assets may not be used as security for borrowing
purposes. The lease terms are ranging from 2 to 5 years.
The rented properties are used of office and manufacturing
purpose.

At 31 December 2024, the Group's leasehold land with
leasehold period of 50 years and with a carrying amount
of approximately RMB2,114,000 (2023: approximately
RMB2,187,000) was pledged as security to banks for bank
borrowings.
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Mat: Z2cBEEIXNHAEEENEARAE AR
1,595,0007C (=& — =4 : AR#2,547,000
TL) MBI ARE142,0000L (ZE =4
AR ¥287,0007T) - RAEER121E A A F) &
A ARE2079,000n (ZTE=_=F: AR
433,0007T) °

W_ZE-WNFE+-_A=+—H CHRAAE
BEARKA142,000 (ZE-=ZF: AR
#4,572,000L) M AEBFEAEEEARKE
4,671,000 (—ZZE - =4: AR¥4,136,000
) o BREBEARENHEEENERESR
SN THEBBRIEBENERNRFE - HEEE
AN REERER- BN F =R F-H
EMERERARRERR-

R-ZBE-_mWE+_-_A=+—08 KN&£E7MHEH
AL0F BEERmMEBEHARK2114,000T (=ZF
T ZF ) ARY2,187,0007T) M E £ i
EEMTRITERARITERZERR -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M B RRME (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE—F—Ef - A=+—HIFFZ

21. PARTICULARS OF THE SUBSIDIARIES 21. fIE A RINFAER
Particulars of subsidiaries of the Company at 31 December RZEZMFR T _=F+=—A=+—H"
2024 and 2023 were as follows: AARKMIBAR ZFIBWT

Nominal value

of issued
and fully
paid ordinary
Place of shares/Issued
incorporation/ and paid up/ Proportion of ownership
registration registered interest and voting power
Name of Company and operation capital held by the Company Principal activities
BRTRARE
BR2
EE/BEAR
T #qr/ ENBRBHERER
ARER BRREERH ARER FRLA TEXH
2024 2023
“E-QNE —T_=F
Direct Indirect  Direct Indirect
E# CiF:3 EE fi&
Joystar (BVI) Automotive Interior British Virgin usD1 100% - 100% - Investment holding
Decoration Limited Islands ("BVI")
EBEBRER 1% REZRR
([(EB#ARES])
Joystar (BVI) Auto Inter-parts Limited ~ BVI UsD1 100% - 100% - Investment holding
EREBRES (E RERR
Joystar International Investment Hong Kong HK$1,170,177 - 100% - 100% Trading of nonwoven fabric
Limited related products used
in automotive interior
decoration parts and other
parts
REBERREFRAA 3 1,170,177 T BERARAENMS R AL
BOMEGHIEBER
Joystar China Investment Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - - - 100% Trading of rubber
(note (1))
RETBEREFERAR (M) B BT EERE
Joystar Wuxi (note (i) PRC usD7,477,172 - 100% - 100% Manufacturing of nonwoven
fabric related products
used in automotive interior
decoration parts and other
parts
HE (&%) (M) & 7477172% T SERNAERHHRED
BAOMEGHIEBER
Link Excellent Limited BVI UsD50,000 100% - 100% - Investment holding
EEEDRES 50,000% 7T REER

L]
Il
=
7
#
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M BRI (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE—F—Ef - A=+—HIFFZ

21. PARTICULARS OF THE SUBSIDIARIES 21. B RMNFEMAER (&)

(Continued)

Nominal value
of issued
and fully
paid ordinary
Place of shares/lIssued
incorporation/ and paid up/ Proportion of ownership
registration registered interest and voting power
Name of Company and operation capital held by the Company Principal activities
ERTRARE
BRZ
AE/BRTR
i)z Br/ KRRFEMERER
ARER BEREELY ZRER REELH TEER
2024 2023
“EC-QmE —B-=F
Direct Indirect  Direct Indirect
E# LE: B Gk
Link Sharp International Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100% - 100% Trading of food products
BE 10,0007 7 BEERmM

Sinogate Energy Limited BVI usD1 - 100% - 100% Investment holding

FEEE R AR A A RERARHE (E BEER

Splendid Sun Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100% - 100% Trading of rubber

B AR R A £ 1B BEEKE

BRE S (LB)BRA R (note (i) PRC USD600,000 - 100% - 100% Trading of rubber

BmES (LB)ERAR (Mitd) HE 600,0005 7T BEKE

Loyal Brands International Limited BVI UsD50,000 - - - - Investment holding

(note (i)
Loyal Brands International Limited ABEARES 50,000% 7T BEER
( Bzt (i)

Giant Faith Holdings Limited (note (iij)) Hong Kong HK$10,000 - - - - Trading of food products

Giant Faith Holdings Limited (4732 (ii)) &% 10,0005 ¢ EERM

None of the subsidiaries had debt securities outstanding at the RERKFRTMEEBENBARES T

end of the year or at any time during the year. AR ARITENERES -

Notes: Mtat -

(i) The subsidiary was disposed during the year ended 31 December (i) ZHBARERBE-_TE-_NF+=-_A=+—
2024 and recorded a loss on disposal of approximately HEFEALHETHSEEEBEENARK
RMB1,222,000. 1,222,0007C °

(i) Registered as a wholly-owned foreign enterprise under the PRC law. (i) REPEEEAMRLRIIEBEERHE-

(i) ~ Deconsolidated during the year ended 31 December 2023 and iy KREBEEZE-_ZF+_A=+—HLEFERKRIL
completely disposed of during the year ended 31 December 2024. BAEARIRBE-_T-_MF+_A=+—H
This disposal recorded a gain on disposal of RMB916,000 (Note 45). FEFEATEHE - ZHEFEHSHE RS

#HAR916,0005T (HFE45) °

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group, which in the ITRENEERAUAEENEENEER

opinion of directors, principally attached the results or assets KRERZENAEENBAG -EFRRM

of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in to HIHEMMBARNFEESERBR TR

opinion of directors, result in particulars of excessive lengths.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

REMBRRMETE (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE—F—Ef - A=+—HIFFZ

22. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

22. REFERANES

2024 2023
—E-E T =F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥TR ARBF T
Cost of investment in associates REE QAR R E R A

- Unlisted —3F kT 27,866 27,270
Share of post-acquisition loss and G ZER

other comprehensive income, NEM2E K E

net of dividends received (BB W ERR 2.)

— Unlisted —3F LT (7,291) (7,171)
Impairment loss BB EE (14,225) (14,225)
Exchange realignment PE H % (245) -

6,105 5,874
During the year under review, no impairment loss on interests REBFEAN TERAEAEENGZEERER
in associates (2023: RMB2,358,000) was recognised in the EMm2ERERTPERABEE A MNER
Group’s consolidated statement of profit or loss and other ZREEE(ZTZ=%F: AR®¥2,358,000
comprehensive income. The impairment loss recognised in L) cHRAKEBEE TR EERNEKREE
2023 was on the basis of decline in the recoverable amount LA KB & R B BT IS8 TR & 1R
which was below the carrying amount and adverse changes in ZECCFHRBEREE-
the market in which the associates operated.
At 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group had interest in the RZBE_NFR_ZE-_=F+_A=+—8"

following associates:

Place of
incorporation/
registration

AE R T 5B S AR AN

Proportion of
ownership interest
and voting power

Issued and directly or indirectly

Name of Company and operation paid up capital held by the Group  Principal activity
TR ER AEEEEREERS
NEIECE REEHY BERARBEREK FEERREELG FEEH
2024 2023
—EomE —To=F
Prominent Alliance Limited BVI UsD100,000 42% 42% Investment holding
("Prominent”)
REERRES 100,000% 7T REER
GEO Securities Limited Hong Kong HKD99,444,592 42%* 42%* Dealing and advising on securities
& 99,444,592 T BHRH NHH
*  GEO Securities Limited is a wholly owned subsidiary of Prominent Alliance * GEO Securities Limited & Prominent Alliance
Limited. Limited By 2 & [t & 2 7] ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M BRI (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE—F—Ef - A=+—HIFFZ

22. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 22.RBENTNES (&)
Summarised financial information prepared in accordance with UNTHIBRBEEEMBRES EA G E
HKFRS Accounting Standards in respect of Prominent and its Al 4R 2 8 Prominent X E M 8B 2 7) ( 5 78
subsidiary (collectively, the “Prominent Group”) are set out [Prominent £ & | ) MBI IEE R E -
below.
2024 2023
—EC-OF —ET_=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T AREBTTT
Current assets BN EE 17,945 18,735
Non-current assets FERBEE 30,149 30,258
Current liabilities mEaE (21,925) (23,374)
Non-current liabilities ERBEE = -
2024 2023
—E-NmF —EZ=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T AR T T
Revenue WA 5,071 2,891
Profit/(loss) for the year FEHEF (BB 286 (6,756)
Other comprehensive income for the year 4 € H{th 2 mE Ug 35 264 -
Total comprehensive income/(loss) FE2EkK (BE)

for the year FER 550 (6,756)
Group's share of results of the Prominent 7~ %5 B fE {5 Prominent £ &

Group ES 231 (2,837)
Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information LB BERMERGES B REANERR
to the carrying amount of the interests in the Prominent Prominent R E ) m AREE M HHRAT -
Group recognised in the consolidated financial statements is as
follows:

2024 2023

—E-MF —ET=F

RMB’'000 RMB'000

ARBT T AR T T

Net assets of the Prominent Group Prominent &£ B /) & FE 558 26,169 25,619
Proportion of the Group’s ownership 7N 52 B A Prominent ££ & /9

interest in the Prominent Group Ffr 7 1 Lt 151 42% 42%

10,991 10,760

Goodwill [ 9,339 9,339

Impairment loss VRN SEiE] (14,225) (14,225)

Carrying amount of the Group’s interest 7<% [& 73 Prominent = & A9
in the Prominent Group EmREE 6,105 5,874

112 CHINA AUTOMOTIVE INTERIOR DECORATION HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

REMBRERMEE (&

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE—F—Ef - A=+—HIFFZ

22.

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Particular of impairment testing on interest in the Prominent
Group are disclosed below:

For the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, the
recoverable amount of the Prominent Group have been
determined based on a value in use calculation which uses
cash flow projection based on financial budgets approved
by the directors and valued by the professional independent
valuer covering a five year period, and pre-tax discount rate
of 13% (2023: 14%) per annum. cash flows beyond that five-
year period have been extrapolated using a steady 2.5% (2023:
2.5%) growth rate. This growth rate does not exceed the long-
term average growth rate for the market.

The key assumptions used in the value in use calculations are
as follows:

Budgeted gross Average gross margins achieved in

22. REAEDNEINRER (&)
7 Prominent £ 8 7 1 25 &) )5 & ) 5% 5515
BT

HE-_Z_NFER-_ZE-_=F+-_A=+—
HIE%FE > Prominent £ B /Y A] I [0l & 58 T5 1R
BERBEAEFELET ZTEEARAER
REEWAETKEEBYHEMGENRT
R BBENRSREEA YIZEF13%
TR CF 1 14% ) B AITIR R ESE -
BBAALFTHBM 2B RENFEREBEEHER
25% (B - =F:25% ) ILIBRX
TEAmE s RAFHEREK-

EREEAEEZMAZERBRRET:

BEERN X EERREHNHEERZ

margin the period immediately before the FHEME  RBBET

budget period which reflects the past wE

experience
23. INVENTORIES 23. 78
2024 2023
—E-NE —E-=4F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETR AR T T
Raw materials R 10,972 12,087
Work in progress TR m 859 721
Finished goods 2UpK i 5,878 8,639
17,709 21,447
hESEAWHEEASR QA Z“E-MEFEHR 113



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

REMBRRMEE (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE—F—Ef - A=+—HIFFZ

24. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES

Trade receivables
Less: allowance for ECL

Bills receivables

FEWE 530 IR
B RHEREREE

R

The ageing analysis of trade receivables, based on the past due
date, net of allowance for ECL, is as follows:

0 to 90 days
91 to 180 days
181 to 365 days

0%&90H
91£180H
181£365H

The Group’s trading terms with customers are mainly on
credit. The credit terms generally ranging from 30 days to 120
days, depending on the creditworthiness of customers and
the existing relationship with the Group. The Group seeks to
maintain strict control over its outstanding receivables. Overdue
balances are reviewed regularly by senior management. Trade

receivables are non-interest bearing.
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2. ERESZREARERERERE

2024 2023
—E-_NE —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T ARETF T
71,205 83,270
(15,543) (13,116)
55,662 70,154

587 3,156

56,249 73,310

RiFBHBEH BUE SRIBHRE DT (&
NBRMESERBEREE) BT

2024 2023
—E-NF —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T ARETF T
51,845 55,634
2,812 5,229
1,005 9,291
55,662 70,154

AEEREFPNEZBRAEIEZREE -RIE
EFEERBASENRARE FEH—
MR FI0E120R - REBR S BREEEARN
MR - BMARN 2 ERBSREEE
THEH - BREZIRERRLE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M B RRME (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE—F—Ef - A=+—HIFFZ

25. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 25. ARRE RERHEMERFE

RECEIVABLES

2024 2023
—E-mEF —T-=fF
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
AR T ARET T

Trade deposits (Note a) Bo5%e (Mita) 8,422 9,880

Prepayments (Note b) T RIE (M atb) 12,389 61,750

Other receivables, net HAth JE W GRIBF R 9,516 7,901

VAT receivables JE U B (E B 3,800 2,751

34,127 82,282

Less: Non-current portion (Note b) W IEREE D (ATaED) (217) (58,155)

33,910 24,127

Notes: ki

(a)  Trade deposits represented amounts paid to suppliers for securing (@) B SReEABEETE M RMEHL & [ H e
stable supply of raw materials. The deposits usually realised in 1 year. BEXNMRE-EZEBRER—FRER-

(b)  As at 31 December 2023, the amount mainly represents the by WHZTZ=F+-ZA=+—H ZeBEEHk
prepayment of acquisition of plant and equipment for upgrading REERHEERGTMERER Y BARRE
the existing production lines for manufacture and sale of non-woven AEGMBESHERIBENENRE-R=_F
fabric related products segment. As at 31 December 2024, the ZWNFEF+Z A=+ B ZeBEXEHERAHEE
amount mainly represented prepayment to suppliers for inventories X e TFE KR MR R TR 7RO o

and raw material.

Details of assessment of ECL are set out in note 6. TBHEEFEBTHF BN TG -
26. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 26. RAFEREBERIENEREE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
2024 2023
—EME B =F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR®T R ARBTT
Listed securities: RS
Equity securities listed in Hong Kong BB LEMHRAEF 26,587 27,368
Fair values are determined with reference to quoted market bid NREEDNZEMBETSEEABRSRBEE
prices and quoted price from financial institution. WEMEE -

FESEARKESR AR

A
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

REMBRRMEE (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE—F—Ef - A=+—HIFFZ

27. CASH AND BANK BALANCES

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and in banks.
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the reporting period
as shown in the consolidated statement of cash flows are
reconciled to the related items in the consolidated statement of
financial position as follows:

Cash and bank balances IR & RIRTTHE
Renminbi AR

Hong Kong dollars BT

United States dollars ETT

At 31 December 2024, the bank balances of the Group
denominated in Renminbi amounted to approximately
RMB37,956,000 (2023: RMB15,762,000) were kept in banks
in the PRC. Conversion of RMB into foreign currencies is
subject to the PRC's Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and
Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign
Exchange Regulations.

Cash at banks earn interest at floating rates based on daily
bank deposit rate.
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27. BE RBRTHEER

MiERARERERME RekREFEY
BERFERSMBITFF -HABASRER
PIRBERRNRe LR EEMRESH
B R AREREE SR T -

2024 2023
—E-E —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T ARETTT
49,419 26,043
2024 2023
—ENE =4
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET R ARET T
37,956 15,762
2,175 1,178
9,288 9,103
49,419 26,043

RZZEZWNFF+ZA=+—H KXEBUA
REFELFHRAFBIRARIT ZRITER
48 NR#37,956,000L (ZFE-=ZF : A
R #15,762,0007T) - AR WK INE /BB
THEIEBTEGH RAERE SERNGES
BIRE -

FRRBOTZREBENRITHERENEZ
FER R EREUA B -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

o)

B RSARMEE (A7)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE—F—Ef - A=+—HIFFZ

28.

29.

SHARE CAPITAL

Authorised: EE:
Ordinary shares of HK$0.025 each SREE0.025ETNEBR
At 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023, R=ZZB-=%-8-8"
1 January 2024 and 31 December 2024 ZEIZE+ZREZt+-8-
“E-ME-B-HEK
“E-RFETZA=T-H
Issued and fully paid: ERTRME:
At 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023, R-BE-=%-A-8"
1 January 2024 and 31 December 2024 ZBIZF+TZRE+-8-
“E-ME-B-HER
“E-RETZA=1-H
RESERVES

The amounts of the Group's reserves and movements
therein for the current and prior years are presented in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity.

Share premium

Under the Companies Law of the Cayman lIslands, the funds
in the share premium of the Company are distributable to
the shareholders of the Company provided that immediately
following the date on which the dividend is proposed to be
distributed, the Company will be in a position to pay off its
debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

Share premium represents premium arising from the issue of
shares at a price in excess of their par value per share and after
deduction of capitalisation issue and issuance costs of placing
of shares.

RESEAHEESE A

28. B A
Number of shares Amount Amount
RA#E 8 kx|
HK$'000 RMB'000
FET ANREEFT
40,000,000,000 1,000,000 863,495
175,115,104 4,378 3,643

29. f#E

FEBRAFERBEFENFRERES S
HEGARGEHRIET -

R 1 5 8

RERAEHRERFE ARAKRNDEERA
MESAIHROETARRRE HEEREEER
RS BE® AARKNAEEINE R
EHBRPEEINMOER -

Bt ERREER N BREE 2 BRET
Btn R NER B AT R B E By BT
RIEEEHRE -

I
A
I
5
H
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

o)

B ISAR ML (A7)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BE-_FE-pEfF - A=+—HIFF

29.

30.

31.

RESERVES (Continued)
Merger reserve

The merger reserve of the Group arose as a result of the Group
reorganisation implemented in preparation for the listing of
the Company’s shares in 2010 and represented the difference
between the nominal value of the aggregate share capital of
the subsidiaries acquired under the reorganisation scheme, over
the nominal value of the share capital of the Company issued
in exchange therefore.

Foreign currency translation reserve

The foreign currency translation reserve comprises all foreign
exchange differences arising from the translation of the
financial statements of the Company and foreign operations.
The reserve is dealt with in accordance with the material
accounting information set out in note 4 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Statutory reserve

Subsidiaries of the Company established in the PRC shall
appropriate 10% of its annual statutory net profit (after
offsetting any prior year’s losses) to the statutory reserve fund
account in accordance with the PRC Company Law. When the
balance of such reserve fund reaches 50% of the entity’s share
capital, any further appropriation is optional. The statutory
reserve fund can be utilised to offset prior year’s losses or to
increase capital after proper approval.

BOND PAYABLE

In 27 August 2024, the Group issued a bond with the principal
amount of HK$3,000,000 to provide working capital of
the Group. The bond bears interest at fixed rate of 8% per
annum, unsecured and repayable on the maturity date of 26
August 2027. The effective interest rate applied to the bond is
approximately 7.4% per annum.

TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES

Trade payables ERTE S8
Bills payable BN RE&
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29.

30.

31.

i (&)

Rl
AEEZANEBEELEN -_T-TFEHEL
DRARG EHMATETHEEER HRE
40 5+ B WA ) B 2 R AR AR A A 10 T (B B
BN A B UL B AT A FE R ) IR AR R
HEHE -

SR E A
SNEBEREERRERNRRE MBI ERE
BHREAMELNMEIEZRE - ZRHEETIZ
FAVBEHRRMEAMEINEESTER
BRIE o

EERE

REFBERTE ARARP BRI KB
RAIAREFERELN (BIIKRBEFE
BERE)MNIO% BEEZERBZRS W%
RS BHREZBERBRAZ50% A7 #E
BEGEEAE PO -RERFEEHE
BOAERBLAIAFEEBEFEBER
BE-

FE {3 1E %

RZZE—_MFNAZ++EH RNEBEBETA
£ %8 /53,000,000 THESH EEEALR
SENEEES ZEFILETEFFEI%
AR AEERE ARIBAE-_ZE-_L£FN
AZ+XARE-ZEFNEBEFNEAEY
7.4% °

ENEZREREMNERE
2024 2023
—ENE T =4
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®ET T AR T T
38,222 30,447
1,590 =
39,812 30,447
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

REMB|RME (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BE_FE_pFEf+ —H=+—HIFE

31. TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES (Continued)

The ageing analysis of trade payables, based on the invoice

dates, is as follows:

0 to 90 days 0290H

91 to 180 days 91E180H
181 to 365 days 181%365H
Over 365 days HBiE365H

31. ENESRERENRE (&)

BEEZAH ENEZFENKRK S TN
T

The ageing analysis of bills payables, based on the invoice
dates, is as follows:

2024 2023
—E-NF —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T ARETF T
24,338 14,791
1,936 3,744

235 423
11,713 11,489
38,222 30,447

REZZAH ENRENRESTOT:

0 to 90 days

0%90H

Trade payables generally have credit terms ranging from 10
days to 60 days. Bills payable generally have credit terms
ranging from 90-180 day.

Bill payables relate to trade payables in which the Group has
been offered by certain main suppliers to settle its obligations
for purchases of goods with bills payables. The Group is obliged
to make payments to the banks in respect of the bills only on
due dates of the bills, under the same conditions as agreed
with the suppliers without further extension. During the year
ended 31 December 2024, the supplier finance arrangements
totalled approximately RMB2,200,000.

At 31 December 2024, trade and bills payables are
denominated in RMB and HKD of approximately
RMB39,338,000 and RMB474,000 (2023: RMB29,982,000 and
RMB465,000) respectively.

RESEAHEESE A

2024 2023
—E-NE —E-=4F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥ T ARET T
1,590 -

[ENEZHRBEEH RN T10E608 - &
NEBEEH KN FI0E180H

ENRBERENEZHEAMR ETETEH
EERAAEERENENRBEEEREE
MRET AKEAREHRERGENAR
BGHERZEBRINBERTEMRT R
mMBAE-—TEH-BE_FT_MNF+_A
ST-RLEFE HEBRRETHEENR
AR #2,200,0007T

R-ZBE-_mWE+-_A=+—0B UAREE
BILFHENENE ZRIBRENZES AL
A AR #39,338,0007T & AR #474,0007T

—T - =4 AR®29,982,0007T & AR H
465,0007T) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

REMBRRMEE (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE—F—Ef - A=+—HIFFZ

32. ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES

32. Bt EARHMEMNRKE

2024 2023
—E-NE —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET ARET T
Accruals of rent i 968 834
Accruals of staff costs st B Tk A 987 559
Accruals of operating expenses EEr &R 380 1,039
VAT payable FERIEER 347 427
Deposit received Bl e 786 1,283
Other payables H{th B~ 3R 4,053 8,438
7,521 12,580
33. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 33. BN EE
The following provides information about contract liabilities NTHEBEEFPEANENEREZER:
from contract with customers:
2024 2023
—E-mE —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET ARET T
At 1 January Rn—H—H 3,133 46,537
Revenue recognised during the year FABRHBA (RE
that was included in the contract FFABHERE)
liabilities at the beginning of the year (2,368) (45,739)
Deconsolidation of subsidiaries (note 45)  #& |tiz& AERKIE A )
(K7at45) - (798)
Increase in contract liabilities as a FAREFPRBRELERN
result of advance from customers AHBEEM
during the year 7,926 3,133
At 31 December R+-—A=+—H 8,691 3,133

BHNABEASEECUAEREREPRE
BRERBERER - ANAREN —FRE
RBWA - BRme [126E] EB TEPE
REBEERUA -

The contract liabilities represent the Group’s obligation to
transfer goods for which the Group has received consideration,
or for which an amount of consideration is due from
customers. The contract liabilities would be recognised as
revenue within one year. The Group recognises revenue when
“control” of goods is transferred to the customers.

AEEBEAFEPEN —ELINEHEE
R mEERMNR

In general, the Group receives certain percentage of the
contract sum as advance payment from the customers of the
sale of goods.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

REMBRRMETE (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE—F—Ef - A=+—HIFFZ

34. BANK BORROWINGS

Bank loans, secured IRITE - HE
Less: Amounts classified under current
liabilities

Secured bank loan that contain a
repayment on demand clause and
due within one year BEIFIRITER

Amounts classified under
non-current liabilities

BIRIR EE KSR
R—FEREHEEN

DERIFRB BB TR

BB R R ERN R

Carrying amount repayable: JE 8B FIERRE (A -

— within one year -R—FR
Secured bank loan BEBRITER

At 31 December 2024, the bank borrowings were secured
by charges over the (1) Group's investment property with
the carrying amount of approximately RMB3,421,000 (2023:
approximately RMB3,777,000); (2) leasehold land with carrying
amount of approximately RMB2,114,000 (2023: approximately
RMB2,187,000) respectively; and (3) personnel guarantee
provided by Zhuang Yuejin, the director of the Company and
his spouse. The weighted average effective floating interest
rate on the short-term bank borrowings is 3.88% (2023:
4.35%) per annum.

At 31 December 2024, the carrying amount of bank
borrowings are denominated in RMB of RMB25,000,000
(2023: RMB25,000,000). All the bank borrowings are payable
in 1 year. The maturity dates of the bank borrowings are from
18 June 2025 to 3 December 2025.

There was no breach of covenants at 31 December 2024 (2023:
nil).

RESEAHEESE A

34. BITER
2024 2023
—E-_NE —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T ARETIT
25,000 25,000
)5
25,000 (25,000)
|
2024 2023
—ENE =4
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET ARBETF T
25,000 25,000
25,000 25,000

Wo-E-mWE+-A=+—8 FITEXRH
(MAEEERmEHARE3 421,000 (=F
T=EHAREES,777,00070) IR B W E
QEEEHARKE2,114,0000 (2 ==
FHAREE2,187,00000) MFAE L & (3)
RATBESHRERERBREREMNEAER
ERB - R HRITER 2 MEFIIERF
FFIEE388% (ZFE_=F:435%)°

R-FE-WNE+-A=+—8 UAR®:
B2 RITERZEREEARAKM25,000,000
T (ZEZ=%: AR¥25,000,0007T) ° f7
BIRITERAR —FRNEE - RIT1E 2 H
AAE-_ZE-_RAF A+ \BE=-ZZT_-_AF
+—-—A=8-

BHE_Z-_NFE+-_A=+—HB HEER
RHp(ZE=F 8],) -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
nv_\ ~ ji%i&% M-J.AE\:L (IIE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_FE_pFEf+ —H=+—HIFE

35. LEASE LIABILITIES 35. HEARE
At 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group had lease liabilities R-E—NER T -_=F+=-A=+—80"
as follows: AEBENEEGGHT :
2024 2023
—EoE T =F
Present value Present value
of the minimum of the minimum
lease payments lease payments
BEHESHREE SEHESNRERE
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®F AREBTTT
Within 1 year R—FA 1,468 2,020
After 1 year but within 2 years WA —FERRER 1,916 1,142
After 2 years but within 5 years HBAMEERAERA 758 1,410
2,674 2,552
4,142 4,572
The incremental borrowing rates applied to lease liabilities HARHEABENEEERFENT3.6%
range from 3.6% to 8% (2023: 3.4% to 6.4%). 28% (ZEZ=F:34%%6.4%) °
36. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS 36. EXEBHIEEE
The following are the major deferred tax assets recognised and MRAFERBEFERANEZRLEHIAE
movements thereon during the current and prior years: ERAESENT:
Allowance for
expected credit loss
on trade and
other receivables
EKEZR
HtRENEREEE
REH
RMB'000
AREFT
At 1 January 2023 R-ZE-=%—F—H 3,826
Charged to profit or loss for the year (note 13) AEEEENR (Mi213) (3,826)
At 31 December 2023, 1 January 2024 and R-Z-=f+-A=1+- “mE-A-BR
31 December 2024 EC_MEFZA=+- _
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

o)

B RSARMEE (A7)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BE—F—pgiFEf - H=+—HIFFF
36. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS (Continued) 36. EXEBKHIEBEEE (&)
Note: At -

37.

At 31 December 2024, the Group had unused tax losses of approximately
RMB3,224,000 (2023: RMB3,224,000) available for offset against future
taxable profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of
the estimated unused tax losses and other deferred tax assets due to the
unpredictability of future profit streams of the respective subsidiary of the
Group which incurred the tax loss.

RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising
from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash
changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those
for which cash flow were, or future cashflows will be classified
in the Group's consolidated statement of cash flows from
financing activities.

37.

RZZT-_NF+_A=+—RB AEEEFIHE
REARERBBENOARDARBERBOARE
3,224,0007T (=T = =4 AR#3,224,0007T) ° R
EEFBEENANEEBENE QR RIEFROT
AT M BT A ARG EIE R BT
MBEERRECHIBEE-

METHELENABEHER

TRHFMAEEREZDELNABE 2 ES
BRASLIREG HETPELNE
BERASREIRRESRE BRAKE
GERERERDBERBELTYNEE-

Lease Bank Bond
liabilities borrowings payable Total
HEAE RITHER &R B
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT AR®TT ARBTR
At 1 January 2023 RZE-_=F—HA—H 7,362 25,000 - 32,362
Non-cash item JEEETEE
Accrued interest FEETH 8 287 1,293 - 1,580
Financing cash inflows BMERERA - 25,000 - 25,000
Financing cash outflows MERE M (2,834) (26,293) - (29,127)
Deconsolidation of subsidiaries #& 1F47& ABRH B A7) (243) - - (243)
At 31 December 2023 and RZE-_=ZF+-RA=+—-HRK
1 January 2024 “T-MFE—A—H 4,572 25,000 - 29,572
Non-cash item FEEEA
Capitalisation of lease HEBREERL
liabilities 2,756 - - -
Accrued interest JEEFI B 142 1,247 - 1,389
Financing cash inflows BMERERA - 25,000 2,855 27,855
Financing cash outflows MEREMD (3.328) (26,247) - (29,575)
At 31 December 2024 R-ZZE_ME+_A=+—8 4,142 25,000 2,855 29,241
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

o)

B ISAR ML (A7)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

39.

BE-_FE-pEfF - A=+—HIFF

38.

CAPITAL COMMITMENT

The Group has no material capital commitment as 31 December
2024 (2023: nil).

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

The Group operates a mandatory provident fund scheme (the
“MPF Scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance for all qualifying employees in
Hong Kong. The Group’s contributions to the MPF Scheme
are calculated at 5% of the salaries and wages subject to a
monthly maximum amount of contribution of HK$1,500 per
employee and vest fully with employees when contributed into
the MPF Scheme. Under the MPF Scheme, the employer and its
employees and each required to make contribution to the MPF
Scheme at 5% of the employees’ relevant income subject to a
cap of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000. Contributions
to MPF Scheme vest immediately.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiary established in the PRC
are members of a central pension scheme operated by the local
municipal government. This subsidiary is required to contribute
certain percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and wages
to the central pension scheme to fund the retirement benefits.
The local municipal government undertakes to assume the
retirement benefits obligations of all existing and future
retired employees of this subsidiary. The only obligation of this
subsidiary with respect to the central pension scheme is to
meet the required contributions under the scheme. The Group's
employer contributions vest fully with the employees when
contributed in the central pension scheme. The Group has no
forfeiture of pension scheme contributions (i.e. contributions
processed by the employer on behalf of the employee who
has exited the scheme prior to vesting of such contributions.)
As at 31 December 2024, no forfeited contribution under the
Pension Scheme of the Group is available for deduction of
contributions payable in coming years.

The total expenses recognised in profit or loss of RMB1,107,000
(2023: RMB1,742,000) represents contributions payable to
these plans by the Group at rates specified in the rules of the
plan.
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38.

39.

BARRE
AEBR-_Z-_NE+-_A=+—HIES
RERFRE(ZZE-_=F &) -

EREFEE

AEBEREBEEBRFEATBSEEHN AS
EBAREREBERYBHMEATESE
([RESE]) - AEEARESS 2 #
HTRBEEH S RIEYS%E B4R
BEAEK LR A15008 T - EERBES
FEERERR EREEMB -RER
Berts BEXREREEHAXRESHEBEK
AB5% Mo RS EEH MR X5 A
B8 U A L BR 30,0008 TR IR - M & 1E & 5

BIEREEBRE -

RPBRIZAEERBRARZEE AL
THRFEEZRRBEARSTEXE -ZWE
PNRIEREEEAF e RIEZ—TFTEHL
MARERSFERFT EARKENZE
Lo M AT ABEREZNBERARAAR
ERAREBNREEZRAKEHNET ZWE
REIFERRBRKRSFE 2 E—EERBIFET
EER AT REMHR - AEEAEEHEHZIR AP
RERSHERFIGEHRTEENEE A&
B 3 £ 50 WOR IR & 5H 830 (BB AR H
HEBARLTENEEETHET) R
E_NMFEF—A=+—H AEBERKEF
BT T N 402 WA FRAT AR AR R TR Y
JE -4 5K o

RIEZERNAZ 2% AR1,107,0007T
—E-=F: AR¥1,742,00000) AAEE
T ERR AR TN B R EMNZ ST HER -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

o)

PR R AL (AR

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE—F—Ef - A=+—HIFFZ

40. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY

41.

TRANSACTIONS

In addition to the transactions and balances as disclosed
elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements, the Group
entered into the following material transaction with related
parties during the year.

Compensation of key management
personnel

Compensation for key management personnel, including
amount paid to the Group’s directors and the senior executive
is as follows:

0. EXBEFRS

BREEMBHRRANEMBORENRH RE
BRON FAREEERBEETITBEANTERR
5o

TEEBEAECZHE

IZEBRABZME BRENEAEBES
REHRITBRAESBEIT:

2024 2023
—E-NE —E-=4F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T ARBET T
Salaries and allowances & MOERL 614 2,627
Employer contribution to pension scheme EFHRKREEE 2 HER - 56
614 2,683
SHARE OPTION SCHEME 41. EREE

The Company adopted the Scheme on 5 June 2015 which will
remain in force for a period of 10 years from the effective date
of the scheme and will expire on 4 June 2025.

Under the Scheme, the Directors may at their discretion grant
options to the eligible participants, including but not limited
to, any Directors (whether executive or non-executive and
whether independent or not) and any employee (whether full
time or part time) of the Group or any other person, who has
contributed to the Group.

RESEAHEESE A

ARABR_E-—AFNARTBRNLTE
ZETEBEAENMBEHMBETFRBR MERHA
HER_T_RF~AMNAB-

REZE EFARNEREERSRER
HERE BRETRRENES (THE
HITRFRTREREE L) RAKEZEM
BE (FTmReRsRB)AHAEEESR
Bz EEM AL

I
4
I
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H
#
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M BRI (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE—F—Ef - A=+—HIFFZ

41. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

The maximum number of shares in respect to which options
may be granted under the Scheme shall not exceed 10% of the
issued share capital of the Company on the date of adopting
the Scheme. The limit may be refreshed at any time provided
that the new limit must not be in aggregate exceed 10% of
the issued share capital of the Company at the date of the
shareholders’ approval in general meeting. However, the total
number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under
the scheme and any other scheme of the company must not
in aggregate exceed 30% of the shares in issue from time to
time. At 31 December 2024, an aggregate of 4,800,000 share
options granted under the Scheme remained outstanding,
which represented approximately 2.7% of the issued share
capital of the Company. The maximum number of shares in
respect of which options may be granted to any individual in
any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the shares in
issue on the last date of such 12-month period unless approval
of the shareholders of the Company has been obtained in
accordance with the Listing Rules. A nominal consideration of
HK$1 is payable on acceptance of the grant of an option.

Options may be exercised at any time from the date of grant
of the option to the 10th anniversary of the date of grant
as may be determined by the Directors. The exercise price is
determined by the Directors, and will not be less than the
highest of (i) the closing price per share as stated in the Stock
Exchange's daily quotations sheets on the date of the grant of
the options; (ii) the average closing price per share as stated
in the Stock Exchange's daily quotations sheets for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of the grant of
the options; or (iii) the nominal value of a share.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, 15,030,000 (2023:
9,630,000) share options were lapsed. No share option was
granted, exercised and cancelled during the year.

17,511,510 ordinary shares in the share capital of the
Company, representing 10% of the issued share capital are
available for issue under the Share Option Scheme as at
31 December 2024.

There were no vesting conditions for share options granted.
There were 4,800,000 share options are exercisable at
31 December 2024 (2023: 19,830,000 share options).
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a1. BRERTE (&

BRI T B 2 AR T 6 /] T 8
TZBRHBEEZTBBAEARRRRMNZ
STEIE B 2B ETRA10% © 3% R A BB
B OEFREAETEEABRERBER
SHEEH AR ZBEBEITRAZI10% -
R RIBZET B R AR REREMETEID
BEBERITEZ 2B REEITER T
FERITZEMEETESBATRERITRG
Z230% R_ZE-_MF+_A=+—H0 "R
& 5% 5T 81 1% H &9 £ 514,800,00017 % A% 4 &
TE AR REBEITRAL2.7% R
T EAHEA mEAERNATERZE
REETER A TFET2ROESEE T
SHRBZT_EAHERE —RKEAQAZE
BTN 2 1% FRIFIZB ETHRAEHRAR
AR BLAERIER SR - KRB R EVETER
BB B AR R S AT .

BRETRROBEEABRES EE2RY
BB HEFOEMEBATE MARME
ERE-TEEIHESEE AHITE
RIATZ&SE: () RBRER D RHKRD
R e B WERM SR WHIE : (i) B
B B R EEE R RO ER M
FHRERMHR 2 FHWTE (i) i mE
@

HE_ZT_WNF+-_A=Z+—HLFE"
15,030,0001% ( == — =4 : 9,630,00017 ) &
RECERK-FR HERL TERFHEE
P HEE o

R-ZBE-_mWE+_A=+—0 KX2TKK
FAE17,511,510EBR (HERBDBITR
NEI10% ) AR IR BE IR A2 AT &) T LA 37T -

ERHERERESBKGE- R_Z_UF
+=-A=+—8" 4,800,000 i M & 7] 1T{E
—F =4 :19,830,000) EEAX#E) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
n'l_\ 7 ji%i&% BT-J-A?:L (/l' =L_)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_FE_pFEf+ —H=+—HIFE

41. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) 41. BRESTE (#&)
Details of the movements of the share options granted by the AATRBEREFIREMEREARD
Company pursuant to the Share Option Scheme from the date AHIRRHEBFENT -

of grant are as below:

At 31 December 2024 R-B-WME+=—A=+—H
Movement during the period
BRgs
Outstanding at
Exercise price  Outstanding at 31 December
Date of grant HKS 1 January 2024 Granted Exercised Cancelled Lapsed 2024 Exercise period
RZB-ME RZBZOF
ke -A-H tZA=t-H
RIEAH B HATE 2R =53 g BA% HATE TR
Category 1:
Bl
Directors
%
Zhuang Yuejin 13 May 2022 0433 1,670,000 - - - (1,670,000) - May 2022 to 12 May 2024
HRE ZECCERATER “B--FRATZHE
ZEIMERATZA
Xiao Suni 13 May 2022 0.433 1,670,000 - - - (1,670,000) - 13 May 2022 to 12 May 2024
HEE ZZ-ZFRATZA ;
Total 0433 3,340,000 - - = (3,340,000) =
i
At 31 December 2023 R-EBZ=F+=-R=+—H
Movement during the period
Fnzg
QOutstanding at
Exercise price Outstanding at 31 December
Date of grant HKS 1 January 2023 Granted Exercised Cancelled Lapsed 2023 Exercise period
RZFZ=% RZFZ=F
i@ -A-A TZR=t-H
RtEH B AR E&i BT B BER WATE 1
Category 1:
g
Directors
g%
Zhuang Yuejin 13 May 2022 0433 1,670,000 - - - - 1,670,000 13 May 2022 to 12 May 2024
HEE “T-CFRATER “ECCERATZAE
ZE-MERATCA
Wong Ho Yin (resigned on 13 May 2022 0433 1,670,000 - - - (1,670,000 - 13 May 2022 to 12 May 2024
18 October 2023) ZEIZFRATER $Z-5RA+=AE
ERR(R-Z-=F “mERRTZH
TATNBEE)
Xiao Suni 13 May 2022 0433 1,670,000 - - - - 1,670,000 13 May 2022 to 12 May 2024
HEfR ZZCZCFRATER “E-CFRATZHE
“RmERATZA
Total 5,010,000 - - - (1,670,000) 3,340,000
@it
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M BRI (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE—F—Ef - A=+—HIFFZ

. > =1
41. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) a1. BRETE (&)
At 31 December 2024 R-B-NE+=A=+—8H
Movement during the period
AR
Outstanding at
Exercise price  Outstanding at 31 December
Date of grant HKS 1 January 2024 Granted Exercised Cancelled Lapsed 2024 Exercise period
R-B-QmE R-B-mE
TkE -B-H +-B=+-8
RiEAH BT HRTE BRI Bk g BANM HRfTE RS
Category 2:
232
Employees 4 April 2019 25 4,800,000 - - - - 4,800,000 4 April 2019 to 3 April 2029
B8 ZE-N\FEAMA ZE-N\FNANAER
ZE-NEMAZH
13 May 2022 0.433 11,690,000 - - - (11,690,000) - 13 May 2022 to 12 May 2024
ZE-Z#BATZER ZZ-ZFRATZHEE
“T-MERATCA
Total 16,490,000 - - - (11,690,000) 4,800,000
@t
Total 19,830,000 - - - (15,030,000) 4,800,000
@t
At 31 December 2023 R-ZE-_=F+-A=+—H
Movement during the period
gnEg
Outstanding at
Exercise price Outstanding at 31 December
Date of grant HK$ 1 January 2023 Granted Exercised Cancelled Lapsed 2023 Exercise period
RZBZ=F R-B==%F
1kE -A-H +ZA=+-8
RHAH BT HWARTR BRH BT B BRM AR RS
Category 2:
52
Employees 4 April 2019 2.500 4,800,000 - - - - 4,800,000 4 April 2019 to 3 April 2029
&8 ZE-NERARE ZE-NEMAMEE
“RoAERAZH
12 May 2021 0.690 7,960,000 - - - (7,960,000 - 12 May 2021 to 11 May 2023
“E--fEATZA “E--fEATZHE
13 May 2022 0.433 11,690,000 - - - - 11,690,000
“RCCERATER
Total 24,450,000 - - - (7,960,000 16,490,000
&t
Total 29,460,000 - - - (9,630,000) 19,830,000
&t
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e MBRRME (&

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE—F—Ef - A=+—HIFFZ

42. INFORMATION ABOUT THE STATEMENT 42, KR F B BERRER 2ER
OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

COMPANY
2024 2023
—EC-NE T =4
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT ARET T
ASSETS BE
Non-current asset ERBEE
Investments in subsidiaries R B RRHERE 17,873 18,760
Amounts due from subsidiaries (note (a))  FEULHI B A B FRIE (it (a)) 78,429 -
96,302 18,760
Current assets REBEE
Prepayments, deposits and TERFRIE e &
other receivables H fth B U FRTA 140 1,648
Amounts due from subsidiaries (note (a))  FEUSHT B A & FIE (Kt (a)) = 71,224
Cash and bank balances IR e MIRTT 4 5 1,257 393
1,397 73,265
Total assets EEHE 97,699 92,025
EQUITY B
Capital and reserves attributable to EATEBEANEEELRFEE
the owners of the Company
Share capital N 3,643 3,643
Reserves (note (b)) & (Hatmb)) 85,976 87,835
Total equity ERBE 89,619 91,478
FRESEAGERMAR QA —Z_MEH 129



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M BRI (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE—F—Ef - A=+—HIFFZ

42. INFORMATION ABOUT THE STATEMENT 42, RRAAHBRARZER (&)
OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE
COMPANY (Continued)

2024 2023
—EC-OF —T=%F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥TR ARBF T
Current liabilities REEE
Accruals and other payables FE&HE A I H M g~ 5118 1,400 547
Amount due to a subsidiary e — R B R R IR 3,825 -
5,225 547
Non current liabilities FREBAE
Bond payable ERESH 2,855 -
Total liabilities BEAHE 8,080 547
Total equity and liabilities ERRkasdas 97,699 92,025
Net current (liabilities)/assets HE(&E) BERHE (3,858) 72,718
Total assets less current liabilities HEERRBAERE 92,474 91,478
Net assets EEFE 89,619 91,478
Approved by the Board of Directors on 26 March 2025 and RZEBEZRF=ZAZt+"BHESFSHIEL
signed on its behalf by: HIIALTREES:
Zhuang Yuejin Ng Chung Ho
HERE B
Director Director
o EF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M B RRME (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE—F—Ef - A=+—HIFFZ

42. INFORMATION ABOUT THE STATEMENT
OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE
COMPANY (Continued)

Notes:

(a)

(b)

The amounts due from subsidiaries are non-trade nature, unsecured,

interest-free and repayable on demand.

Movement of the Company’s reserves.

At 1 January 2023

Loss for the year

Other comprehensive income
for the year

Total comprehensive income/
(expense) for the year
Lapse of share options

At 31 December 2023 and
1 January 2024

Loss for the year

Other comprehensive income
for the year

Total comprehensive income/
(expense) for the year

Lapse of share options

At 31 December 2024

FESEABEEER QA

RWZEZ=%—-HF—H
FEESR

FEAMZERE
FEREME/ (%) 88
BRRRIE K
R-ZE-_=%+-A=+-8k
ZEZNF-A-A
FEESR

FEAMZERE
FEREME/ (%) 88

TEIRE LR

RZZ-ME+=A=1+—H

42, AREHBRRARZER (&)

Bat -

(@) ERMBARNRERFESILE BEF 28
RREREE -

(b) ARAFHEZEE-

Foreign
currency Share
Share  Contributed  translation option Accumulated

premium surplus reserve reserve losses Total
R4 RE BABR HNERERE BRERE RHER Bt
RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARBTR ARETT ARETR ARBTT ARETR

(note 29) (note 29) (note 29) (note 42)

(Hiz29) (Hiz#29) (Hf:229) (Hiit42)
325,645 17,219 24,091 8,168 (286,797) 88,326
- - - - (2,477) (2,477)
- - 1,986 - - 1,986
- - 1,986 - (2,477) (491)
- - - (301) 301 -
325,645 17,219 26,077 7,867 (288,973) 87,835
- - - - (3,250 (3,250
- - 1,391 - - 1,391
- - 1,391 - (3,250 (1,859)
- - - (7,294) 7,294 -
325,645 17,219 27,468 573 (284,929) 85,976
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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B ISAR ML (A7)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BE-_FE-pEfF - A=+—HIFF

43.

44.

NON-CASH TRANSACTION

Prepayment of approximately RMB55,650,000 was transferred
to property, plant and equipment during the year ended
31 December 2024.

There was no material non-cash transaction during the year
ended 31 December 2023.

DECONSOLIDATION OF SUBSIDIARIES

The Group acquired Loyal Brands International Limited and its
subsidiaries, including Grand York Limited, Giant Faith Holdings
Limited, RINXEBEEGRAEF and RIEEFEZERERAR
7~ A]("Loyal Brands Group”), in May 2017. Loyal Brands Group
principally engaged in trading of food products.

In November 2023, the board of directors of the Company
(the “Board”) was informed by Mr. Wong Ho Yin, the former
director of the Company who resigned as an executive director
of the Company on 18 October 2023, that the business and
accounting books and records of Loyal Brands Group, including
but not limited to sales invoice, purchase invoice, accounting
ledger and vouchers, were unable to be located. The Board has
also tried to contact the person-in-charge of Loyal Brands Group
(the “Responsible Staff”) through Mr. Wong Ho Yin, but he was
unable to (i) contact the Responsible Staff and (ii) obtain the
accounting books and records of Loyal Brands Group.

On 27 December 2023, Mr. Ng Chung Ho was appointed as
an executive director of the Company. Mr. Ng Chung Ho had
thoroughly searched all the files and documents kept in the
office in Hong Kong but was unable to locate any business and
accounting books and records of Loyal Brands Group. Mr. Ng
Chung Ho also tried to contact the Responsible Staff but was
unable to obtain positive response and cooperation. Mr. Ng
Chung Ho, also tried to contact the director of Loyal Brands
Group but the director of Loyal Brands Group replied that he
did not possess any accounting books and records of Loyal
Brands Group.

In light of the above circumstances, the Group considered it
had lost control over Loyal Brands Group and had excluded
the consolidated financial position of Loyal Brands Group as
at and after and the results and cash flows of Loyal Brands
Group since 1 January 2023 from the consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023
(the “Deconsolidation™).

Regarding to the Deconsolidation, the Group will perform
the investigation and may take legal action against the
wrongdoer(s), if any, for the loss suffered by the incident.
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43.

44,

F(RERF
HE-_Z-_NF+-_A=Z+—HILFE" &
AR#55,650,000 70 FYFE T FRIAEE = ) % -
R R B A

BHE - T-_=%+-A=+—HILFE #
BMBEREREGRH

RIEZEARMBAR

AEBHR —_Z—+FF AW Loyal Brands
International Limited X i B A7) 21
Grand York Limited - Giant Faith Holdings
Limited R Y XX 52 B 2 B A R 2 7 RORIE
EERMABAMRAA ([Loyal Brands&EE]) o
Loyal Brands EBl = ENERRES -

RZZEZ=F+—R ARREEg([£=5
CERARQAFNESFTELEALE (ERZF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

REMBRRMETE (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE—F—Ef - A=+—HIFFZ

44. DECONSOLIDATION OF SUBSIDIARIES

(Continued)

The following set out the financial impact on the
Deconsolidation of Loyal Brands Group:

Carrying amounts of assets and liabilities of
Loyal Brands Group as at 1 January 2023

Right-of-use assets
Trade and bill receivables

Prepayments, deposits and other receivables

Cash and bank balances
Trade payables

Accruals and other payables
Contract liabilities

Lease liabilities

Tax payable

Net liabilities of Loyal Brands Group
as at 1 January 2023
Cumulative exchange reserve

Amount due from Loyal Brands Group

to the Group

Loss on Deconsolidation (note 10)

Net cash outflow from deconsolidation of subsidiaries

Cash and bank balances

As at 31 December 2023, the Group has an amount due from
Loyal Brands Group, net of approximately RMB7,623,000. Due
to the loss of control over Loyal Brands Group, an impairment
loss of RMB7,623,000 had been provided for and included
in loss on Deconsolidation of subsidiaries in the consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023.

FESEARKESR AR

igze:

Loyal Brands kB T —_=F— A —HH
EENBEREE
EREEE
EWE 5 R EE

AR FRIE - & K E b UK IE
Be RIRTTHER
FET & 5 ROE

et B A R Efth FE < 5k 1B
BHBE

HEEE

[ 3718

Loyal Brands EE R —Z_=F—F—HH
BEFHE

REHERHE

N = [E 8 I Loyal Brands &= B 5k 1A

RiItmaANRZER (Mit10)
HRIGEEANRR B R FIELS

B &t FH
R MRITHER

AIHY &R -

44. Rt ZENEHBLAT (&)

RMB’

T &R#EF| & 1E4FE ABRLoyal Brands 5 E &Y

000

ARETTT

(1,

7,

215)

623

6,

470

(61)

5

RZEZ=FF+ZA=+—HB A5EE
I Loyal Brands S BB F O ABARE
7,623,0007T ° B A 2k 2 ¥ Loyal Brands & &
IS BRHIRREE B AR ®7,623,000
L WEFABZEZZT =
IFFEHREVBHREREILGEARRNER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

o)

PRI (AR

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE—F—Ef - A=+—HIFFZ

44. DECONSOLIDATION OF SUBSIDIARIES

45.

(Continued)

Based on the management accounts of Loyal Brands Group
which were used in the preparation of the interim financial
report of the Group for the six months ended 30 June 2023,
the Board determined that the business of trading of food
products which was operated by Loyal Brands Group was
not significant to the Group. Further, given that no relevant
personnel within the Group is able to resume the business, the
Board had decided to dispose of Loyal Brands Group to reduce
the financial and compliance risk of the Group. On 14 March
2024, the Group disposed of Loyal Brands Group with the cash
consideration of HK$1 million (equivalent to approximately
RMB916,000) to an independent third party.

DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

(@) During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group
disposed of its entire interest in the issued share capital
in Joystar China Investment Limited to an independent
third party, at nil consideration.

The principal activities of Joystar China Investment
Limited is trading of rubber.

The net liabilities of Joystar China Investment Limited
being disposed of were as follows:

44. Rt ZENEHBLAT (&)

45.

Other receivables H e WA
Cash and bank Be RIRITHEH

Other payables and accruals

Net liabilities
Amount due from the disposal subsidiary

BEFE

Hit e RIE N EFER

JEM & AR FIE

Release of exchange reserve FEBRIE H
Loss of disposal & B 1R

Net cash outflow arising on disposal of
the subsidiary
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e MBRRME (&

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE—F—Ef - A=+—HIFFZ

45 DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 45. HEWB AT (£)

(b) During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group by REEZZT-_mOF+_A=+—HIL
disposed its entire interest in the issued share in Loyal FE -ANEEHEABIE 2 MKET,000000
Brand international Limited to an independent third party, BT (FHE RO ARK16,0007T) #Fr
at an aggregate cash consideration of HKD1,000,000 $Loyal Brand International Limited &
(equivalent to approximately RMB916,000). BIOROFHEHEEZLET —EB
SNE=J-
As all the assets and liabilities were deconsolidated in the HRMEBEEERBEREBEZ -2 -=
year ended 31 December 2023, the Group recognised ET-Z A=+ —HILEFE&ILEEEA
the consideration of HKD1,000,000 (equivalent to Bk - AE B 5K 1E1,000,000% T (FHE
approximately RMB916,000) as the gain on disposal of RH AR ¥916,0007T) #ER A H & W
the subsidiaries. =N o
46. AUTHORISATION FOR ISSUE OF 46. BRETIREEMBHREK
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The consolidated financial statements were approved and GEMBHRERER-ZZE-_RAF=A=1+<H
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 26 March BEEeEREETE-
2025.
47. EVENTS AFTER REPORTING PERIOD 47. FEHREIR
There was no significant event after year ended 31 December REZE-FT-_MF+_A=+—HIEFE#%
2024 and up to the date of this annual report. MEEAFHRANMESAER-

FESEARKESR AR
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SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION
MBERHE

The following is a summary of the published results and of the assets LA TN AAR&EBEILZ Ty s EEHFR 2 2 T35
and liabilities of the group prepared on the bases set out in the note ¥4%&HEENBEHE:

below:
Year ended 31 December
BZ+-A=+-BHLEE
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
TR 2B T —E=F ZE-NNF
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARETT AREBTT ARETT AR®TT AR®TR
Revenue A 141,626 181,701 184,036 113,673 128,552
Gross profit £ 13,485 24,039 19,486 30,795 19,102
(Loss)/profit before tax BEAT (BR)
ikl (6,286) (175) (78,470) 34,347 (9,376)
Profit/(loss) for the year KRN BB AEAS
attributable to owners FEHRF
of the Company (E#8E) (3,890) (410) (78,558) 30,031 27,379
Basic earnings per share BRERZEF
(RMB cents) (ARE5) (4.6) (0.29) (45.56) 17.15 15.64
As at 31 December
R+=BR=+-—H
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
TR - _—T_Z —E=F ZE-@OF
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARBTFIT ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT AR%®TR
Non-current assets ERBEE 70,590 65,321 51,790 93,139 84,372
Current assets mENE E 244,714 278,521 255,427 172,295 183,874
Current liabilities mEBAE 135,513 151,954 180,943 110,690 83,626
Non-current liabilities ERBBEE 3,727 2,180 4,608 2,552 5,529
Net assets FEE 176,064 189,708 121,666 152,192 179,091
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